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ABSTRACT

The Historic Architectural Survey of Lancaster County was conducted betwsen
October 1996 and Decomber 1997 by the architectural and historic preservation firm of
Traceries with the subcontracting firm of Historic Research & Planning Associates.
under the direction of the Virgimia Department of Historic Resources (VDHR) and the
Lancaster County Historic Resources Commission.  The project encompassed the
survey and/or documentation of 270 historic properties representing the arcas and
periods of significance of Lancaster County as defined by the historic context. The
on-site survey anticipated the udentification. documentation and agssessment of 193
properties at the reconnaissance-level and 15 properties as the intensive-level. One of
the major aspects of the study was the development of a historic context that addressed
the eighteen VDHR historic themes,  The fingl component was recommendations
regarding the listing of any of the resources, either individually or as districts, to the
Virginta Landmarks Register and the National Register of Historic Places.  The
determination of the potential historic district was reached by the completion of a
Preliminary Information Form (PIF), while potentially eligible individual resources
were identified during the intensive-level survey.

Formed in Janusry 1651, Lancaster County was created by the division of
Northumberland and York counties. The county was settled in the early 16405 by the
English moving up from the lower Virginia settlements along the James and York
rivers, and by settlers coming south from Maryland., In its earliest days, Lancaster
County s economy was agrarian based, and like the rest of the Northern Neck and
Tidewater region. was driven by the tobacco trade, With the decline of this trade and
the planter class, and the impoverishment that followed the Civil War, a water-based
industry emerged as the leading commercial enterprise in the county with local waters
vielding bountiful quantities of fish, crabs and ovsters. The county s way of life is
stifl based on its proximity to tidal rivers that lead to the Chesapeake Bay, although
the economy 15 now equally maintained by both recreation and commerce.

The study. covering 81,120 acres. resulted in the completion of Virginia Department of
Historic Resources Field Forms for 193 properties at the reconnaissance level by
Historic Research & Planning Associates and Traceries. and 15 properties at the
intensive level by Traceries. Each resource was architecturally defined, physically
assessed, photographed with black and white film. and documented for its contribution
to the historic context of Lancaster County. Following the reconnaissance survey,
thirty-three properties were recommended for further investigation at the intensive-
level.  Twelve properties were found to be individually eligible for listing on the
Virginia Landmarks Register and the National Register of Historic Places.  The
recommended  properties were presented to the VDHR Evaluation Team for
assessment.  Nine of the properties were determined eligible and, thersfore require
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further documentation in the form of a PIF or MNational Register Nomination Form.
The village-proper of [rvington was researched and documented as a potential historic
district, which is defined by the National Register of Historic Places as possessing a
significant congentration, linkage, or continuity of sites, buildings, or structures united
historically or aesthetically by plan or physical development.

Supplementary to the above mentioned recommendations for future on-site surveys at
both the intensive and reconnaissapce levels, a comprehensive on-site survey of
standing resources, particularly those dating from the late 19th and early 20th century
should be conducted.  Additionally, it is recommended that archasological
investigations be conducted on the previcusly identified properties that have been
demolished, deteriorated, or hold potential for vielding important historic information.
It has bheen determined based on the reconnaissance survey that the towns of
Kilmarnock and Weems should be comprehensively swrveyed, researched and
documented, and assessed in a Preliminary Information Form (PIF) for their potential
as 2 historic district,
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INTRODUCTION

Proiect Purpose and Goals

The Historic Architectural Survey of Lancaster County, Virginia is a survey project
funded in Qutober 1996 under the terms of the Historie Preservation Fund Matching
Grant Program  (RFP Mumber 96-97-6). The Virginia Department of Histore
Resources (VIDHRY in conjunction with Lancaster County contracted Traceries, which
subconiracted Historic Research & Planning Associates (HR&PAS, to conduct a
reconnaissance and intensive-level survey of Lancaster County, Virginia that would
included approximately 203 properties.  Additional components of the project
encompassed the preparation of a detailed survey report that inchuded a historic context
establishing significance, overview of development, and survey findings; research and
compilation of one Preliminary Information Form for a potential historic district; two
scripted shide shows on the purpose and findings of the project; and recommendations
regarding further study of any, or all, of the resources or DHR themes retaining
significance and integrity within the historic context.

Scone of Work

The project anticipated the survey of previously identified properties as well as those
resources not previously identified that met the fifty-year-age requirement and were
located within the boundaries of Lancaster County. FEach resource was assessed,
surveved. documented, and photographed at the reconnaissance or intensive-level on
Virginia Department of Historic Resources Field Forms., This process allowed for a
thorough studv of cach resource, its date of construction, building materials,
architectural stvle and use.  All of the properties were entered into the Integrated
Preservation Software Database (IPS), which allowed for recordation. comparison and
contrast of each of the resources identified. Additionally, those previously identified
properties archived at VDHR that were not included in the survey, as well as the
resources lsted on the National Register of Historic Places prior to the feld waork,
were entered into IPS.  This step allowed those properties 1o be compared and
contrasted with the newly identified resources of this study. Within the established
significance of Lancaster County, each resource was assessed for its contribution with
recommendations for further study as a potential individual landmark or historic
district.
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Staffing

Funded by VDHR in conjunction with Lancaster County, the Historic Architectural
Survey of Lancaster County was contracted to Traceries, an architectural history firm
specializing in historic preservation, which subcontracted to Historic Research &
Planning Associgtes. Laura V. Trieschmann served as Project Manager/Architectural
Historian, responsible for overseeing the completion of the project, writing the historic
context and the final survey report, as well as the final assessment of all of the
resources,  Architectural historian Kathrvn A, Gettings of Traceries, In conjunction
with Ms, Trieschimann, conducted the intensive-level surveys, Together with Shervl F.
Jaslow, Ms. Gettings was responsible for conducting the reconnaissance survey for
forty properties, focusing on specific VDHR historic conmtext themes. Ms. Geltings
was alse responsible for the archival research and documentation conducted at local,
state and federal repositories, as well as IPS data entry.

The on-site reconnaissance survey, field work, IPS data entry, and initial assessment of
130 properties was conducted by Janet G, Murphy and Kimberly M. Chen of Historic
Research & Planning Associates. The Preliminary Information Form for Irvington was
researched and completed by Historic Research & Planning Associates.
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HISTORIC CONTEXT

Historic Periods referenced in this text are based on significant time frames established by
the Virginia Department of Historie Resources. These periods are:

European Settlement 1o Society Period (1600-1750)
Colony to MNation Period (1750-1789)

Early National Period (1789-1830)

Antebellum Period (1830-1860)

Crvil War Period (1861-1865)

Reconstruction and Growth Period (18651917
World War | to World War Il Period (1917-1945)
The New Dominion Period {1945 -present)

& B & €& & B @ €
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HISTORIC OVERVIEW OF LANCASTER COUNTY, VIRGINIA

Lancaster County is located on the southeastern end of the Northern Meck, bounded by
Northumberland and Richmond counties to the north, and by the Rappabannock River and
the Chesapeske Bay on the south, The Northern Neck originally embraced the country lving
between the Potomac and Rappahannock rivers from their headwaters to the Chesapeake
Bav., With the gradual settlement of the country, the establishment of more definite
seographical lines, and a more exact nomenclature, the Northern Neck became limited to the
lower half of the peninsula, including the six counties of Stafford, King George,
Westmoreland, Richmond, Morthumberland and Lancaster. The northernmeost of Virginia's
three peninsulas, the Morthern Neck is approximately 140 miles in length and an average
width of scarcely 20 miles, Along #s entire length on either side, numerous bold inlets from
the great rivers indent the shores, affording a pleasing diversity to the scenery and supplying
the inhabitants an easy means of commerce and transportation.

Formed in January 1631, Lancaster County was created by the division of Northumberland
and York counties, The céunty was settled in the early 1640s by the English moving up
from the lower Virginia settlements along the James and York rivers, and by settlers coming
south from Marviand, In iis earliest days, Lancaster County’s economy was agrarian based,
and like the rest of the Northern Neck and Tidewater region, was driven by the tobacco
trade.  With the decline of this trade and the planter class. and the impoverishment that
followed the Civil War. a water-based industry emerged as the leading commercial
enterprise in the county with local waters vielding bountiful quantities of fish, crabs and
oysters. The county’s way of life is still based on its proximity to tidal rivers that lead to the
Chesapeake Bav. although the economy is now equally maintained by both recreation and
commernce.

The vast county. originally consisting of 458,240 acres, today comprises 81,120 acres {153
square miles) of low rolling hills that never exceed one hundred feet above sea level The
terrain i3 broken by numerous tidal inlets and creeks that provide natural routes for water
transportation.  The land near the streams generally descends into wide, low plains of nich
alluvial soil. Above the plains, osually a mile of two from the rivers, the hills rise abruptly
in considerable elevations that command extensive views of land and water. Most of the
tand within modem Tidewater Virginia is still covered with forests,
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PREHISTORIC NATIVE AMERICAN SETTLEMENT
{10,000 BC - 1,600 AD)

Archeological findings support that Lancaster County and the Northern MNeck were first
populated by Native Americans. These hunting and gathering groups ccoupied this region
approximately 12,000 vears before the exploration of America by the first adventurers from
Western Europe.  Although European sailors scouted the castern edge of the Americas,
colonization of North America did not oceur until the 1500s. In 1584, English settlers began
to colonize a portion of the middle Atantic region., which they pamed “Virginia.” The
English were unaware, however, that they had settled in the midst of one of the most
pohitically complex Indian groups along the Atlantic couast, the Algonguian-speaking
Powhatans.!

Named for the chief who governed the majority of the Virginma Algongquians, the Powhatan
chigfdom was the largest and most centralized of the southern Algonguian polities,
incarporating more than thirty smaller chiefdoms or districts. The seat of this chiefdom was
located at Werowomaco on the York River, where King Powhatan principally resided. At
the time of the establishment of Jamestown in May 1607, many of the Algonguian
settlements stood on the banks of the Rappahannock River, from the mouth of the stream far
inland to the vicinity of the falls or rapids near the present city of Fredericksburg, The
principal districts, comprised of nine small assemblies, were scattered along the Morthern
MNecek in the area now encompassed by Lancaster, Northumberland, Richmond,
Westmoreland, King George, and Stafford counties, The nine assemblies were known as
Wicocomocos, Lower Cuttatawomens, Cekakawons (Chicacoans), Moraughtacunds,
Rappahannocks, Opnawmanients (Matchotics), Pissasecks, Upper Cuttatawomens, and
Patawomekes.? Two of the districts were Ipcated in the area now designated as Lancaster
County: the Moraughtacund assembled near Morattico Creek and the Cuttatawomen on the
west bank of the Corotoman River,

The Native Americans. who sustained themselves as fishermen and farmers, had organized
the entire Northern Neck peninsula into a loose patchwork of fields and woodlands
surrounding dispersed permanent villages and smaller hamlets, as well as seasonal hunting
and fishing camps.”

! Stephen R, Potter, Communers. Tribute. and Chigl: The Development of Algonguian Cultos in the Potomar Valley,
{Charlotteseilie, VAL University Press of Virginia, 19943, p. 1.

2 potter, pp. 1011 Camifle Wells, “Social and Economis Aspests of Bighteenth-Century Housing on the Northern Megk
of Virgimn,” (PRI diss., College of William and Mary, 1994), pp. 1617,

3 wells, p. 17,
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SETTLEMENT TO S0CIETY (1600-1750)

For several vears after the settlement of Jamestown in 1607, English inhabitation primarily
focused on the land along the James, Elizabeth, and York rivers, while the only excursions
into the Northern Neck were for discovery and provisions. As a result of Indian conflicts,
the exposed settlements were frequently abandoned, paralyzing English habitation north of
the Rappahannock River for many years,

R %

er p- 433

Figure 3: Distribution of Colonial Pepulation in Tidewater, 1825, {Goug

The earliest detailed account of the Indians of the Potomac River, and the as-of-vet
unexplored Virginia terrain, records the observations of Captain John Smith and other
members of the Jamestown colony who accompanied Smith on his explorations of the
Chesapeake Bay in June 1608, Aboard a two-ton open barge in search of “a glistering
metial, the Salvages told us they had from Patawomeck,” Smith and his fourteen man crew
were ambushed by three or four hundred Indians “so strangely painted, grimed, and
disguised.”® When Smith ordered his men to fire low, toward the Indians, “the grazing of
the bullets-upon the river, with the ecco of the woods so amazed them, as down went their

4 potter, pp. 8%,
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hows and arrowes.” They exchanged hostages as a pledge of good faith and a means of
preserving the peace and, thus, sustained Indian-European contact on the Northern Neck
began through trade, particularly for com.

Other adventurers, fraders, and interpreters svon followed Smith, exploring the Northern
Meck and the rest of Virginia’s waterfront frontier.  Prominent names mclude Henry
Spelman, Captain Samuel Asgall, Nathaniel Pope, Leonard Calvert, and Captain Henry
Fleete

Henry Spelman, said to be the best linguist of the Indian tongue, began his education in
Algonguian when Captain John Smith left the fourteen-year-old boy with the Powhatans in
August 1609 as a sign of trust. Tired of being a pawn in intercultural diplomacy, Spelman
escaped the following March. He returned to England. recounting his experiences with the
Powhatans and Patawomekes in a manuseript entitled “Relation of Virginia.” In 1619,
Spelman returned to Virginia as an interpreter and trader, restricting himself to dealing with
the Indians of Tidewater Virginia and Maryland. Unfortunately, Spelman’s familiarity with
the Indians proved to be his undoing. In March 1623, Henry Spelman and nineteen other
Englishmen were killed by the Nacotchtanks while on a trading expedition to the Potomac
River.’

Miraculously, one member of Spelman’s trading party survived. Taken prisoner and
detained five vears by the Nacotchtanks, Henry Fleete, like Spelman before him, emerged
from captivity “betier proficient in the Indian language than mine own.™® In the spring of
1634, Leonard Calvert, a representative for Lord Baltimore, entered the Potomac River with
a colony of two hundred Roman Catholics. Captain Henry Fleete accompanied Calvert as a
guide and interpreter, having become familiar with the localities on the Poromac River.
Shortly after the Catholic colony became seated on St. Clement’s Bay, Calvert and Fleete
proceeded to explore the remaining shores of the Potomae River. Among the numerous
groups they visited were the Patowmacks on the cregk of the same name in the present
county of Stafford. Accompanying the explorers was Father Altham, who preached to the
Indizns with Captain Fleete acting as interpreter. This is believed to have been the first
sermon by a European within the limits of the Northern Neck to Indians.”

Despite the numerous explorations and Indian relations, Buropean settlements were not
established in the Northern Neck aren until the second quarter of the 17th century. By the
early 1640s, the first colonists had patented land along the Rappahannock River, obtained

3 Paer, B

6 Three penertions of Henry Fleetes (father, son, and grandson) have been historically associated with Lancaster Dnunty,
all of which held the rank of Captain. The spefling of Fleetr was changed by the szeond Henry Fleete to Flest

7 potter, bl
8 peiter, oo i3

? George Willinm Beale, “Annals of the Northern Meck of Virginia,” Northern Neck Historiond Wagazine 17 (1967, »
1645,
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through the “headright” system that allowed each person who paid for his own passage fo
Virginia to patent {ifty acres of land anywhere in the colony. Colonists were also entitled 1o
an additional fifty acres for each person whose passage to the colony he paid.

One of the first such grants in the area that became Lancaster County was patented by John
Carter in August 1642, Active in Upper Norfolk County, Carter did not settle the 1,300-acre
tract, now known as Carter’s Creek, until 1652, Another early inhabitant was Epaphroditus
Lawson, who settled in the area in the early 16305, patenting over 3,000 acres elsewhere in
Virginia between 1635 and 164319 The many explorations of the first Captain Henry Fleete
exposed him to much of the uninhabited colony. Recognizing its potential, Fleete patented
grants totalling over 13,000 acres in the Lancaster County area slone between 1650 and
16554

Figure 4 Farrerr 1631 Map of Virginia

9 Robert &, Whesler, “Lancaster County County, Virginia, 1630-1754: Evoluation of a Sputhern Tidewater Commumity,”
{Ph.D, diss. Brown Unbeersity, 19723, pp. 12-13

Y pancaster cungyPaters Book 2, p. 226 and Lancaster CountyPatens Book 3, pp. 37-100.
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Although the land was being patented, actual settlement along the lower Potomac River was
slow, prevented by the isolated and exposed nature of the counitry. With continued
English/Indian hostilities, the General Assembly of Virginia adopted an act forbidding
colonists 1o locate beyond the Rappahannock River to the area east of the fall Hne between
the James and York rivers. The Restrictive Act of 1646 stemmed from a peace freaty
between Necotowance, then leader of the Powhatan chiefdom, and the officials of the
colony. Necotowance ceded all rights to the neck of land between the James and York rivers
in exchange for hoth peninsulas north of the York River. Although the treaty seemed to
permanently prevent all whites from settling on the land north of the Yok River, it merely
established a temporary buffer zone between the Indians and the English.? Colonists who
had already patented land in the restricted area were forbidden to “seat or inhabit” for three
vears. Mo restrictions, however, had been placed on the patenting of the lands. Issued in
Tamestown and signed by the Governor and Secretary of the Colony, the grants contained
the same conditions as lands patented in other parts of the Commeonwealth.

Claim to the land by the Virginia Assembly was simultaneously sealed by the restrictive act
of 1646, Government officials asserted that “the inhabitants of Chicawane, alias
Morthumberland [are] members of this colony.” thus sealing Virginia's claim to the Northern
Neck, The ereation of Northumberland County was partially the result of a jurisdictional
dispute that arose after the Indian War when aren settlers, believing they were located
outside the colony, did not respond to the Virginla Assembly’s request for funds.
Consequently, the Assembly was forced 1o declare its authority by stipulating that the
residents were lable for all taxes, including the payment of “the public levys with the rest of
the inhabitants of the colony.”™P Two vears later, in 1648, the colonial government officially
decreed that the land between the Rappahannock and Potomac rivers “be hereafter called and
knowne by the name of the county of Northumberland.” and authorized the election of
burgesses, the patenting of land, and the levying of taxes. ™t

The colonial Assembly acknowledged the “great and clamorous necessities of uninhabited
land by allowing surveys and patents along the shores of the Rappahannock River.? Yet, in
order to preserve the 1646 treaty with the Indians that created the “District of Chicacoan.”
the prospective settlers of Virginia were prohibited from settling in the area until alter
Septernber 1649 thus. the first settlements made by Europeans in what is now the Morthemn
MNeck were made in the early 1640s by Protestant colonists from Catholic Marviand, not
Virginia.
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After the expiration of the han, settlement and land claims in the MNorthern Neck increased
rapidly, indeed more rapidly than in any other part of Virginia?® Owing to overworked
lands in the lower counties, many of the planters of the period desired to emigrate to the
area, considered o be a less populous and more remunerative portion of the colony. After
the 1622 conflict, there were approximately 1,250 residents in the Northern Neck area. By
1649, the number of residents in Northumberland County had swelled to hetween 15,000
and 16,000, By the end of 1650, over seventy patents had been issued for the river basin,
covering 53,000 acres with an average size of 786 acres per patent.’?
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Figure 3: Counties of ¥irginia, 1648-1651, (Gouger, p. 48)

In 1649, the whole region of the Northern Neck was conferred by roval charter 1o Lord
Hopton, Lord Jermyn, Lord Calpeper and a few others. This act of capricious favor to a few
friends of the King imposed upon the future settlers an extra taxation, and an insecure tenure
to their lands, creating bitter conflicts.’®  In March 1652, when Virginia surrendered to

16 wenls, p. 19,
7 Wheeler, p.‘ i,

18 Beale. p. 1646,
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Parliamentary Commissioners, the proprietary land conveyvances were suspended. The grant
“.remained a paper and a promise, no more, through the period of Oliver Cromwell’s rule
in England.™® However, when the proprictary grants were envolled in 1661, it was feared
that the 576 land grants made previously in the Northern Neck by the colonial government

were invalid. A period of conflict ensued, not being resolved for more than cighty vears,

In 1669, the Proprictors agreed to a modification of the roval grant “for the relief of early
residents of the Morthern Neck., the patentees agreed to recognize all land titles issued in
their domain prior to Michaelmas 1661, provided that the holders were in “actual
possession” on the date of the King’s re-grant.®® Consolidation of the grant had begun by
the second hall of the 17th century when Thomas, Lord Culpeper, second Baron of
Thoresway, inherited his father’s interest. By 1681, Culpeper had acqguired all shares in the
Proprietary, except those held by his cousin, Alexander Culpeper. Then governor of
Virginia, Thomas Culpeper had also acquired a patent to all unoccupied land in Virginia
south of the Rappahsnnock River. making him “.in all except title, the King of
Virginia.... !

Having displeased the King of England, Culpeper was removed as governor in 1683 and
forced to sell his patent for all of Virginia back o the Crown, while retaining claim to the
southern areas within the Northern Neck, Through a minor change in the wording of the
retained patent that initially went unnoticed, Lord Culpeper succeeded in establishing claim
to a far greater area than had been included in the original grants for the land known as the
Northern Neck.

The original 1649 patent and the 1669 renewal granted the boundaries of the Northern Neck
as “All that entire Tract, Territory, or porcon of Land situate, lying and beeing in America,
and bounded by and within the heads of the Rivers of Tappahanocke als Rappahanock and
Quiriough or Patawomecke rivers....” while the 1688 grant was worded to include all that
entire tract, territory or parcel of land situate, lving and being in Virginia. in America, and
hounded by and within the first heads or springs of the Rivers of Tappahanocke alias
Rappahannocke and Quiriough alias Patawomacke Rivers.™ Thus, the exact boundaries of
the Morthern Neck proprietorship had to be officially established by the courts in 1745 as
being located on the “first springs” of the Potomac and Rappahamnock rivers.

9 james Blaine Gouger. UL “Agricelurel Change in the Morthers Menk of Virginia 1700-1860: A Historical
Guography,” (Ph.E diss, Umversity of Florida. 1876}, p. 35, ‘
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Gouger, p, 58
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Figure 7: Murthern WNeck Proprietary after 1745, (Gouger. p. 77)
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By 1651, grants totaling 123,000 acres had been patented in the MNorthern Neck region, Most
patents were grouped in clusters at various points along both shores of the Rappahannock
River, often on the sites of former Indian villages or camps as the land had been previsouly
cleared and was believed to be fertile. The typical grant was located on the main river or on
one of the larger tributaries, usually containing another creek as one of its boundaries. Tracts
did not usually conform to any geometrical form, generally running a shorter distance slong
the main waterways than they extended into the interior of the peninsula.

In spite of the numerous land patents, few of the grants were settled quickly; thus, the
Rappahannock area was established in theory but not in fact, remaining s wilderness broken
only by occasional clearings for many years.™ It is estimated that the population of Virginia
grew from 15,000 in 1649 to 21,600 in just five years. A rapid increase in population in the
Northern Neck after 1649 indicated that the empty lands attracted a considerable share of
immigrants during the English Civil War (1642-1648).

Figure 8 Distributtion of Colonial Population in Tidewater, 1680, {Gonger, p. 44}

23 Wheeler, p. 17,
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Creation and Subsequent Division of Lancaster County

Gradually, those who had patented the land along the Rappahannock River began to relocate
to and inhabit the area, forcing the Assembly to simplify administrative matters by carving
two new counties, Lancaster and Gloucestor, from the temritory originally granted to
Northumberland. “At first, in laving off a new county, the chief consideration was to bring
all its extremities as near as possible to one common centre. On the other hand, the chief
consideration at the later period seems te have heen to restrict the area of the proposed
county to the valley of one great river, which would furnish to all the new county’s citizens
convenient means of shipping...."** The policy of restricting each county 1o a single river
valley emphasized the importance of the rivers in colonial America. as settlement did not
spread onto the uplands between river valleys or westward onto the Piedmont until afier the
bottom lands along the Tidewater rivers had been fully inhabited®  Actually, it was not
until after Robert Carter of Corotoman took over the Northern Neck Proprietary Agency in
the spring of 1702 that an inland movement began, having been prompted by Carter himself.

Lancaster County was created in January 1651 from the southern portion of Northumberland
County on the northern bank of the Rappahannock River and the northern portion of York
County between the Rappahannock River and Pianketank River, ten miles fo the south. The
new county originally totaled 458,240 acres.  Gloucester County, also created in 1651, was
located to the south of the Rappahannock River, at the southern tip of York County. By
1653, the northern portion of Northumberland County had again been divided to create
Westmoreland County.

The widespread growth of the Northern Neck prompted the subdivision of Lancaster County
in 1656, The General Assembly, acting on a petition presented by the inhabitants of the
tower part of Lancaster County, ordered that “...the upper part of Mr. Bennett’s land known
by the name of Naemhock on the south side of the easternmost branch of Morattico Creek
on the north side of the river be the lowermeost bounds of the upper county. the lower county
to retain the name of Lancaster and the upper county to be named Rappahannock County. "¢
About 1669, the southwestern portion of Lancaster County, across the Rappahannock River,
was named Middlesex County. Thus, Lancaster County was now pared down o is present
81,120 acres.

24 Gouger, p. 54,

23 Gouger, p. 54,
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2 Rappahannock Courty was later divided in 1621 to form Richmend and Essex counties; Marth W. Hiden, How Jastice

Grew: Virginia Connties. An Abstract of Their Formation, (Charfottesville, VA: The University Press of Virginia, 1937},
¢ 14
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Settlement and Development of Lancaster County

Although Lancaster County was formed in January 1651, the order for its division from
Northumberland County was not officially recorded until January lst of the following
vear.?? At this first session after the order for division, Lancaster County was represented in
the House of Burgesses at Willlamsburg by William Underwood and Captain Henry Fleste,
The first court session within the county was held simultaneously in the home of Colonel
Moore Fauntleroy. Participants at the court session included seven justices. the county clerk
and sheriff. Despite the year-long delay in officially recording the newly created county, the
first mention of Lancaster County is believed to have appeared in a land patent issued to
Abraham Moone and Thomas Griffin on September 16, 1651 for land on the south side of
the Rappahannock River?® This patent is located in what is now Middlesex County.

Based on the “Hithables” records that decumented taxable lahorers, the households of the
early inhabitants of the Lancaster County area were refatively small, consisting of three to
seven tithables.?® Before 1657, only eleven percent of the houscholders paid for themselves
alone; thus, it can be infetred that many colonists relocated to the Northern Neck with
laborers or with the means (o acquire laborers.?® Almost seventy-five percent of the planters
who were instrumental in the formation of Lancaster County were netther very poor nor very
wealthy, having some form of resources that allowed at least one to six laborers.?' This lack
of class distinction was a result of the period -~ the county being settled and new inhabuants
continuously arriving.

Capitalizing on the availability and fertility of the soil. the large influx of settlers hetween
1653 and 1656 is indicated by the increase from 93 to 165 houscholds and from 444 10 715
tithables.3? The increase in laborers was not simply the result of new houscholds being
established, but the expansion of labor forces; thus. the economy of the newly formed
county of Lancaster began 1o prosper by the middle part of the 17th century,

=7 Flzabeth Combs Peircr. “Courtheuses of Lancaster County, 163619307 Neorthery Neck Historical Magavine L
{19381 p. 27,

wg )
2B patent ook 1. P 34t

IG . . . . . . .. -~ ) o
=7 Commenly referred to as a head tax, tithes were taxes or lovies paid on one-tenth of one’s income for the support ot 3
religious establishment. The sithable included males of s}l races over 16 years of age and “negro, malatio, and Indian
wosmen” over 18 vears of age, while all children under 16 and all white wonmen wers exempt,
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As indentures expired, a class of small farmers, merchants and artisans began to form,
together with an indigent class. The Indian population, which had become tributary before
the county was founded, began to decline or blend into the “mulatte” class by mingling with
the slaves. Thus, after 1700, there were two dominant classes in Lancaster County: the
Christian free or indentured subjects of the crown, and the chattel slave population. 33

The prosperity of these classes in Lancaster County during the Settlement to Society Period
directly depended on the successful production of tobacco. Two main types of tobaceo
grown in Virginia were oroncke and sweet-scented. The rich, heavy soils of the stream and
river bottoms produced oronoke, while the more valuable sweet-scented tobacco grew in
sandy loams. Although the production proportions are not known. both oroncko and sweet-
scented tobacco grew in Lancaster County. However, in the 1660s, a depression in the
tobacco market occurred, targely due to the overproduction and poor quality of twhbacco. In
addition, the MNavigation Act of 1660 greatly restricted the markets for Virginia and
Marviand tobacco, often forcing the price o fall below a penny a pound. At the same time,
the cost of production went up, especially as the demand for land increased. Farsighted
planters began acquiring vast tracts of land and, by the 1670s, had claimed most of the hest
land in the Tidewater area, cut by rivers and bays along which ocean-going ships could
callect tobacco. Although tobacco was the main crop of the economy, it was not the only
exported product. Large numbers of cattle and hogs provided hides and meat. which were
shipped to the West Indies. The harvest also included corn and wheat, with an increasing
emphasis on grain mirrored in the rising number of mills constructed in the county.

Enlarged 1o include newly freed servants and sons of houscholders. the planter class began
o settle inland, often cut off from river transportation, or far up one of the nivers, where
indians remained a threat. The cutward effects of the tobacco depression on the community
were complicated by the general decline in population growth and immigration, which the
entire colony experienced afler 1665, As a result, Virginia and Marviand acquired o
growing class of indigent freedmen. wandering from county to county.

The change in populaton directly affected the number and acreage of patents and deeds.
Only twenty-six patents, renewals, assigns, cscheats, or desertions were recorded from 1669
to 167%. The total amount of land granted was only 13,362 acres, of which only 2,000 acres
seem to have been pew patents.’® By the 1680s, all of the patented lands had been granted,

atter which land could be acquired only by deed.

Having developed from a frontier region into an established community between its
founding and the [680s. Lancaster County became more compact with the number of
immigrants declining and the carly settlers creating a more stable society. A few families
accumulated great wealth, often holding political offices, while more freedmen planters and
mdigents emerged.  All of these factors resulted in a reduction in the overall amount of

3 s 32 . o N o . . . . - . . o~ PV %
33 ¢ Jackson Stunons, levagion: An Album Of fis First Gengration, {(Piiiorial Herftage Publishing Company, 18923
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unowned land, as well as a decline in the size of the tracts being conveyed. Compared to the
areas bevond the Tidewater, Lancaster County was largely developed; therefore, the land
was more valuable by the latter part of the 17th century.

As the population of the colony increased from 70,000 to 100,000 in the period from 1680 w
1720, the number of households in Lancaster County increased seventy percent and the
tithables doubled.®® Although the number of larger households declined from 1680 to the
end of the 17th century, the wealth of these upper-class planters and merchants increased
gradually. Dissimilarly, the smaller households steadily increased in number, often
transformed into the ranks of middle-class planters. These changes were the direct result of
the influx of laborers, many of whom were African-American slaves. The Virginia Code of
1705 provided that “all servants imported...into this country, by sea or land, who were not
Christian in their native country..shall be accounted and be slaves, and as such be here
bought and sold.”* The increase in slave labor and tobaceo production saturated the market,
prompting another depression that stymied the county until the 1720s.

The continuing change in demographic growth was reflected in the land use and political
office holding, resulting in a more defined local society. Attention was shifted from the
water to the land-locked interior that had, prior to the 1720s. been largely unimproved and
uncultivated. This development lessened the impact of the fluctuation between growth and
depression within the county.®”  The single most important change that occurred in
Lancaster County between 1720 and 1750 was the proportional change in households and
the composition of the society. Unable to compete with the financial resources of the upper-
class planter and merchants, the smaller planters were forced to support their households as
overseers or hired laborers, This created more middle-class planters.

Despite the growing gap between classes, the population had stabilized and the volume of
land conveyed actually was reduced, thereby creating a solid sense of community by the
middle part of the 18th century. This sense of community was further spurred by the church,
dominant in the lives of Virginians in the 17th and 18th centuries. With the introduction of
the parish system, the Church of England divided Virginia into distinct parochial districts,
cach governed by a vestry of twelve men. Despite the gradual toleration of religious sects
including Presbyierians, Congregationalists, Baptists, and Methodists, it was required by law
that residents attend church and pay tithes, In addition, all residents were ordered 1o pay
parish levies to the Church of England.

The parishes were created 1o serve as missionaries as well as political nnits. First utilized at
Jarmestown in the early [7th century, plantation-parishes existed prior to the formation of the
counties. generally setting the boundaries for the district.  Often, the parishes and the
counties of Virgima were simultanepusly created.

S

3 Wheeler, p. 80,
36 aurris Talpalar, The Sociofogy of Colonial Virsinia, (Mew York: 19843, p 333
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37 Wheeler. p. 125.
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There is a great deficiency of evidence concerning the establishment of the early parishes in
Lancaster County. As il was customary for a single parish o serve one county, when first
established, Lancaster County undoubtedly formed one panish.  Nevertheless, there is no
recorded evidence establishing this unnamed parish. By 1634, however, an order of the
county court divided the Lancaster parish into two, thereby documenting the prior formation
of the single unnamed parish.?® Originally designated by their locale, the Upper Parish
became known as the Farnham Parish, while the area to the south continned to be known as
the Lower Parish. In 1656, when Rappahannock County was created from the northemn
section of Lancaster County, the dividing lines followed those of the Upper and Lower
Parishes; thus, the Lower Parish was assigned to Lancaster County.

Due to its vast acreage and bisection by the Rappahannock River, Lancaster County was
divided again in 1657 1o form two separate parishes -- Lancaster Parish, serving the area to
the north of the river, and Piankatank Parish on the southern side. At a court session held on
September 30, 1657, the following order was entered:

for the future establishment thereof it is hereby ordered that the said
southside be divided into two parishes and the bounds of the said two
parishes to be as followeth to begin at the plantation of Captain Brocas into
the upper parish and from thence to run upon a direct line to the plantation of
Thomas Harwood upon the Pianketancke River including the said Thomas
Harwood's plantation into the lower parish and that the name of the sad
parish be called and known by the name of Lancaster Parish and the lower by
the name of the Pianketancke Parish. ¥

By 1666, the General Assembly ordered that the two parishes recombine as one under the
name of Christ Church Parish

Whereas the parishes of Lancaster and Payankatank having formerly been
united and since divided into two Parishes by that division became more
Sensible of the Inconveniency and Change have petitioned to be reunited. It s
accordingly ordered that their petition be granted and the parishes reunited
and to be called by the name of Christ Church Parish#®

With the creation of Middlesex County in 1669 from that part of Lancaster County to the
south of the Rappahannock River, Christ Church Parish was referred to thereafter as Chrst
Church Parish in Middlesex County. The loss of Christ Church Parish to Middlesex County
left Lancaster County again with two separate parishes - Upper Parish on the North Side
and Lower Parish on the South Side - both having been created from the original 1657

38 Charles Francis Cucke, Parish Lines: iprese of Vieginda, (Richmond, VAL Virginia State Library, 1967}, p. 41
v -% k3 >4 v

3% yaward Lewis Gondwin, “A Report Upen the Parish Lines of the Parishes in the Dipcese of Virginia™ (paper a8
g 1 o : g
Yirginia State Library, 18603, p. 214,

W Goodwin, pp. 214-215,
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Lower Parish. The Upper Parish became known as St Mary’'s White Chapel, while the
Lower Parish became Christ Church Parish.

Although frequently referred to in county court records, question arpse regarding the legal
creation of 8t, Mary’s White Chapel Parish by the middle of the 18th century, On March 17,
1752, the Council reported to the House of Burgesses that it had received several petitions
from Lancaster County residents and officials “for a legal Union” of the Christ Church and
White Chapel parishes. A bill for uniting the two parishes was prepared and had passed a
first and second reading when g committee was appointed "o inspect the Rolls and other
Records of the Office of the House of Burgess, to find if there ever was any Act, or Order of
Assembly For Establishing the Parish of White-Chapel, in the County of Lancaster.”™ It was
reported on April & 1752 that “..all of Lancaster County was included in one entire Parnish,
and called Christ Church Parish, but it did not appear o the said committee that there ever
was any Act, Order of Assembly, Order of Government, or so much as an Order of any
Court 1o constitute or give Bounds for any such parish as White Chapel in Lancaster County,
either by the Name of White Chapel, or any other Name whatsoever; and that they were of
the opinion, that Christ Church Parish in Lancaster County was never legally divided.™
Accepting the committee’s report, no further action was taken by the House of Burgesses on
the Act for uniting the two parishes. The vestries, however, united to wake White Chapel
the upper precinet of Christ Church Parish.

Erected by 1733, Christ Church (51-4) has been referred to by architectural historians as “the
most perfect example of Colomial Church architecture now remaining in Virginia.™» With
the exception of some minor details, the building remains as originally designed in the
1730s. Funding for the project was provided by Robert "King” Carter, whose family had
historically been associated with the construction of the first Christ Church building in cirea
1668, The present building was constructed near the site of a 1668 church that was
considered outdated by the 1730s. With the expense of the construction paid for by Carter.
the cruciform butlding was constructed with Flemish bond brick walls detailed with glazed
headers. The imposing cross hip of has a flare terminating over the elegantly omamentes
cornice. With the American Revolution came the disestablishment of the Church of England
in Virginia. Some ministers returned to England, others fled to Canada, and many remamed
toval to their new homeland. Some church buildings were severely pillaged. burned or sold:
church silver was also sold and all glebe farms confiscated.  The courts. however,
determined that Christ Church belonged to the Carter family, rather than the Crown. and was

the building soon deteriorated. Major restoration efforts began in 1958 with the organization
of the Foundation for Historie Christ Church., The restored church has been referred 10 as

H Conke. p. 154,

42 Cocke, p. 154,

43 Lonise Delote Dawe, Christ Church: Lancaster Cousty, Virginia 1732 and the Life Arownd [t (Irvington, VA
Feundation for Historie Christ Chureh, Inc., 1970}, p &
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“_one of the nation’s great monuments of religion and architecture.”# The building has
been recognized as a National Historic Landmark.

St Mary's Whitechapel (51-22) stands one mile east of the Rappahannock River, The
rectangular building, constructed in 1740-1741, is constructed of bricks laid in I lemish bond
with glazed headers on an English bond foundation. Like Christ Church, rubbed bricks
accentuate the main enfry openings and the quoins. A portion of the original circa 1669
chapel is believed to be within the present structure, although interior investigations have not
substantiated this. The building stands as a historically and architecturally significant
resources associated with the prominent Ball family and the Virginia parish system. Within
the property is the oldest extant cemetery in Lancaster County, documented by the
December 8m 1698 gravemarker of parishoner John Stretchley. Recognized for its histerical
and architectural significance, the property was listed in the National Register of Historic
Places in 1969,

Early Courthouses and Port Towns of Lancaster County

Since the founding of the Lancaster County to the present, there have been four courthouse
buildings in four separate locations throughout the county. While the exact location of the
first courthouse remains a mystery, it has been suggested the building was possibly sited
somewhere in the Towles Point or Millenbeck area®® This has been substantiated by a court
order. dated April 1, 1637, that ordered “...the Jand whereon the Courthouse for this County
standeth bee surveved by Anthony Stephens...” with John Merryman, Willinm Neesham and
Dominie Therriott in attendance and “that the Land belonging to the children of Widd.
Dudley, joining the Lands belonging to the courthouse, may be laid out.”™

In 1662, the crown required that a series of port towns be established around the Chesapeake
Bav. The law anticipated that all imports and exports would bave to pass through the port
towns and therefore could be inspected by the customs agents who were based in the ports.
thus. assuring the crown of its percentage of colonial profits. Such towns were not actually
built according to the 1662 law. and a new act was passed in 1680 that provided for the
building of a port town in each county where ships could deliver imports and receive
tobacco and other exports for shipping from local warehouses. Some of the towns were laid
out. cach one covering a fifty-acre tract of half-acre lots. Only a few were actually
improved, as colonists resisted having to transport tobacco 1o these port warchouses and pay
storage rather than foad at their own wharves,

Consequently, a third act was passed in 1692, Penalties imposed for refusing to improve the
port towns and store the goods in the warchouses included the forfeiting of ships, gear and
cargo. Feoffees were io appointed by the court to grant half-acre lots on a pro-rata first-cost

44 pondution for Historie Christ Church, “Historie Christ Chareh,” brochure, 1992,
43 prirce, p. 250 Simemons, p. 3878,

46 1 ancaster County Order Book 3, p. 9. April 1, 1657; Peiren. p. 24,
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basis. Grantees “shall within the space of four month next ensuing such grant begin and
without delay procesed to build and finish on each half-acre one good house to contamn at
least twenty foot square. If he fails to perform this, such grant to be void in law and the
lands there granted lvable to the charges and purchase of any other person™ By 1705,
another Act of Ports was established, altering the four-month clause for beginning house
construction to a twelve-month period.

Within Lancaster County, Queenstown {51-30) was conceived as one of these port towns.
The land that became known as Queenstown was a portion of a three hundred-acre tract of
land known as Narrow Neck on the Corotoman River. Originally owned by William and
Hannah Ball, the area is now referred to as Ball Point. Dated May 1, 1692, the original deed
from William Ball conveyed fifty acres to Lancaster County specifically for the laying out of
the port town of Queenstown, named in honor of Hngland’s Queen. The fifty acres were
subdivided into half-acre lots by surveyor Harry Beverly, allowing space for a church,
streets, courthouse, jail, and market place. Robert Carter, Esg, and Captain David Fox were
appointed feoffees by the Court to administer the sale of the lots,

37 Charles H Braus. “Preliminary Information Ferm Queenstown.” Aprit 22, 1893, p. L
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Figure 13 Cirea 1737 Map of Coreteman River and Second Courthouse Site. (Warner Map)

By November 1698, county court records document that the iustices were considering ©..iit
ta be convenient to remove ve Courthouse of this county to the Townland bought of Captain
William Ball dec’d. therefore ord’ that a new Courthouse be there built. ™ This offical
court record not only confirmed the existence of the first courthouse, utilized by the county

from circa 1657 to 1698, but described the second courthouse building as:

.built with good brick of thirty foot long, twenty foot broad. ten foot Puch,
The roof 1o be covered with fether edge poplar plank clear of Sapp and ye
gable ends to be carried up with good brick, to have four large square
windows below and one small window in each gable end; above ye Jyce. A
paire of Longe folding dores att ve entrance into ye courthouse, ye frames and
windows o be Sawed, the rails and Banisters and Seats 10 be lefl 1o ye
descretion of ve undertakers, ye walls within to be plastered, ye upper floors

48 L

#t

acaster Uounty Order Book 7, p 108, Movember 24, 1698,
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to be laid with plank and a pair of good Stairs raised. It 15 likewise ordered
by this Court that a Prison be built in some convenient place adjavent to the
Courthouse of good brick, 16 foot long, 12 foot broad, 8 foot Pitch. Gabell
ends 1o be carried up with good brick, an inside chimney with iron bars three
foot down the Funnell, a hewed frame double rafiered, covered with fether
edge poplar plank clear of Sapp, a good strong plank Dore, a window with
iron grates, ye wall of prison te be two hricks thick, ye foundation to be laid 2
foot and a half in ve ground and ye Gyce to be sett no more than 5 inches
Apart,®9
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Figure 14: Second County courthouse {1801 Galle Survey, Estate Book 24, p. 383}

39 | ancaster County (rder Book 7, p. 105, Movember 24, 16%8.
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This second courthouse and prison for Lancaster County, located at the mouth of the
Corotoman River in Queenstown before the end of the 17th century, was one of the sarliest
uses of brick for a courthouse building. It was erected for a cost of “five and forth thousand
pounds of tobaceo,” in two years by Robert Carter.® County officials alse provided Carter
with an additional 10,000 pounds of tobacce for “..shingling the Courthouse porch and
Prison....”"5t The government complex was updated in 1737, when William Ball was ordered
to *.. Frect and build a new pair of Stocks, Pillory and Whipping Post at the Courthouse of
this County....”%

Robert “Ring” Carter

By the early 1700s, Robert Carter was as important to the Northern Meck as the cultivation
of tobacco, which was both a major export and legal tender for the colony. Robert "King®
Carter (1663-1732) of Corotoman was the son of the immigrant John Carter, who acquired
property previously settled only by Indians along the Corotoman River, Robert Carter,
educated in England after the death of his father in 1669, returned to the Corotoman area by
1686, inheriting the tract after 1690, By then, Carter had plantation management experience.
owned large tracts of land, and was an educated man of considerable social position n the
colonies. Carter’s holdings had increased to some 300,000 acres at the time of his death in
1732, and a thousand slaves were working his various plantations.  Over time, his social
responsibilities included service as Treasurer of the Colony, speaker of the House of
Burgesses, Councillor, Justics, President of the Council, Acting Governor of the Colony,
naval officer. and Commander in Chief for the Northern Neck militla. He also served as
Agent for Lord Fairfax for the Northern Neck Proprietary, and it was through that office, and
the accumulation of quit rents, that many of his land holdings were gained. Married twice,
Carter had fifteen children, five dying in infancy and another at an early age. The FEMaInng
children were all well provided for, and they became established at Nomini, Sabine Hall,
Cleve. Shirley, and other plantations, while Corotoman slipped into the category of a lesser
plantation (51-34). Among King Carter’s descendants were eight governaors of Virginia.
three signers of the Declaration of Independence. two presidents, General Robert . Lee,
Bishop William Meade of the Episcopal Church, and Supreme Court Justice Edward D
White, Carter and his two wives, Judith Armistead and Betty Landon, are burted at Christ
Church, the church Carter paid to have built a few miles from his Corotoman estate. Christ
Church, completed by 1734, has been described as the most perfect example of colonial
church architecture in Yirginia. ™

3 Simmons. p. 3879,
33 peirce, p. 28,
32 poiren, 1. 26

3% 1ohn O Wilsen, Virginia's Northern Neck: 4 Pictorial History, {Norfolk, VA: The Donning Company Publishers,
P 5
19841, p. 19
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Figure 15: Third County Courthouse, September 16, 1704, (Deed Book 21}

By 1738, citizens of the county stated that the Queenstown courthouse location was
inconvenient, and accordingly, in 1741, a third courthouse was ordered to be constructed
near the site of the present courthouse. The order of council described the location as "..in
the Field near the Head of Corotoman River where the General Musterers of the Militia of
the said County are usually Convened.”™ The courts ordered that five acres of land be
purchased on November 14, 1741, with the construction of the building to be completed by
December 26, 1741, The land was purchased from William Ball, Edwin and Peter Conway.
William Tayloe and Jesse Ball. Built by James Jones for sum of 49,600 pounds of twbacco.
the courthouse served the county courts until 1861, Court records document the physical
fearures of the third courthouse and prison

..Dementions of the said Courthouse -- Thirty eight foot in length and 25 foot
bredth from out to out, fourteen foot pitch within the house from floor
floor, one compas End. The walls to be three hricks from foundation to the
surface of the Farth from thence to the Base two bricks and a halfe, from
Base to the Plate two bricks. The bricks to be well brunt and laid with morter
at least three fourths lime. Jambs and returnes to be rubbed brick. Four sash
windows in the body, two at the ends of the house and two dorment windows
in the Roof Proportionable to the building. The windows to hoist with

34 Simmons. p. 3880,
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springs and Pullys and to be glased with Crown Glass, a folding door for
entrance proportionable to the building with a substantial Lock and hinges.
The floor to be flagged to the cuter barr and planked within, The justices’
bench. to be neatly railed and ballagtered and raised from the floor three foot
and to be divided Wainscot fashion above and below inio twelve seats
hesides the Chair. A seat for the jury under the justices on the lower floor, a
Clerk’s Table and Chair also a Chair for the King's Attorney. A seat for the
Sheriff and another for his deputy, two barrs; at least four benches to each of
the therm and one gate nearly railed. A flat Ceiling and a paire of Siairs 1o go
into it handsomely made and nearly railed. floored with plank above stairs

¥

and a Table for the use of the Jury men.

The house to be well lathed, plastered and whitewashed above and below,
The plastering to be with very lime and hair. The roof to be substantial
sawed stuff covered with Inch plank and good Dragon swamp shingles
Eighteen inches long with three quarters of an Inch thick. Clear of Sapp.
Strongly framed with summers and girders, principals and All to be well
tarred. & neat Modillion Comice Around. The whole to be handsomely
primed and painted. The windows, doors wainscot, Seals, barrs ete. w0 be
nearly primed and painted within the building and without®?

L35
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aster County Order Book 8, p. 87, August 8, 1740 Deed Book 18, p. 35



Histarie Architcotoral Survey Report of Lancaster County
Traveries with Historic Research & Planning Associates, 1997
Page 29

COLONY TO NATION PERIOD (1750-1789)

Aggravated by drought and poor tobacco crops, the whole Commonwealth of Virginia
suffered a severe economic depression throughout the Colony to Nation Period. Thus, the
price of the small tobacco crops began to increase as credit from English merchants ceased
and money virmally disappeared from the county. The population of Lancaster County
began to shift dramatically with an increasing number of local white non-householders. The
tithable list suggests that nearly two-fifths or 37 percent were sons or relatives of prominent
householders with the same sumame. The increasing number of orphans of local families
who became servants also added fo the proportion of local residents in the labor force. Thus,
the local community seems to have supplied an increasing proportion of the white labor
force  This was augmented by the ever increasing African-American slave labor
population.

in January 1754, the abandoned Queenstown Courthouse, the second building to serve the
courts, was sold to Solomon Ewell for 50 pounds of tobacco. The prison was purchased by
William Ball for 211 pounds of tobacco from the sheriff.”? The removal of the courthouse
was one of the many explanations for the decline of (Jueenstown after the 1740s, Unsuitable
as a government center and port, Queenstown vanished like many of the port towns founded
under the 1662 Act of Assembly that had established Ports & Towns® Within Lancaster
County, the early development of larger towns was curtailed by the region’s self-sulficient
slantations in an effort to control access 10 the deep creeks along the Northern Neck, Mearly
every farm had its own port and could dispense its products and purchase supplies from
private wharves along the creeks. Thus, the early Tidewater landscape remained rural,
dotted with communities that came to life only when court was in session and the local
government conducted business,

in 1784, a vear after the Revolutionary War ended, landowners in Lancaster.
Northumberland. and Middlesex counties presented a petition to the Virginia legislature
requesting permission to erect a port town on the western branch of the Corotoman River. a
major tributary of the Rappahannock River, The petition was the result of a law that had
been passed by the legislature earlier that same year, requiring foreign vessels to unload
cargo at one port on each river in Virginia to facilitate the collection of customs duties.
Alexandria. for example, was the port of entry for ships on the Potomac River, West Point
served the York River, and Hobbs Hole (now Tappahannock) was the designated port on the
Rappahannock River. Like the early 18th century port at Queenstown. the selection ot
Hobbs Hole praved to be inconvenient for property owners who lived many miles from the
town and were accustomed to having ships dock at their waterfront plantations. The county
residents” 1784 petition noted that the Rappahannock River had a deep channel with several

36 Wheelsr, p. 143
57 {ancaster County Order Book 15, p. 168, January 19, 1754,

35 rdmurice Duke, “Dyusenstown: The YVanished Village,” Chesapeske Bay Maogerzine, December 1948, pr. 31 and 34,
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excellent places for a harbor, all of which were easily defensible. Legislative permission to
erect the port town, to be know as Gordonville, was immediately granted. I was 1o be
located along the Rappahannock River on a portion of the 2500-acre plantation owned by
Fames Gordon, now the site of Verville (31-26). Under the regulations of the act, trustees of
Gordenville would be required to lay out the streets and lots, each a half-acre. Potential
residents were enjpined to build dwelling houses at least sixteen feet square with a brick or
stone chimney within three vears of purchasing the lots, Yet, not a single building was ever
erected. ™

A
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Figure 16: Detail of 1754 Map of the Corotoman River Showing Colonel Gordon’s Property.
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2% smmon G. Dunton, Jr.. "Verville. A Town?" Northern Neck of Virginia Histersoad Magomear, Nolume XXIV. No. L
Decgmber 1974, pp. 26742676,
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FARLY NATIONAL PERIOD (1789-1830)

Lancaster County, and the entire Northern Neck for that matter, remained relatively free of
the battles involved in gaining the independence of the colonies. Yet, the American
Revolution directly impacted the region, proving to be a period of disruption for the already
deteriorating agricultural system. With the interruption of international trade, the principal
emphasis of agriculture during the war was food production, particularly grains. Once the
war ended, agriculture in the Northern Neck was returned 1o its dismal pre-war state as the
local economy gradually deteriorated, As life in Lancaster County returned to normal after
the war, many changes began te occur in the county, and the entire Commonwealth of
Virgimia for that matter, as the money crop waned. The tobacco industry was shifting from
the Northern Neck into the Virginia Piedmont and North Carolina. This was largely due ©
the fact that the erop had exhausted the topsoil, which was washing into the rivers with a
lack of virgin trees to restrain it. This prompted the farmers of the Northern Neck to mm
their efforts towards the production of grains, especially wheat and eventually corn. The
agricultural revival of Lancaster County was further enhanced by water shipment, which
enabled farmers to produce grains and com for both the northeastern states and the
plantation regions of the lower South that were unable o eastly transport the crops ©
market,

As the plantation systems ceased to expand and became less profitable, the population of
Lancaster County declined from 5638 in 1790 (3,236 of which wereg African-American
slaves) to 5,375 by 1800, Temporarily, the Church of England was abandoned and many of
the prominent churches {ell into disuse or misuse. In 1802 by an act of the General
Assembly, the glebe lands were confiscated and sold in order 1o benetit the populace, Bt
while the established church was heading into hard times, other religions were gaining a
foothold in the territory:  Baptists, Methodists, and Presbyterians developed churches
throughout the county as freedom of religion came into practice.®® The growing religious
congregations prompted a slight increase in the county population by 1810, reaching 5,392

America’s declaration of war on Great Britain in 1812 greatly affected Lancaster County
financially and physically. as the local economy deteriorated and the population began to
shift inland. According to various letters and reports, British troops had docked at King
Carter’s Corotoman Plantation, plundering and looting goods, stores, and slaves. Martin
Shearman's low riverside plantation, now the site of the present dwelling known us Pap
Castle (51-75), with its steamboat landing was valnerable to British attack. Days later. the
troops landed at Windmill Point in Lancaster County, but had heen successfully driven back.
Forsecing British attacks, Spencer George of the Lancaster County Militla requested
assistance:

The Enemy is here upon us, landing and doing mischief every day. Our
Militia had an engagement at Chewning’s Point yesterday and the balance that

53 witson, p. 48.
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are stationed at Martin Shearman’s, where [ had a little scuffle this morning
without any injury 5!

In 1814, British naval forces in the Chesapeake Bay were reinforced and ordered up the
Potomac River, Fn route to Washington, D.C., the ships under Admiral George Cockburn
fired on, bumed. or pillaged a number of the Northern Neck’s stately mansions and
churches. One report noted that the British had sailed into the mouth of Lancaster County’s
Indian Creek, landing in crossroads community now known as Kilmamock with devasiating
physical effects. Four British barges sailed up the Rappahannock River into Carter’s Creek,
where they captured two small schooners and a quantity of provisions, including “some
sheep belonging to the Estate of Martin Shearman, Esq., lately deceased.” 62

Despite the physical destruction brought on by the War of 1812, Lancaster County and the
Northern Neck began to prosper from the establishment and rapid expansion of regional
trade routes between Baltimore and Norfolk. Replacing the international trade of the 18th
century, regional trade allowed grain and other crops, cordwood, humber, and oysters 1o be
hanled by small sloops and ‘schooners throughout the Chesapeake Bay region. (eneral store
awners and operators ofien owned the vessels, transporting local products to marker and
returning with supplies of kerosene. molasses, clothing, and other items not readily available
to the region. Steamboats also began to appear by 1815 and, by the time the Civil War
began, steamers were responsible for providing not only freight, but passenger service from
Baltimore to the many river ports in Lancaster County

The depression that swept the United States in 1819 abruptly terminated this period of
prosperity for Lancaster County. Wheat prices fell sharply and remained generally low for
the next three decades. Furthermore. the Northern Neck lost its unique fransportation
advantage when, during the era of canal-building which reached its peak in the United States
after 1825, infand grain-producing regions began to gain easy and relatively cheap aceess o
the principal markets. With the era of railroad-building, which immediately followed. the
markets were forever readily accessible.

In despair, many small farmers moved out of the Northern Meck, following the population
shift to the west. The larger estates, already the dominant feature of the Tidewater landscape
of the Northern Neck, became even larger as the lands of the emigrant small farmers were
purchased. While the prominent landholders were rather immune the hardship, the
remaining small farmers turned to non-agricultural pursuits. such as the wood business, The
agricultural census for 1820 states that of the 5,517 persons living in Lancaster County. an
averwhelming number of 1,567 were engaged in agriculture. A minimal 163 person were
emploved in the manufacturing industry and 77 worked in commerce and trade.  This
indicates a tremendous loss in the number of small farmers working independently by 1820

61 Cumitle Wells, "Mational Register of Historic Places, Registration Form: Pop Castie.” ovember 13, 19RE, Section 8.
noi

62 wells, “Pap Casde.” Section &, p. 2.

63 Wison, p. 4%,
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ANTEBELLUM PERIOD (1830-1860)

At the onset of the Antebellum Period. the population of Lancaster County had declined
drastically to 4,801 persons. One clement associated with the population decline was the
selling of African-American slaves, a vestige of the tobacco-planting days in the Northern
Neck, As the slaves moved from the old tobacco regions to the new cotton-producing states,
the slave population in Lancaster County reached levels more appropriate for grain
cultivation. which were less labor-intensive crops. The Census Bureau reports that 2,631 of
the population of Lancaster County in 1830 were African Amencan slaves.

By the 1840s, although the general population of the county continued to drop, the economy
of Lancaster County was becoming stable and a building boom began with the construction
and enlargement of many of the county’s grandest dwellings. The number of dwelling
houses had reached 426 for the 427 families residing in the county by 1850, The sconomy
of the Commenwealth of Virginia as a whole also heigltened, an increase directly related to
the zenith of the plantation system and African-American slave labor.  For Lancaster
County, this led to a renewed emphasis on the use of fertilizers, particularly Peruvian guano
which is the manure of sea birds. Unlike other fentilizers, guano proved especially beneficial
to the soil throughout the county. Guano transformed the economy of the Northern Neck
from a state of medioerity into a major grain-producing region, as can be seen in the 1853
address by Willoughby Newton to the Rappahannock Agricultural and Mechanical Society:

..in no part of the world has [agricultural] improvement been more rapid,
or its results more profitable, than in the favored region which we inhabit.
Wheat. which was formerly considered so precarious a crop that its culture
was almost abandened, has now, by improved busbandry, the use of lime,
marl, clover, plaster, and the best of all fertilizers, guarno, become our
greatest staple, in the production of which we can defy the competition of
the world. So rapid has been the improvement, and so great the increased
profits of agriculture, that it may be safely affirmed. that in the short space
of seven vears, the valug of the landed property of Eastern Virgima has
been fully doubled; whilst of many neighborhoods, it has been quadrupled,
and some particular farms increased more than ten fold ™

By 1830, the population of Lancaster County had decreased to 4.708. The acres of
improved fand totaled 30,037, equally balanced by the 31,436 acres of unimproved land
county-wide. The agricultural census documents that the cash value of the farmland had
reached $636,513 with only ten individuals owning real estate valued above $10.000.
Ellvson A, Currie, age 33, and James Kelley, age 67, held the most valuable real estate, each
assessed at $23,500. Of these ten property owners, only wood dealer William Henderson,
age 34, was not listed as a farmer. The 1850 agricultural census lists Indian corn (120,530
bushels) as the primary crop, followed by rve (61,000 bushels) and wheat (24,424 bushels).

b Oouger, o 137
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Other crops noted in the census include oats, wool, peas and beans, lrish potatoes, sweet
potatoes, beeswax and honey, buiter, and orchard produce 5

The industrial census for Lancaster County in 1850 noted the four most successful
merchants in the region. Working as a tanner and shoemaker, Samuel Downing had an
invested capital of $1,500 in 1850 with five employees and a production value of $1,400.
The two coach making companies had invested about $300, each employing five workers.
The varving quality and quantity of the products between the two companies can be inferred
by the range in the production values, being $1,300 for J.D. & Jasper Eubank, and $900 for
Norris & Dobyns, Wheelwright Thomas Forester and his single male employee had invested
$250 with a minimal production value of $356.8¢

The economic prosperity prompted by agriculture continued throughout the Northern Neck
during the vears prior fo the Civil War, The production of wheat in five of the adjacent
counties almost doubled between 1850 and 1860, while increasing an overwhelming 231
percent in Lancaster County. This directly affected the population of Lancaster County,
which had grown by 1860 to 3,151 persons. Of those, 1,047 persons were engaged in
agriculture,

By 1860, the acreage of unimproved land had increased to 39444 despite agricultural
fertility of the previous vears. On the improved acres of farmland, comn. rye, and wheat
continued to be the dominant crops with the minimal production of tobacco. wool, peas and
beans, and potatoes. The growing production of grains and mills within Lancaster County
was clearly documented in the industrial census, which notes twelve such properties in 1860
The most prominent of the mills was Ridgeway and Armitage, a steam saw miil valued at
§78.000. Tanner Samuel Downing is the only industrial merchant noted in the 1850 census
who also appeared on the 1860 industrial census.®?

Although no formal public education sysiem had yet been established in Lancaster County,
the 1840 census noted that seven primary and common schools existed at the private level,
The number of scholars listed was 140 with just forty being the financial responsibility of
the public. The census also documented that in Lancaster County only fifty-seven white
persons over the age of twenty could not read or write, a very impressive statistic for this
period in a rural community. By 1830, this number had dramatically incressed to 156,
although the number of scholars attending private schools had reached 335,

Traditionally, education had been provided in the home by private tutors. Yet preacher
Addison Hall believed that private institutions should be established to provide formal
education for larger groups of scholars. Hall founded the Kilmarnoek Seminary with the
assistance of educator Lewson Chase in the early 1850s, Chase, perbaps the area’s first

B3 national Archives L BG 29, Agricuitusal Census: Lancaster County, 1850, THI3Z, Rols
66 Wational Archives 1, RO 29 Indusirial Census: Lancastor County, [850. T1132, Rolt 4

67 National Archives I, RG 2% Industrial Census: Lancaster County, 1460, T1132, Roll &



Historic Architectural Survey Report of Lancaster County
Teaceries with Historic Research & Planning Associates, 1997
Page 33

school teacher, was recruited by Hall from Massachusetts specifically for the establishment
of the seminary. In 18553, Hall brought Julia Gordon from New England in order to establish
the Female Seminary nearby. Located at the corner of Church and Main streets in
Kilmarnock, the wwition for the Female Seminary vearly totaled about $180, which included
general educational sessions. An additional fee was charged for music, higher English. and
French classes. Both seminaries discontinued their educational tutoring during the Civil
War, after which only the co-educational Kilmarnock Seminary resumed its sessions. 58

In an effort to establish public education statewide in 1846, the Commonwealth of Virginia
required by law that the courts appoint a school superintendent and commissioners. By
1860, the state required that each county create no fewer than three public schooels. Lancaster
County, however, did not act on either law immediately. Moreover, the growih of the
educational system throughout the entire Union during the middle part of the 15th century
was drastically affected by the pressures of the impending Civil War.

The third courthouse building was being repaired and the interfor “...painted a light brown,
the roof painted with oil and Red Ocher and Tarred, the outer side of the doors and windows
white..” by 18399 Despite on-going renovations, the 117-year old building was poorly
outdated, and stylistically was not considered fashionable enough to reflect the newly
established prosperity of the county. Thus, by 1858, the acting Justices of the Peace were
summoned to attend the county court “...to take into consideration the propriety of building
a new courthouse.”7¢

68 witzon, ppe, $9-30,
6% { ancaster County Onder Book 28, p. 344, September 10, 183%,

7 Lancaster County Chrder Book 3%, p. 212, May 17, 1838,
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Figure 17: Fourth County Courtheuse, cirea 1884, (Wilson, p. 96}

The last courthouse built in the Commonwealth of Virginia before the devastation of the
Civil War was the fourth and final courthouse building for Lancaster County.”! The
courthouse was built by Edward O. Robinson in 1860-1861 for the sum of $5,400. The
building committee had been instructed to consider not only the lowest bid but also the use
of “quality materials and good workmanship.,” At its completion in April 1861, just as the
war broke out, the committes reported that it was a “handsome and substantial building.”""
Common additions to courthouses in Virginia, the pedimented portico was added 1o the
Lancaster County Courthouse in 1937, when the office and jail wings were attached in the
course of extensive renovations.”

7 N .. I . . ;o . ¢ N o e i~ s L. P
Tt sahn and Margaret Peters, Firginfars Hiloric Cowrthouses, {Chartottesville, VA: University Press of Yirginia, (995}
ANB LN

72 rohn and Margaret Peters, p. 104,

73 John and Margars Peters, p. 1800
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The most successful federal attempt to protect the Bay and its water access io the nation’s
capital was conceived by Commander James H. Ward. The "Potomac Flotilla” consisted of
more than twenty steamers and gunboats that patrolled the Bay “owith a view to service in
the Chesapeake and its tributaries; to inferrupt the enemy’s communications; assuredly keep
open our own, drive from those walers every hostile bottom; threaten all the points of a
shore line accessible to such a force exceeding 1,000 miles in extent; protect loyal citizens:
convoy, tow, transport troops or intelligence with dispatch; be generally usefuls threaten at
all points, and to attack at any desired or important one.”™

The Advisory Council of the State of Virginia, on May 9, 1861, urged that “prompt steps be
taken to encourage the formation of home guards in all the counties bordering on the
Chesapeake Bay and its navigable tributaries.. establishing convenient places of rendezvous:
selecting, along the banks of the rvers, bays, and creeks, suitable posts for rifle-pits]
erecting signal stations along the rivers, and establishing a system for giving warning of the
enemy’s approach....7?

Throughout the war. the Bay was a marshy danger zone crawling with privateers, smugglers,
and spies.  Virginia secessionists, often licensed as Maryland merchants and planters.
purchased ammunition and arms. food, and all form of supplies in Baltimore and
Philadelphia on the pretense of personal use. The supplies, together with hidden recruits,
were then transported “zig-zag” across the Chesapeake Bay into unguarded inlets, eventually
moving up the James River, the third largest of the Chesapeake’s tributagies, 1o the
Confederate capital in Richmeond.

Because of its geographical position, the Northern Neck was in a vital position. bordered 10
the north by the Potomac River; within close proximity to both Washington and Richmond:
accessible by the Chesapeake Bay; and bounded by the officially neutral state of Marviand.
Consequently, Lancaster County was frequently raided and ravaged by Union troops
attempting to control and stop the secessionists. Along the Rappahannock and other rivers
of the region, battles were fought that largely transforming naval warfare forever,’®

Confederates ofien came down to the shore and raised a flag of truce to bring the Yankees
within range of gunshot. False and signal lights were also sources of worry o the Yankee
boats.

Inside Windmill Point, Rappahannock River, May 16, 1861, - Discovering a
pole at the end of the point, went on shore in an armed boat; found halyards
attached to it considered it erected to show a false light. cut it down and sent
word to the people living in the neighborhood the reason for my doing so.
[carned that during the night it had been guarded by a part of eighteen armed

74 Bric Mills, Chesapesie Bay in the Civil War, {Centreville, MD: Tidewster Publishers, 1996), pp. 3540,
73 Milts, p. 43,

76 Mills, passim.
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men. and that it was the first of a svstem of poles used for telegraphic
purposes between the point and Fredericksburg, lights being hoisted at night
and flags by day. Afierwards noticed similar poles farther up the river, time
of communication with Fredericksburg befog from one to two hours.”™

In the spring of 1861, Confederate reports stated “much agitation prevails along the Potomac
coast from apprehension that the enemy will land in large and small numbers 1o devasiate
and plunder.” " The Union troops did land and devastate the residents of Lancaster County
and the Northern Necks

About 4 p.m. on June 24, 1861, a war steamer, the Star of New York. of one
thousand tons burden came to opposite the house of Mr. James W, Gresham.
of Lancaster County. She dispatched to the shore three barges, one a very
farge one, with a swivel in the bow, and two smaller ones, all filled with
armed troops. The large barge grounded on the flats. The other two came
ashore with a number of armed men, variously estimated at between thirty
and sixty, After resching the shore some six or eight proceeded up to Mr
Cresham’s house. One of the party accosted Mr. Gresham, and ingoduced
another of the party. The first named, it seems, was the pilot, who was a
captain of a wood vessel, acquainted with Gresham. He inguired i he had
chickens or lambs for sale, Mr Gresham replied that —"He had a plenty. but
not a d--d one for that party.” He then took the pilot aside and told him they
had better be getting away, as there were troops in the neighborhood, and that
he did not wish his premises © be the scene of a battle, as his mother was
very il in the house. While they were talking a small company of Lancaster
troops, about thirty in number, were seen coming down the road in double-
quick time. The alarm was given, and the enemy fled precipitately © their
hoats. our men firing into them as they shoved off. In their flight they lefi
one of the barges, the men, in great confusion, crowded into the other. and
others wading out 1o the large barge on the flas. In their flight they left.
besides the %m;"szz two breech-loading rifles, a revolver, and several swords.
with coats, hats, and shoes, thrown away in their hasty retreal. It 18
confidently asserted that four of the enemy were killed in the boat. Nobody
hurt on our side. As soon as our men fired on the enemy the ship opened her
guns on Mr. Gresham’s house. She fired fifty-three shot and shell, seventeen
of which ook effect, damaging the house to the amount of at least $1.000. As

7 Official Records of the Union and Confederate Navies in the War of the Rebelfion, Series 1, Yolume 4, {Washiagion,
D Goverment Frinting Ofig), pp. 467488,

78 (Hficid Recards of the Union and Confederate Navies in the Wor of the Febedlion, Series |, Yohume 4, p. 496,
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in all of cur engagements, the preservation of life was most remarkable. One
of the halls struck the bed on which Mrs. Gresham was lying il She was
removed to an outhouse, and a bombshell came in and exploded in the room
without injury to anyone.”™

By 1863, the Federal Army reported the devastation of the Northern Meck after three vears
of war: '

Fxpedition down the Neck -- destroyed fifty boats: destroyed $30.000 worth
of goods in trapsit, escorted back 300 contrabands; innumerable mules.
horses, ect., captured; forty or fifty prisoners, including ome captain and one
licutenant; think that damage done the enemy - by destruction of supplied --
nearly 51,000,000

On May 26th, the expedition returned to camp [King George County] having
marched in five and a half days a distance of 130 miles.  Although the
country was full of seports of the presence of a rebel force on the Peninsula. 1
have now no reason to believe that any constderable force was al any one
place on this side of the Rappahannock. These reports are no doubt put in
circulation by the enemy, most likely to deter us from sending our cavalry
down the Neck into the wealthy and flourishing disteict of country embraced
in the counties of Westmoreland, Richmond. Northumberland, and Lancaster.
which is abundantly supplied with corn and wheat. Everywhere | found a
majority of the people bitterly opposed to the government, which they
charged with sending among them cavalry to rob and plunder them. In
several instances | was assured by intelligent men and women that the
wholesale plunder and pillage of our cavalry had done more to weaken the
affection of the people for the Government than all other causes combined.
and in fact, the cavalry have left the whabitants very hittle cause to respect
them as men and soldiers. They have robbed and phndered all that came in
their way. These men.. have stripped helpless women and children of their
last horse. and in many instances of their last article of food, and have grossiy
insulted them for complaining. T do not believe the general commanding the
Army of the Potomac is aware of the utter want of every principle of true
soldiers which characterizes the intercourse between the cavalry and the
inhabitants of the Northern Neck.. ¥

7% Miriam Haynie, The Stronghold: 4 Story of Histaric Northers Neck of Virginia and lts People, (Richmond, VA the
DHetz Fress, Incorporated, 1959, pp. 988889,

80 Haynie, pp. 991-992.
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A number of salt works in Lancaster County were destroyed by the Potomac Flotilla:

In Chilton’s Creek near the Corotoman we discovered the salt works, built in
an excavation which completely hid them from view. There were several
large evaporators and tanks, and the negroes there stated that the works would
make 75 bushels of salt per day; that they had ben in operation about three
weeks, and were at work for the Confederate Government.  In connection
with the works was a large stable, a granary containing about 200 bushels of
corn. a number of wagons and carts, about 100 cords of woed, and several
flathoats, used to carry salt across the river: that there were also a few barrels
of salt. The evaporators and tanks were broken up, and all buildings, grains,
carts, wood, ete. burned. The boats were destroyed. The horses, 12 in
number, the negroes said had been taken away when they saw our boals
approaching M

By the close of the war. the Flotilla had grown to include thirty-two vessels, vet still there
were cavalry hands, shore batteries, and blockade runners threatening the Chesapeake water
routes. One of the last piratical acts on the Chesapeake Bay during the Civil War took place
on April 3, 1863, despite President Lincoln’s arrival in Richmond the previous day. The
raiding party of Thaddeus Fitzhugh boarded and captured the Federal steamer Harriet De
Ford in the Bay, about thirty miles south of Annapolis. The twenty-seven guerriiias
released the steamer's captain, mate. and white passengers. and then took off m the
commandeered vessel in pursuit of two government barges being towed down the Bay.

When the district commander at Annapolis found out. he telegraphed the commanding
officers at Fort Monroe, Point Lookout. and Baltimore. Commander Foxhall Parker sent ten
Potomac Flotilla vessels in pursuit, with orders to “be prepared to sink the De Ford should
vou fail in with her.” On April 6th. Lieutenant Edward Hooker tetegraphed Parker: "We
have holed the rat but can’t get at him....”82 Federal troops had located their ship by April &,
1865, although there appear to be no viable plan to recapture the Harriet De Ford.

Hooker had been cruising off the mouths of the Rappahannock and Plankatank rivers in
Commodore Read, overhauling everything that passed in the Bay. At daylight on the sixth.
the flotilla’s Jaceb Bell came out of the Rappahannock River with a pair of informative
passengers, Simon Brown and James Hudson, captured Union crewmen of the Harriet De
Ford, They said the steamer had been taken into Indian Creek, on the Bay shore above the
Rappahammock River, by the Confederate troops. Accompanied by Heloptrope and Coewr
de Lion. Hooker pursued. After about five miles, Commodore Read could go no farther,
forcing the crew to continue in the light drafts, while shelling the woods, Contrabands from
the Harrier De Ford emerged from the wood. From the men, Hooker learned that the
captured steamer was actually at Dymer Creek to the south, not Indian Creek.

81 Haynie, pp. 993-984.

82 paitls, p. 274,
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Hooker rushed to Dymer Creek, and found the wreck of the burping Federal steamer, which
had become a final sacrifice to wartime depredation. Before Highting the blaze, the rebels
had unfoaded the steamer’s cargo with the help of neighborhood farmers.® In retaliation for
their lost steamer and cargo, the federal troops fired upon several of the grand plantation
dwellings lining Dymer Creek. One such dwelling was Greenfield (51-83), originally erected
in circa 1840 by Thomas Spriggs, and subsequently enlarged in 1857 by then-owner William
H. George. Physical damage caused by the retaliation remains visible on the interior of the
dwelling.

“Our gunboats are keeping a bright outlook for the enemy on the bay,” Foxhall Parker
informed the navy secretary on April 9, the day the rebellion ended. % For four vears, men
along the rebel shore of Lancaster County and the Northern Meck had harassed Federal
hoats, had smuggled, sabotaged, and fought. Now they disappeared into their marshy land.
elusive and uncaught to the end.

Despite the lack of significant land skirmishes and battles, Lancaster County suffered the
loss of many residents who had gone to fight on behalf of the Confederacy. In honor of
thase soldiers. the local Ladies Memorial Association erected a monument in 1872, It 15
believed that the memorial marker was the first of its kind to be erected in Virginia. Mostof
these monuments were placed on or near the courthouse greens garly in the 20th century.
some forty vears after the Civil War when the Lost Cause had taken on near-religious
overtones. 8

Figure 19 Current Map of Dymer Creek

B3 mitls, p. 275.
&4 nigts, p. 275,

83 john and Margaret Petess, p. 106.
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RECONSTRUCTION AND GROWTH PERIOD (1865-1917)

After the Civil War, the economy of Lancaster County began to steadily increase with
substantial profits generated by improved transportation routes and agricultural production.
In due course, Lancaster County experienced an influx of residents in search of a diverse
livelihood. raising the population to 6,160 by 1880. With the rise of the merchant and
planter classes, the need for additional wharfs and commercial trade increased. This demand
prompted the construction of numerous commercial stores, banks, offices, and hotels, with
contemporary residential development occurring at a slower pace,

The abundance of seafood in the Chesapeake Bay provided the needed economy as fishing.
oystering, crabbing, and related processing industries became dominant in the area, with
Carter’s Creek (now known as Irvington) serving as a leader in the fish and oyster trade,
Additionally, the steamboats traveling along the Rappahannock and Potomac rivers brought
about immeasurable commercial ventures for the county. According to John C. Wilson.
author of Virginia's Northern Neck: A4 Pictorial History:

The steamers and their landings were the area’s link to the rest of the
world....People and all kinds of produce would take these routes.
frequently hooking up at other fandings with trains that would carry them
to their destinations. ¢

Despite the population growth, the Northern Neck continued to be a veritable istand, almost
surrounded by the Chesapeake Bay. the Potomac and the Rappahannock rivers. Yet, below
the fail-line. no bridges had been erected and the existing roadways were largely primitive.
The easiest and most direct access was by steamboats, which were making stops al
approximately thirty wharves in the Northern Neck region by the latter part of the 19th
century. Not all wharves were visited routinely, vet several of the villages and crossroads of
Lancaster County were regularly scheduled stops, tides and weather permitting.$” Many of
the steamboat landings in Lancaster County, such as Westland. Millenbeck. Monaskon,
Ocran. Merry Point, Moraitico, and Weems, had wharves consisting predominantly of a
general store, a canning factory, and various other seafood-related businesses.  Irvington,
Kilmarnock, and White Stone had these establishments as well as hotels, churches, schools,
doctors” and lawyers” offices. theaters, social organizations, and various ancillary businesses
that enabled them to become viable villages or towns rather than just small hamilets or
crossroads communities. Isolated because of poor roads and the lack of bridges to other
inland communities, like most of the Morthern Neck region, Lancaster County tooked to
Baltimore for manufactured goods. Baltimore reciprocated by purchasing or transhipping
seafood and produce processed in local fish factories and canneries. There was also
considerable mail-order business between Lancaster County and Baltimore, which greatly
influenced the architectural development of the county.

B8 witson, p. 6%,

87 tawe, n. 34.
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Development of King Carter’s Corotoman Plantation was a sign of the sconomic changes
and population growth in Lancaster County at the end of the 19th century. In 1886, lohn
Palmer was largely responsible for the renaming of the property "Weems,” honoring the
steamboat Mason L. Weems which was scheduled to make regular stops at the wharfl
Respecting its excellent location along the Corotoman River and Carter’s original
tandscaping plan, the wharf was constructed on the site of an 18th century sloop landing.
The steambeat, used well before the Civil War, was converted for military use during the
war and returned to its original use by the late 1860s. Yet, by 1890, despite having a village
named after it, the steamer ceased to operate. The disruption in service greatly affected
residents of Weems and Lancaster County, as the steamboats continued to be the major
source of transportation and communication by providing trade, commerce, information, and
travel,

By the 1890s. both the Rappahannock Steamboat Line and the Weems Steamboat Line from
Baltimore made regular stops at the many county wharves, In addition to providing an
important means of trade and personal travel for residents, this regutar traffic brought out-of-
town visitors. Tourism prompted the establishment of the several resort hotels and
campgrounds. including the Yerby Hotel (31-130), the White Stone Beach Hotel (31-130).
and Wharton Grove (51-87). One of the best examples was the now-razed frvington Beach
Hotel. which was originally constructed as a single-family dwelling prior to the Civil War.
As the new village hotel, it became the center of entertainment with vear-round visitors. By
the turn of the 20th century, the hotel property underwent substantial changes with the
construction of a dancing pavilion, bamn, enlarged servants quarters and carriage shed, a
skating rink, and additional resort cotiages. The hotel and its adjacent cottages could then
accommodate about fifty-seven guests,  August proved to be its liveliest month. with
*“dancing in the pavilion. singing. “tacky™ parties when the guests “bedecked themselves in
the most ludicrous paraphernalia and joined in the fun, cake walks. progressive euchre,
masquerades replete with Japanese lanterns, and costume parties in which the villagers
joined.” When the summer was over. the guests heading for the steamboats were typically
ireated to a farewell display of “fire crackers, bomb and pistols.”

8% Simmons, pp. 30-34,
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Figure 20; White Stone Beach Hotel, cirea 1909 (Wilson, p. 112}

Wharton Grove Campground was established 1n 1893 at the height of religious meeting
camp revivals and steamboat tourism in the Northern Neck. John Palmer, a Roman Catholic
real estate agent responsible for the sale of a portion of Carter’s Corotoman estate,
convinced Reverend F.W. Claybrook to establish a religious meeting camp at the site.
Claybrook, in turn, interested evangelist Dr. .M. Wharton in the project. The resulls were
ten-day meetings each summer from 1893 to 1927, Thousands of participants arrived gach
year, camping in the many wood frame cottages. Before automobiles and the construction
of connecting bridges. most of the attendees used the water as their means of transportation.
arriving at the eight-foot wide wharf that stretched 1/4 mile into the Corotoman River. At
the center of the religious experience was the massive wood frame Tabernacle, set to the east
of the cotlages.

Despite the slow but steady decline of the steamboat wharfs throughout the Northern Neck
by the turn of the 20th century, Lancaster County remained dependent on Carter’s Creek and
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the Rappahannock River for its livelihood. Fishing and oystering became lucrative with
approximately two hundred Poquoson log cances sailing daily to the oyster rocks of the
Rappahannock River. Initially, the arrival of gasoline boat engines in 1884 was believed 1o
he a threat fo the seafood industry and the overall economy of the county. Though sailboats
and steam engines remained dominant, gaseline-powered hoats began to have considerable
impact, turning the many rivers and creeks into crowded water highways., While altering the
future of the steamboat wharfs, the gasoline-powered boats provided mobility for the
fishermen in addition 1o incressing local transportation and tourism. In fact. the ovster
industry continued to report record vears with approximately 400,000 bushels shucked in
1913 on Carter’s Creek alone® Unfortunately, depletion of the public oyster beds from
overuse and dredging by pirates had begun to threaten the area’s oyster industry, With the
prosperity of the county now so dependent on fish and oysters, the citizens and local
officials pushed for the enactment of ovster laws. Consequently, the General Assembly
made the Board of Fisheries a department of the Commonwealth known as the Commission
of Fisheries. The Commission thus began drastic measures to ensure against such piracy and
the future depletion of local seafood resources.

Figure 21: Cornnndore Maury leaving Irvington, circa 1908, (Wilson, p. 141}

§9 Simnens, po 74,
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Expanding its resources, the fishing industry turned to menhaden fish factories, which had
heen established as early as 1891 in West Irvington. Two such menhaden fish factories were
operated by Captain Josephus F. Bussells and Captain William L. Messick, the sons-in-law
of Levin H. Irving. LF. Bussells and Company offered “pure manipulated fertilizers,.. fine
dried fish, assiculated fish and decomposed fish.”™® Following a disselution of a partnership
with William E. Woodall, the Bussells and Company factory was leased to Captain E.
“Wash™ Milligan from Cape Charles. Bussells continued to fish the region. however, using
steamers provided by Milligan until 1896, The factory was eventually closed, bemng
demolished in 1897 by Milligan. Simultaneous to Bussells attempts to run a menhaden fish
factory, William L. Messick was establishing, and subsequently expanding, the second fish
factory in Irvington, known as the Carter’s Creek Fish Guano Company. Yet, due to poor
health, Messick lost his fish factory in 1910, The property became a lime grinding plant
until the mid-1920s. when it was replaced by an ice plant and generating plant of the
Virginia Fast Coast Utilities. In the [930s, the property was again altered, becoming a
marina.

Invariably, wherever a steamboat landed, a cannery could be found close by. The industry
was dependent on shipping. both for empty cans coming in and produce going out. Many of
the canneries began operation soon after the close of the Civil War, agsisting in the
econamic reconstruction of the county, The factory near Weems Wharf was operated by
Sam Thomas. who assisted in the development of the machinery used to crimp the tops of
the cans. At Merrv Point, the Chilton and Derickson Canning Factory and Wharf employec
seventy-five to a hundred workers in the early 1900s. Nearby was the ferry. which ran from
Merry Point to Ferry Point on the Ottoman side of the river. Other prominent factories and
associated industrial businesses in Lancaster County included the Irvington Menhaden Fish
Factory. Messick’s Fish Factory, the Taft Fish Company. Standard Products, and Headley's
Railway,

The county grew with the construction of grand Late Vietorian-era dwellings, churches. and
private schools.  Although many private academic institutions had been established
tiroughout the county since its founding, the public school system was not formed until the
tatter part of the 19th century. Prompied by Commonwealth law in 1870, the county named
AT, Cralle as the first superintendent of schools for Lancaster County. One- and two-rpom
school houses. under the lmited jurisdiction of the county school board. dotted the rural
landscape of Lancaster County at the end of the 10th century.  Yet, one of the most
influential education institutions of the region during this period was the privaie. €o-
educational Chesapeake Academy (51-195) in Irvington.  Opened in Mav 1890, the
Chesapeake Academy proved to be a thriving private school. actively teaching many local
students until 1907 when the public high school system commenced. According to a 1896
schoo! catalog, all students who could meet the fees were welcome, being accepted on talent
and diligence rather than on wealth or family background.®! About half of the students were

59 Stmmons, pp. 128-135,

91 Casalogue of the Chesapenke Male & Female Acadermy, Irvtagion, Lancaster County, VA 7th Anawal Sesyion, 189596
(Virginia Citizen Print, 1896
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boarders, originally living at private homes and later in the gitls” and boys™ dormitories,
erected 18972 and 1903, respectively.? During its peak years, the private academy boasted
fifty to eighty students per session with high academic standards. Its demise, however,
stemined from the establishment of public high schools.”

According 1o the State Board of Education records, the first public high school i Lancaster
County was not operational until 1906, The school, held at the Lancaster Court House,
initially consisted of only fourteen students. The first graduating class in 1911 included four
students, while the class of 1912 had just two students. The facility consisted of Principal
Frank P. Brent and two teachers. In the growing town of Irvington, the defunct Chesapeske
Academy building was utilized as the Irvington High School from 1907 to the close of the
1915 schoo! vear while funding for a new public school building was raised.  Full scale
construction of school buildings and the establishment of the County Bouard of Education
were not to oceur until the late 19205 and 1930s.

WORLD WAR I TO WORLD WAR II PERIOD (1917-1945)

World War [ directly affected Lancaster County, just as the preceding wars had done. Many
of the fishing boats were commandeersed for coastal patrol, never returning o their original
industrial service. Consequently, fish factories dwindled in number, though not in size.
Additionalty. steamboats suffering from the rapid development of land transportation began
to suspend some of their services. Cars became more and more commonplace; roads were
beiny laid and continuously improved. Trucks hegan fo transport goods and produce that
traditionally had been shipped by water.

As the county struggled with the Great Depression, the size and scope of the federal and
state government programs began to expand and sponsor public works programs that
improved highwavs and constructed parks. While encouraging growth. it directly affected
the landscape of Virginia and its historie resources. This metamorphosis is clearly visible in
Lancaster County with the construction of the Downing Bridge in 1927, which provided a
direct connection from the Northern Neck to mainland Virginia and created commerce and
trade with Richmend. The erection of the bridge and improvement of roads and highways
further stimulated the development of the commercial enterprises such as stores, hotels. and
gas stations.  Additionally, tourism by automebile increased ten-fold. thus creating jobs and
atiracting new residents, In 1920, the United States Census Bureau reported the population
of Lancaster County was 9,757, the highest since the formation of the county in the mid-
17th century, However, the unconstrained transportation routes, as well as the loss of
industrial economic stability, caused the population of Lancaster County to substantially
decrease to 8,896 persons in a span of just ten years, Yet, by 1940, the Census Burcau
recorded that the population had increased, returning to the statistical averages registered in
1620.

52 Wikson, p. 1B,

92 Simmons, p. X797,
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Lancaster County examples of federally funded improvements that were occurring nation-
wide during the Depression years are clearly demonstrated in the stylistic form and number
of school buildings constructed. These early school buildings were very similar in form,
massing, style, and material o many of the schools, libraries. and recreational facilities
erected across America between 1933 and 1939 by the Public Works Administration (PWA}.
Each of the buildings, predominately constructed of brick, followed standardized plans that
allowed for quick and inexpensive construction while providing adequate classroom and
administrative space. The utilization of a standardized plan, although not necessarily one of
the PWA, is particularly apparent when viewing the number of one-story brick school
buildings dating from the 1920s through the 1940s that mark the landscape of Lancaster
County.

Supplementing the federally funded educational facilities for the African-American students
was Julius Rosenwald, president of Sears, Roebuck and Company. In 1913, Rosenwald had
initiated the largest single program benefitting public schools for African-Americans in the
South. His private contributions and the subsequent Julius Rosenwald Fund Rural School
Building Program galvanized rural communities desiring better schools. By 1928, one in
every five rural schools for African-Americans in the South was a Rosenwald school,
housing one-third of the region’s rural black population. At the program’s conclusion in
1937, Rosenwald’s financial aid had produced 4,977 new schools, 217 teachers” homes and
163 shop buildings in 883 counties of 15 states, representing a total investment of over $28
million in contirbutions and tax revenues.® In Lancaster County, the Rosenwald Fund was
responsible for the construction of twe school buildings by the late 1920s Nuttsville and
Merry Point.

The improving transportation and tourism during this period brought new residents and
commercial businesses to the town of Kilmamock. the oldest and presently the largest of the
county’s incorporated towns. Located on the Lancaster-MNorthumberland County line,
Kilmarnock is about five miles north of White Stone at the convergence of State highways 3
and 200. The town is located on land patented to Gervase Dodson and George Wale prior to
1664, At the time, the site was known as the Crossroads, In 1676, part of the original patent
was transferred to Anthony Steptoe, who operated a tavern and storehouse at the crossing,
giving it the name Steptoe’s Ordinary. In 1764, Steptoe seld the parcel, which included the
store, to Robert Gilmour, an agent for and interest holder in a mercantile firm in {lasgow,
Scotland, Apparently, Gilmour owned land in Kilmarnock, Scotland, and applied the name
to his small holding in Lancaster County. During the Reconstruction period. Kilmarmock
was enhanced by the growth of commercial establishments and grand Late Victorian
dwellings and churches, Many of these dwellings were constructed with labelled materials
transported by steamboat from Baltimore and exhibited similar architectural features
fashionable to the period.

9% “nocenwald School Conference: Resonrce Guide.” Conference sponsored by the Middle Tennessee State University
Colleges of Education and Liberal Arts, and the Censer for Historie Preservation in Murfeesbors, TR, Cetober 21, 1995, 1.
3
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Kilmarnock’s original town layout at the crossroads remains evident, despite the damage and
subsequent alterations that followed three major fires early in the 20th century. The first of
the fires occurred in 1909, claiming a portion of the town north of Wharf Road and hurch
Street. The second fire, in 19185, destroved shops and offices on Main Street north of Church
Street.  The last major fire occurred in 1952, after which the present character of the
commercial core was established. By 19553, when the village of Irvington was incorporated,
Kilmarnock had become the largest town in Lancaster County ”® The first chartered village
in Lancaster County, Kilmarnock was incorporated in 1933

S LGSR f m ot e e s e B e O 0 G VPY A

gwaﬁway §m3&mg 3@&&%&

RPN TR IR mm

Figure 22: Kilmarnock, early 1960, {(Wilson, p. 125

73 Virginia Flecwric & Powsr Company. Arsa Deovelepment Depariment, Industrial Site Suevey: Lowcazfer-
Horthumberlond Cownty Area {19585, p. &,



Historic Architectural Survey Report of Lancaster County
Traceries with Historie Research & Planning Associates, 1997
Pags 51

The oyster beds were gradually depleted, and by the mid-to late-20th century, the oyster
industry no longer provided the major source of income for the citizens of Lancaster County.
Consequently, interest in the menhaden industry increased. Joseph W. Gunther further
revolutionized the industry by reviving the aerial spotting of the fish, a tactic that had been
introduced at the tum of the 20th century. By 1947, two-way radios were also added
hetween the plane and the boats, allowing the pilot to contact the fishing hoats nearest the
school of fish. This procedure increased the catching of menhaden fish by fifty percent.”®
Meanwhile on land, corn, wheat, tomatoes, timber, mills, and canneries continued 1o support
the agricultural economy. For a period of time, watermelons were also an exported item,
and sovbeans became one of the major agricultural crops.

On August 23, 1933, Lancaster County and the entire Northern Neck were physically and
financially devastated by the worst storm ever recorded in the region. For two days. gales
and the highest tides ever known in the county destroved crops, buildings, boats: caused
hundreds of thousands of dollars in damage to factories, resorts, power and ferry service: and
generated fears of epiderics from the high-water contamination of water supplies,
Additionally, the storm destroyed many of the unprotecied wharves and landings for the
boats from Baltimore. Although service continued at a reduced rate for a short time after the
storm, the steamboat’s position as a major transportation and communication enlerprise was
farever altered. as most steamboat lines chose not to rebuild the wharves and eventually
ended their regular service%’

NEW DOMINION PERIOD (1945-Present)

After the Second World War. the population of the Commonwealth of Virginia began ©
experience tremendous growth. By 1935, the state had more urban than rural dwellers,
ranking fourtcenth in population in the United States. The population of Lancaster County,
however, was declining, recorded at just 5,640 in 1930,

The economic state of the county, however, was constant. In the late 19405 and early 1930s,
agriculture {734 persons) continued to be the leading industrial employer in Lancaster
County, followed by forestry and fishery (461 persons) and manufacturing (321 persons).”®
Following Northumberland County, Lancaster County was one of the leading counties in the
Commonwealth of Virginia per pound in catching fish. Menhaden, alewives, crabs.
croakers, and ovsters were the most imporiant economically for the county. Sealood
packing and the manufacturing of fish oil, scrap, and meal became industries of considerable
proportions. The greatest land use was devoted to farming with about one-fourth utilized for
crops such as corn, wheat, oats, and soybeans. The chief farm products included milk,
chickens, and eggs.

6 Wwitson, p. 179,
¥7 wWitsan, p. T

98 virginia Division of Planning and Econemic Development, Virginia Department of Conservation and Development.
“Eronomic nventory of the Mornhern Meck of Virginia, Region 137 September 1949, p. 17,
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Lancaster County’s scenic location on the Chesapeake Bay marked it a5 a logical site for
recreation, tourism, and retirement, forcing a slow evolution in the industrial foundation of
the county. By 1959, the trend was apparent as the manufacturing of food and lumber
became the mumber one industry, followed by commercial trade, forestry and fishing,
construction, and finally agriculture, The Census Bureau reported that the population was
rising, reaching 9,174 in 1960. The majority of the new residents were relocating from
various part of Virginia, rather than from out of state.

The change in industry prompted the improvement of commercial villages and crossroads
like White Stone, the smallest of Lancaster County’s incorporated towns. The village is
rransversed by State Highway 3, moving south to eventually crossing of the Rappahannock
River. Much of the present town of White Stone can be accurately dated to the period
following 1870, with the basic formation of the village occurring during the Reconstruction
Period. Development continued into the 20th century as the White Stone Whart became a
stopping point on the Rappahannock River for steamboats from Baltimore and Norfolk, Like
many of the wharves in the Northern Neck, the White Stone Wharfl was destroved by the
August 1933 storm and never reconstructed, The physical and economic stability of White
Stane during the early part of the 20th century was augmented by the efforts of tocal resident
Dr. B.H.B. Hubbard (051-0122). Hubbard was responsible for the construction of two
doctor’s offices, a complex of cement block commercial stores, an automebile repair garage.
a post office. and his own prominent dwelling house in the center of White Stone. of
Hubbard’s many enierprises, the Taft Fish Company had a great LCONOMIC IMpact on
Lancaster County, and White Stone in particular. Despite the 1933 storm, the fish company
remained in operation until 1942, with the buildings were eventually destroyed by fire
1973,

Irvington. the county’s second largest community, was incorporated in 1953, one vear after
the incorporation of White Stone. Located in southern Lancaster County, the village of
Irvington is situated on two points of land that extend into Carter’s Creck ond the Eastern
Branch at the their confluence with the Rappahannock River. The village-proper of
Irvington is located at the eastern prong or peninsula, while West Irvington is sited at the
western prong or peninsula. Historically known as Carter’s Creek, Irvington is a significant
Northern Neck town that first flourished in the Antebellum period as a successful steamboat
wharf, Like much of lower Lancaster County, the steamboats provided a primary means of
transportation, while simultanecusly creating vast trade and supply opportunities for local
residents, Briefly closed during the Civil War, the wharves were targely responsible for the
reconstruction of Lancaster County, Irvington in particular. Conseguently, Irvington grew to
hecome the largest village in the county with the establishment of commerical businesses.
govermmental facilities, and educational institutions. By the latter part of the 19th century,
Irvington developed residential neighborhoods consisting of imposing wood frame single-
family dwellings displaying the fashionable architectural styles of the period. Despite the
slow, but steady decling of the steamboats, the seafood industry and tourism industry
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flourished. Since the great fire of 1917 and the storm of 1933, few contemporary intrusion
have been constructed in the village-proper of Irvington stretching from the original site of
the wharf to the present location of the Tides Inn on King Canter Drive. Today, the village
remains historically and architecturally significant as one of the only extant Lancaster
County villages that flourished as a steamboat wharf and major seafood production center.

Today, Lancaster County is the second most populous county in the Nerthemn Neck with
10,896 persons and is the most densely populated with a population per square mile of 81.9
in 1990, With the median age of county residents over 45 years, Lancaster County has
become a retirement community, thus, only 33.5 percent of the population participates in the
fabor force. The dominant industries, such as fishing, farming, and transportation. have been
drastically reduced. They are replaced by services like education and health care, retail
trade. manufacturing, and tounism.

Lancaster County continues to prosper with its growing tourist indusiry and stable
businesses. The Tides Inn (31-910) epened in 1947, attracting people from around the world
to the modest resort village of frvington, King Carter’s Historie Christ Church (51-4) at the
intersection of Route 222 and State Route 3. was restored in the 1930s-1960s.  This
architecturally significant church has become an important tourist destination, aftraciing
tourist and scholars alike. Numerous inns and specialty shops opened to take advantage of
increased tourism and many extant residential buildings were purchased as weekend and
summer houses. In 1957, the Robert O. Norris Bridge opened, connecting lower Lancasier
County with the Middle Peninsula, The construction of the bridge. costing approximately
$15.000.000. replaced ferry service and provided direct access from the south and east.

One of the greatest assets to the historical and architectural heritage of Lancaster Couniv is
the Mary Ball Washington Memorial Museum and Library. named in honor of the mother of
George Washington, Mary Ball Washington was born in Lancaster County in 1708 on a
vast estate known as Forest Plantation (know now as Epping Forest), owned by her father
Joseph Ball . Established in the 1930s, the Mary Ball Washington Memorial Museum and
Library was originally housed in the Lancaster County Jail (31-81-3), which was consgucted
in 1821, Vacated in 1938, the historicaily significant building was given to the Woman's
Club of Lancaster County about 1940 for restoration. After being stymied by World War i,
funding efforts for the restoration project were prompted by the building’s future use as a
repository for historic county documents and artifacts of the Museum. The restoration was
compileted and the building dedicated in May 19533, The organization was incorporated in
1958 1o include a muscum, library and genealogy departments, later adding archaeology.
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Today, the Mary Ball Washington Memorial Muscum and Library maintains numerous
buildings located in the Lancaster Court House National Register Historic District (51-87)
In addition to the jail, which serves as an archives, the Museum and Library maintains the
1798 Lancaster House (31-81-7), the circa 1830 Old Post Difice (51-81-8), the circa 1745
Old Clerk’s Office (51-81-1}, and the circa 1960 Amnex Building (31-81-16).

Tracing its history back to 1651, Lancaster County has contributed to the historical and
architectural assets of the Commonwealth of Virginia. As one of the oldest counties.
Lancaster County’s population has continued to grow. reaching iis highest citizenry of
10,896 in 1990, Old and new rural villages and suhdivisions have developed, while
simultaneously preserving thousands of acres of farm and forest land between them.
Additionally, Virgimia's Chesapeake Bay Preservation Act. a partnership established
between the state and local governments, protects the nation’s largest estuary and one of
Lancaster County's greatest historical and environmental assets.
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HISTORIC CONTEXT THEMES

The Virginia Department of Historic Resources (VDHR) has developed eighteen historic
themes that capture the context of Virginia's heritage from the earliest times. These themes
are defined in the Survey Findings section at the end of this report. Under the scope of this
survey project, only properties relating to six of the eighteen themes were included in the on-
site survey. Yet, the vast number of rescurces associated with an additional eleven themes
prompted a second survey phase. Both phases are encompassed by this report; thus,
seventeen themes are discussed here as they pertain to the extant historic resources within
Lancaster County. The most prevalent theme was the Architecture/Conumunity Planning
Theme. followed by the Domestic Theme, Subsistence/Agriculture Theme, and the
Commerce/Trade Theme.  Resources relating to the remaining themes were identfied.
although only minimally. The Landscape Theme as defined by VDHR was not adequately
noted during the survey and, therefore, is not included in the following discussions.
Whenever possible, the resources were placed within the historic context themes established
by VDHR 1o allow for a better understanding of the development impacts affecting the
SUIVEY area.

*Intendad to be a sampling of building types and styles, this project was restricted in the
number of on-site surveys; thus, not all properties and related resources that apply 1o each
and every VDHR theme were documented.
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THEME: DOMESTIC ,
RESOURCE TYPER: Bingle-Family  Dwellings, Secondary Domestic  Outbuildings.
Hotels/Inns, and Camps

During the architectural survey of Lancaster County, 187 resources out of a total of 270
properties were documented as being associated with the Domestic Theme. The resource
types identified in the survey area include 177 single-family dwellings, fourteen guest
houses, four hotels, three camp cabins, and 266 associated outbuildings, such as sheds, well
houses. greenhouses, and garages. Intense development of domestic buildings in this ares
began in the Reconstruction and Growth Pertod (1866-1914) with seventy-two of the 177
primary resources dating from this period. The greatest domestic growth during this period
occurred between 1870-1879, with twelve percent of the domestic resources dating from this
nine-vear span.  This incresse in domestic development was largely sparked by the
reconsiruction that was taking place throughout the Union after the devastation of the Civil
War. Although not many of the domestic resources in Lancaster County had been destroyed
by the war. the destruction throughout the region prompted an influx of residents 1o the
Northern Neck, thus prompting an increase in housing.

Lancaster County, like much of the Northern Neck, was dependent on the waler for its
economic livelihood, With the introduction of steamboats to the region in the late 1820s, the
population of the county increased tenfold as mmmuciai and izzduszriai activities developed.
This prompted the renovation of many extant late 18* and early 19" century buildings. as
well as the construction of new Federal, Greek Revival, and Early Classical-style dwellings.
These more imposing dwellings tended to be associated with the ?idi’%‘i&‘ii&ﬂ system, which
was at its zenith during the period between 1830 and 1860. Thus, it is not surprising that
sixty-four of the domestic resources identified in the survey were originally constructed in
the Farlv National Period (1789-1830) and the Antebellum Period (1831-1860)  The
greatest domestic growth occurred between [840 and {849, with thirteen per cem of the
sixty-four domestic buildings erected during this nine-vear span. In fact, between 1840 and
1849, Lancaster County experienced ihe most tremendous ingrease in domestic resources
with the erection of twenty-one of the 177 resources included in the survey.

The domestic resources in the survey area, both single-family and multi-family dwellings,
are typically two-stories to two-and-a-half-stories in height, constructed of wood frame on
slightly raised brick foundations. The roofs are primarily side gable. and typically clad in
standing seam metal. The chimneys, predominately constructed of brick, are equally both

nterior and exterior end. The ﬁx&-eiizz&ga tended to he five-bavs wide with a central-passage
plan; however, a significant number of side-passage plans were documented. Intotal, 122 of
the single-family dwellings have one-story porches on the facade. The wood frame porches
were typically three-bays mde with Tuscan columns. The architectural siyles mn“ed from
the Colonial-style of the 18" century to the Tudor Revival-style of the carly 20" century.

The dominant domestic style is the Queen Amne-style from the latter part of the 19" century,
comprising forty-seven out of the 177 (or eight-four percent) of the domestic properties
surveved. The Colonial and Greek Revival styles were the second and third most popular
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stvles identified in the survey, respectively,

Since most of the county developed in the 19" century as farmland, many of the properties
surveved included historic sheds, ice houses, summer kitchens, and corneribs (o name a few,
The extant outbuildings associated with the agricultural context of Lancaster County were
typically of a historic natre. Of the 311 identified. a total of 153 outbuildings were
documented as historic. Most notable were the six carriage houses, five comeribs, fourteen
guesthouses, seven summer kitchens, twelve well houses, six privies, and fourteen
smokehouses. The utilitarian function of the buildings dictated the predominantly wood
frame, one- 10 two-story, front gable forms. The most prevalent outbuilding identified was
the shed, which tended to be a catch-all term for generic outbuildings. A total of 117 sheds
were documented. only fifty-three of which were deemed historic,

Like the more suburban areas, rural communities throughout the nation during the 2"
century were predicated on the use of the automobiles, making garages an essential teature.
A total of fifty-seven garages were identified during the survey, twenty-one of which were
determined to be historically associated with the primary dwelling.

While the styles and forms of the domestic resources will be discussed within the Domestic
Theme. a more in-depth description and comparison will be examined in the
Architecture/Community Planning Theme.
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SINGLE-FAMILY DWELLINGS
European Settlement to Society (1660-1758)

Although the process of patenting and settling the land did not generally begin untl well
into the 17" century, it is known that Virginia colonists constructed houses in four basic
forms during the late | 7" and early 18" centuries. Hugh Mormison, in his authoritative
study, Farly American Architecture, defines four basic plans for these early dwellings: the
one-room plan with an end chimney: the two-room plan with hall and parlor: the central-hall
plan with end chimneys; and the most sophisticated, and most likely the last of these to be
developed, the cross plan with a two-story front projection and a projecting stair tower to the
rear® Typically, these dwellings were crudely constructed of local materials without
stylistic embellishments.

The central passage, which is the dominant domestic plan in Lancaster County, made its
appearance in Virginia during the first quarter of the 18th century. Prior 1 that time, many
wealthy Virginians lived in two major ground floor rooms. The larger of these - the hall -
was a communal, multi-purpose living space that opened onto a smaller room variously
called the parlor, chamber, or inward room.'% The modest plan was subsequently enlarged
to include a central passage and dining room. The latter was generally a front room and
provided an intermediate space between the planter’s threshold and the old chamber, which
had been pushed deeper into the house. The promiscuocus mix of persons and activities once
accommodated in the hall was taken over by this new dining room. The old hall, m turn,
became a formal “entertaining room” where those possessions expressive of one’s station in
society were assembled and placed on display. More than any other room, this richly
appointed hall symbolized the social autherity of the planter.'®! The new hall was quickly
appreciated for its practical advantages as a refuge from the heat of the summer. As carly as
1724, houses in Williamshurg were provided with “a passage generally through the middle
of the house for an air-draft in summer.” "% The space was often referred to as the summer
hall. documenting the growing importance of the passage as a living space and emphasizing
its seasonality. Although commenly utitized in the early settlement period. the summer hall
reached its zenith in form and design during the Antebellum Period in the Northern Neck,

%% Hugh Morrison, Early dmerican Architecture: From the Firss Colonial Senlements (o the Navional Period
{(Mew York: Oxford Unpiversity Press, 1932}, pp. 140-14 1L

100 Mark B, Wenger, “The Central Passage in Virginiao Bvolution of an Eighteenth-Century Living Space,”
Persepeetives in Vernacular Architecturs, I, ed. Camille Wells, {Columbia, MO: University of Missouri
Press, 1988), p. 137,

B Wenger, p. 138,

102 Wenger, p. 138; Hugh Jones, The Presens Stre of Virgisia, ed. Richard L. Mortion, (Chapel Hill, M
University of North Carolina Press, 1956, p. 71
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Figure 2% Hall/Parlor and Central-Passage Plans {Ware, pp 1 and 158)

tn Lancaster County during the Settlement to Society Period. the one-room and hall-parior
plans remained dominant over the central-passage plan. In fact. the more modest two-room
dwellings continued to be constructed until the second and third decades of the 19th century
when they were commonly enlarged 1o exhibit the fashionable central-passage plan. Of the
fourteen domestic buildings constructed during this phase. four resources have been

b3

documented to have originally had a hall-parfor plan and four had a central-passage form.

13 The plan of the remaining six dwellings from this period were not included in the on-site survey, thus, the
plans are not known.
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Figure 24; Wilder's Grant (0514186} Hall/Parlor Plan

Figure 23 Level Green (081-01 133 Central-Passage Plan
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Before the railroads, the only means of efficiently transporting bulky goods of relatively low
value such as cut lumber, brick and quarried stone, was by water; thus, coastal towns and
villages had access to a variety of domestic or imported construction materials, as did those
inland farmers and villages located near canals or dependable navigable rivers. Elsewhere,
the costs and difficulties of horse-and-wagon transportation greatly restricted all but the
most affluent from utilizing materials other than those found on or near the consiruction site,
The eastern half of the country was covered with a seemingly endless supply of wirgin
forests, encouraging and enabling timber construction principles familiar 1o the English and
French colonists. The buildings were constructed with massive framework of hand-hewned
timber (post-and-beam construction} which, in the New World, were generally covered by
thinner strips of wood to make a watertight exterior.
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Figure 26: Post and Beam Framing (Carley, p. 67}

These traditions dominated early foll building in both New England, where frame, massed-
plan {more than one room deep) houses became the norm. and the carly setilements of the
Tidewater South, where frame houses with a linear plan {one room deep) dominated. As
settlement expanded, more distinctive traditions of wooden building techniques evolved,
blending the linear plans of the Tidewater South with the use of horizontal log walls. This
radition of log building dominated in Lancaster County during Virgima's European
Settlement to Society Period. Undoubtedly some of the better houses in the county were
constructed of brick, as this material was a common symbol of wealth in the 13" and early
197 centuries. Verville (051-0026) is the only extant domestic resources constructed of



Historic Architectural Survey Report of Lancaster County, Virginia
Tracerizs with Historic Ressarch & Planning Assosiams, 19%7
Page 62

brick during the early 18th century in Lancaster County,'® Now razed, Morattico (051-
0018y and Edge Hill {051-0007) were imposing brick dwellings constructed during the
settlement 1o society phage. /93

Enon Hall (051-0214) and Wilder's Grant (051-0186) were erected in the 1730s and are both
largely intact as originally designed despite additions, The wood frame Enon Hall exhibits
the rarely seen gambrel roof with one interior end brick chimnev. In contrast, Wilder's
Cirant has a side gable roof with two exterior end brick chimneys laid in Flemish bond.

Level Green (051-0113) and Riverside (051-0057) were originally constructed in the 1730s.
Having experienced alterations, Level Green is predominately intact in form and massing,
displaying a Flemish bond exterior end chimney with excellently detalled shoulders.
Riverside is historically significant, serving as the main residence for seven generations of
the Stoneham family. The original portion of the dwelling, associated with the Maidley
plantation. was erected as slaves™ quarters with a hall/parlor plan. Hventually relocated, the
modest wood frame structure was substantially enlarged and altered.

Colony to Nation (1751-178%)

The gradual increase in the number of larger households and the wealth of the planters and
merchants duting the Colony to Nation Period (1750-1789) caused a saturation of the
agricultural market. particularly in tobacco production.  Consequently, an economic
depression stymied the county and created a change in the demographic growth of
residential development. Despite the growing gap between classes, the population bad
stabilized and the volume of land conveved actually was reduced, thereby creating a sohid
sense of community by the middle part of the 18th century.

In general, the dwellings erected during this period continued to be modest in size and
ornamentation.  Tvpically Georgian in style. the dwellings of the Middle Colonies were
usually constructed of stone or hrick with variations of the nporthern and southern
architectural trends. The most common form of dwelling in Virginia during this period was
the side-gable with a pent roof separating the first and second stories, a hooded main entry,
and interior end chimneys, With the end of the Revolution, the country as a whole began to
develop new building stvles, such as the Federal and Early Classical styles. based on the
changing European fashions.

A total of eight domestic resources dating from 1759 to 1780 were identified in this survey,
The oldest domestic dwelling from this period is Belle Isle (031-0001), constructed in 1739
for William Bertrand. The plantation house is a rare example of Flemish bond brick

14 Verville was listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1987,
105 Mot 1o be confused with Edgehil] (051-0007), Bdge Hill was a two-story Flemish bond brick manor house
cated near Ball's Mill Pord at Route 3 and Rouie 354,
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construction with rigid symmetry, balanced proportions, and Classical detailing typical of
the pertod.t% '

in the late 1760s :m{i 7708, Merry Point Ferry Farm (051-0014), Crescent Cove (051-00403,
Edgehill (051-0007), Holyoak (851-0046), and Spring Hill Farm (031-0024) were all
conatructed as three bd‘f wide, hall/parlor plan dwellings that stood ong-and-a-half- o two-
stories in height. Interestingly. all five of these dwellings were substantially enlarged and
stylisticaily embellished in the second and third decades of the 19th century, The cause 0‘2’
this physical ransformation from the hall/parlor plan to the central-passage plan appear

be divectly ted 1o the economic growth of sthe county spurred by the steamboat wharves
The decision to alter rather than replace the existing manor houses associated with zh{:
propertics can only be speculated at this point.

Figure 27 Creseent Cove (B51-0040)

The evolution of the modest hall/parlor plan to the more fashionable central-passage plan is
clearly evident in the construction materials and methods in many of the building. 1t should
be noted that the physical evidence is frequently visible only from the interior of the
buildings. particular in the raised English basements where the Grmmé sill, brick foundation
walls, and joists are predominately exposed. The four-course American bond brick
foundation of Crescent Cove is marked by a seam, which is the only exterior indication of an
addition. The alteration to the main block of the building was done within decades of us

W meite Isle was listed on the Matonal Register of Historic Places i 1971,
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original construction, thus the “newer” foundation wall was laid in the identical honding
patiern.  Fortunately, this is thf: onlv major alteration and addition to the Colonial-style
dweiling. More visibly displaying its evolution is Spring Hill Farm where the original
portion was sef upon a :>l2£—J”lﬁ raised English bond foundation and the addition was
differentiated by the three-course American %zumi foundation.

Figure 28 Holvosh (051-0046}

In 1842, County Clerk Richard Toler Dunaway not only zmm’ﬁ'mmd Holyoak from a
hail/parlor plan dwelling into a central-passage plan building. bt he also raised the sule
gable roof a full half-story. This required that u secondary sit] be cnamd and the onginal
foundation walls reconstructed approximately five feet on either side of the exterior end
brick chimney to support the new two-story roof. The physical evidence of this alteration 18
located in the basement. where portions of the original sill and brick foundation are present,
and 1n ii.» attic. where the ghos ng of the one-and-a-half~story side gable roof s seen on the
shaft of the western chimney

Although enfarged in the early 19th century, the evolution of both Merry Point Ferry Farm
and B ng 1ill are not clearly visible on the interior or exterior. Unfortunately, the imposing
18405 addition to Merry Point Ferry Farm was destroyed by fire in the 1940s. The addition
was in due course reconstrucied in form, detail, and massing with replicated Colomal
ernbellishments.  Similarly, by the 19303, Edgehiil was severely deteriorated and partially
collapsed: hence, in 1939 Maryland builder Ralph C. Talbott reconstructed the structure
utilizing much of the original 18th and 19th century materials.
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Another significant example of the evolution of the hall/parlor plan can be seen at Epping
Forest on Morattico Road (051-0008). Built of hand-hewned logs, the oldest portion of the
structure has been documented to have been erected before 1780, This portion of the
building, set upon the Flemish bond brick foundation, was largely encompassed by tum of
the 19th century additons and interior alterations, making the origmal hall/parlor plan
difficult 10 cohserve. By the 1840s, the building was further enlarged with fashionable
Federal sivle detailing.  The farm presently consists of eight associated outbuildings.
inchuding historic bams and carriage houses, sheds, smokehouse, and ice house. The
property’s historical significance extends to the early part of the 18th century as the
birthplace and childhood home of Marv Ball Washington, the mother of George
Washington,

Figure 19: Epping Forest (0510008}
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Early National Period (17900-1838)

The many economic depressions of the Colony o Nation period caused a steady decline b

the population of Lancaster County in the early part of Early Mational Period.  Although me
population did fluctuate during the peried, by 1830 it had decreased substantially. Yet, this
decline did pot directly affected the development of domeste resources.  The survey
identified a wial of thirty domestic buildings in Lancaster County that had been originally
constructed between 1790 and 1830, Embracing the various fashionable architectural styles
of the early 19th century, the dwellings are predominately constructed of wood frame with
weatherboard cladding.  Of the thirty buildings identified, four were constructed of brick.
These inciude Farmville (05120009, Dunaway Place (031.0077), Windsor Farm (051~
0060, and the now demolished Ridgefield (051-0036). Farmville, also known as Fox Hill
Plantation, was constructed between 1800 and 182530

Figure 3 Wiadsor Farm (4510068}

Windsor Farm was constructed between 1820 and 1830 by cabinetmaker Hilkiah Ball
Although Federal in style with splayed lintels, boxed ogee cornice, and a diamond-paned
transom. Windsor Farm is trudmawii} Georgian in plan with the five bay wide main block
and one-story flanking dependencies, The masonry structure is constructed of brick faid in
three-course American bond with interior end brick chimneys, The central-passage. single-
pile plan that was the hallmark of the period is accentuated by the one-story entry porch with
its m;md Tuscan columns. Boxleigh (051-0119) and Lawson Bay Farm (051-0047) exhibit

07 Farmyville was listed on the National Register of Historie Places in 1978,
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the same Georgian form seen at Windsor Farm., although both dwellings display the Greek
Revival influences from the latter part of the pertod.

All of the domestic resources from the Early WNational Pertod are set upon slightly raised
brick foundations, the majority having side gable roofs and extertor end brick chimneys,
Now razed, Ogk Hill (051-0019) was the only building identified from this period with a
gambrel roof, a very fashionable form in the Colonial and Georgian dwellings. Farmwville
and Flowering Flelds House (051-0200) both exhibit the hipped roof which proved popular
with the Federal stvle, The very deteriorated Coppedge House has one of the most finely
detailed double-shouldered brick chimneys. laid with an English bond base and Flemish
bond shaft. Despite its current condition, the house is significantly intact as constructed at
the turn of the 19th century with s traditional hall/parlor plan.

Figure 31: Coppedge House (351-8134)

Distinct examples of Farly National Period domestic dwellings inchide Apple Grove (031~
0037y, Chowning Ferry Farm {051-0003), Hampion Gardens (051-0098), and Ring Fam
{051-0169) 1o name just a few,
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Antebetlum Period (1831-1868)

During the Antebellum period of growth throughout the Union. Lancaster County continued
to emerge slowly despite the increase in population and profits generated by tobacco
production and the steamboats wharves. According o the United States Census Burean, the
population of Lancaster County in 1840 had fallen to 4,628 people. The early decades of the
Antebellum Period, which was the zenith of the plantation system. saw a marked increase in
the production and sale of tobaceo. a5 well ay increased trade and supply opportunitics
related to the steamboat wharves.

The survey identified thirty-three Antebellum Period domestic resources, all of which were
constructed of wood frame on brick foundations. The buildings, predominately two- to two-
and-a-haif-stories, have side gable roofs with either exterior end or interior end brck
chimnevs. The buildings typically have an I-house plan, being central-passage, single-pile
with Greek Revival proportions and applied elements. This same [-house plan was also
often derailed with Early Classical Revival motifs. Chase Manor (249-5011), which 15 the
oldest extant building in Kilmarmock, is an excellent example of the Early Classical Revival
style,

The economic changes enabled prominent residents of the community to renovate and
substantially enlarge existing manor houses. Of the fourteen domestic properties included in
the intensive-level survey which enabled interior access, nine of the main dwellings were
enlarged from a hall/parlor plan 1o a central-passage plan during the Antebellum Period.
Examples include Merry Point Ferryv Farm (051-0014), Spring Hill Farm (051-0024).
Cireenfields (051-0083), Melrose (051-0051), Riverside (051-0057), Crescent Cove (031~
0040). Epping Forest {(051-0008}, Holyoak (051-0046), and Edgehill (051-0007). While the
majority of those listed were originally constructed in at the wn of the 19th century.
Melrose is the only dwelling to have been constructed and enlarged during the Antebellum
Period.
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Figure 32: Melrose (0318081

The original portion of Melrose. based on the physical evidence, dates from the 1840s. It
consisted of what i3 presently the western paror and the expansive entry hall, Substantiated
by tax assessment records. the central-passage plan with its Greek Revivabstyle detailing

was completed in 1857 by Thomas H. Pinkard, The main block of the building was derived
fromy the Georgion manor house pmn with flanking onc-and-a-half-story dependencies. The
grand hollow-newel stair was designed i 1857 by pronunent local cabinetmaker William
Pierce. The stair boasts an »%»Wm,s paneled stringer. a heavy turned Greek Revivalesivie
newsl post. thin tumed balusters, and a round rail sccentuated with easement and gooseneck
CUIVES.
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Figurs 33 Melrose Main Stair (8510031

Two of the most impressive domestic dwellings dating from the Antebellum Period are
Midway (051-0015) and Levelfields (O 151-0048). Midway was constructed in 1842 with a
central-passage. double- pile plan on a raised English foundation laid fve-course
American bond,  The i;reﬁk Revival style building is remarkably symmetrical on all
elevations. requiring a blind window opening with louvered shutters (o be created on the first
story of the west elevation. The stylistic ornamentation is largely derived from the form and
massing of the dwelling with its paired interior end brick chimneys, elongated window
openings. and pedimented entry porches, Applied detailing is restricted 10 the bead-and-re
motif and the dentil molding on the cornices, The interior of the building s sigmizaamiy
intact as originally designed featuring an inset medallion in the expansive summer hall and
fanding hall. paneled pocket doors, and narrow transverse hal i1, The English basement
includes the unfinished winter kitchen and the formal dining roon

{evelfields was constructed in 1857-1858 by Thomas Sanford Dunaway. Similar in style to
Midway. Levelfields is Greek Revival with a central-passage. double -pite plan on a raised
English basement. Although the plans of the buildings are identical, Levelfields is an
additional two bays dgf::pa:r, measuring five bays wide and four bays deep. Other distinet
differences are the hipped roof, paneled interior end chimneys, and side entry norches. On
the interior, the similarities are more clearly visible in the summer hall and landing hall.
double parlors, and transverse hall. The additional two bays in depth allowed for the
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construction of an elegant hollow-newel stalr that mimics the stair at Melrose in form and
detail,

Another significant example of the domestic buildings dating from this period is Public
YView (151-0139), which was congiructed in 1848, The building has a waditional two-story
wood frame entry porch that was a popular trademark of the Federal and Early Classical
stvles. The building clearly displays the plantation owner’s wealth and planter-class status
with its expansive central-passage plan and partially exposed brick chimney laid in fve
course American bond.

Figure 34 Public View (8310139}
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Figure 35 House, Houte 626 {§51-005%)

The deteriorated two-story wood frame building on Route 626 (031-0095) with its villa-hike

form is one of the earliest examples of the lalianate house within the county. Square in

plan. the dwelling has a boxed cornice with overhanging eaves and brackets. o one bay wide

entry porch with brackets, and elongated window openings. Traditional 1o the county. the

building is set upon a slightly ratsed brick foundation and covered by a side gable root clad

with zmmi The dw *Eiiz‘w is one of only eight domestic resources identified from the
tel

Antebellum period that has a single interior brick chimne

Civil War Period (1861-1865}

During the Civil War Period (1861-1865), the Morthern Neck was protecied from Yankee
raids by 3 i*ioms; Gruard, while most of the abi ~hodied men and boys iuﬁt the arga 1o serve
the Virginia cavalry or regiments. Surrounded on three sides by water and out through with
estuaries. the area was exiremely vulnerable o shelling from Federal gunboats.  The
residents of the area. accustomed o taveling along the waterways, were encucied by

ederal woops and forced to abandon their traditional way of life. Unfortunately, land and
buildings not immediately destroyed by the gun fire were often appropriated for military use
and inevitably suffered from misuse or destruction. The economy of Lancaster County, like
the rest of the Confederacy, quickly declined. Consequently, several imposing late 18th and
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garly 19th cenfury manor houses were destroved and fow domestic improvements were made
during this period, ‘

A single domestic resource, dating from 1865, was dentified during the survey as dating
from this period ~ the lames Brent House (249-3012). The two-story, wood frame Brent
House on Noblett Lane in Kilmarnock s an noteworthy example of a side-passage plan
dwelling from this period, Exhibiting the transition of styles at the commencement of the
Reconstruction period. the building has the square boxy plan of early talian Villas with late
Victorian orpamentation,

Figure 36 The James Brent House (249-3012)

Reconstruction and Growth Period (1866-1917}

Dhuring the Reconstruction and Growth Period. the number of residents profoundiv grew
from 3335 in 1%"3’5 to 8,949 residents in 1900, The growth and cig:”*iopm“z“i of the

Northern Neck, which paralleled that of the entire nation, be egat to feverishly expand
following the Civil War, Consequently. the last third of the 19" u,mary was marked by a
power struggle between architects, plan-book writers, builders. and social reformers, all of
whom tried t© gain control over the vast new middle-class housing market. At stake were
not only millions of new customers and the opportunity to make o fortune, but the ideals of
home and family and the chance to once again make single-family housing a standard for the
nation.
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Expanding on the Late Victorian trends that began in the Civil War Period (1860-1865), the
architecture of the Reconstruction and Growth Period in Virginia included more elaborate
detailing and intricate floor plans. With little attempt o be historically precise, the stylistic
detailing was freely adapted from both Medieval and classical precedents. Typical styles of
the period included the Second Empire, Stick, Queen Anne, Shingle, and Richardsonian
Romanesque, all of which often incorporated raditional elements from the Gothic Revival
and Halignate styvles. Many of the domestic structres of the Victorian-cra had brregular
plans, strong asymmetrical facades, and steeply pitched roofs. The plaps provided a
diversity not previously experienced with an emphases on humsn scale and domestic
comfort.

The greatest number of domestic resources identified in the survey - a total of sixty-ning ~
were constructed during the Reconstruction and Growth Period. Followed by a nominal
development spurt at the beginning of the 20" century, the majority of the dwellings dating
from this period, a total of thirnty-five resources, were erected between the vears of 1870 and
1889, During this period, the creation of transportation routes, the rise in seafood
production, and the development of community services such as water and sewer, caused an
influx in the population of Lancaster County during the latter part of the 19th century.

The dominant form and detailing in the survey area followed the Queen Anne style vath its
intersecting  gables, wrap-around porches, and projecting wall planes.  Interspersed
throughout the area were numerous examples of lalianate-, Gothic Revival-, and Colomal
Revival-stvle dwellings. Traditionally, the domestic buildings were two- 1o two-and-a-half-
stories in height with three bay wide fromt eniry porches.  OFf the siury-nine domestic
resources, a total of sixty-three have porches. The roof-lines are primarily side gable and
cross gable with select examples of the gambrel, hipped. cross hipped. and pyramidal roof
forms. The domination of the exterior end and interior end chimney ceased during this
pertod, with a total of five interior brick chimneys being identified.
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Figure 37: Bellows-Christopher House (851-0175)

One of the largest and most influential dwellings from this period is the Bellows-Christopher
House (031-0173) on Ocran Road.  As originally constructed in 1870-1883 by Captain
Jaseph Foster Bellows, the wood frame building has a steeply pitched side gable roof with
intersecting gables marking the two-story canted bays. The Queen Anne-style dwelling is
ornately detailed with a wrap-around porch. serolled bargeboard, fishscale shingles. colored
slate tiles laid in patterns. and corbeled interior brick chimneys. The Bellows-Christopher
House uitimately served as a model for three smaller, vet highly detsiled. Queen Anne
dwellings constructed by Captain Bellows for his children,  These include the Bellows-
Humphervs House (051-0171), the Willlam Lorenze Bellows House (051-0172). and the
Bellows House (051-0174).  Virmally identical. the buildings were constructed of
prefabricated materials produced in Baltimore and transported by steamboat 1o Lancaster
County. The buildings all have hipped roof with projecting front gables. two-story canted
bays, wrap-around porches. and corbeled interior brick chimneys,
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Figure 3% Willinm Lorenzo Bellows House {(851-8172)

Figure 3% Hellows-Humphreys House (8510171
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The raditional I-house retained its popularity during the latter part of the 19th century, being
styhistically detailed by applied ormament associated with fashionable trends.  The cross
gable. open pediment at the central bay of the side gable I-house form was one of the most
tfashionable trends in the county. often requiring property owners to add the component ©
extant side gable roofs. First appearing in the 1870s, the pediment was typically plerced by
a single double-hung window opening. The Fhouse form was also often enlarged by the
construction of one- to two-story ells that gave the building a T or L-shaped plan. Another
popular variation o the form was the enlargement of the front parlor by a two-story canted
or sguare bay.

s

Figure 40: Brewington (051-0184)
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Typically five bays wide and two bavs deep, the I- %33%,4‘%« huilding form has a central-passage
plan.  The use of the passage a5 3 sumumer hall had changed with the introduction of
numerous asymmetrically placed window openings and the wrap-around porch. Thus, the
hall was reduced i width and served as a usmsmmw hyphen that usually accommodated the
main stair. The Lhouse form continued into the early part of the 20th century, gaining
popularity in the suburban communities in the 1920s and 1930s with Crafisman-stvle
detailing rather than Late Victorian.

&

Figure 410 House, 6300 Block of Morattico Road (851-8164)

A modest domestic form that emerged at the turn of the 20th century was the Bungalow,
The form mimics the plan and massing traditionally assoctated wiziz the Queen Anne-style
with its wrapping porches, intersecting gables. and irregular plan; yet, the bungaloid form is

invariably one- to one-and-a-half-stories in height. Two excellent &,«\x}}%?ii«% of the bungaiod
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form were constructed during the Reconstruction and Growth Perlod utilizing Late Victorian
detailing -~ the house at 393 Riverside Drive (031-1162) and the house on Sage Hill Road
(051-0104)

Figure 42: Heuse, 392 Riverside Drive (35180162}

Waorld War I to World War [T Period (1917-7945}

During the World War [ to World War Il Period, the population of Lancaster County a8 &
whole remained constant despite the rapid development of suburban communities
throughout the Commonweaith, Federal and state government agencies began to expand and
sponsor public works programs that improved highways and constructed bridges that easily
tied the Northern Neck o the mainland,  Despite development and growth potental
however., the population of the county did not increase at o tremendous rate. Consegquently.
between 1917 and 1945, the construction of housing declined slightly. Although domestic
buiidings were being erected in Lancaster County during this period. only nine resources
were identified through this survey. It should be noted that four of the mine resources are
iocated in the Lancaster Court House Historic District,

Interestingly, this scarce sampling presents a variation in the structural system of domestic
buildings not previously experienced in Lancaster County with four of the nine resources
surveved béing constructed of brick, All nine of the buildings have side gable roofs with an
equal number of interior and exterior brick chimneys, Over half of the resources have wood
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frame porches. 1t was within this period that the only original porte cochere seen in the
survey area was identified - Kendall Hall (031-0201.

One of the most popular building forms of the early 20th century is the American Four-
square, commonly ornamented with Colonial Revival- and Crafisman-stvle detailing.
Carrving on traditional elements of the Late Victorian period, the Four-square Dobyn House
at 75 Bluffield Lane (051-0100) was constructed in 1927 by Raymond Dobyn. The building
is marked by paired double-hung windows and wrap-arcund porch, a component not usually
associated with the Four-square form.

Figure 43 Dobyn House (831-0100)
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The New Dominion Period (1945-present)

While Lancaster County’s population had remained refatively unchanged between 1850 and
1930, the Commonwealth of Virginia, and Lancaster County in particular, began to
experience a remendous population growth beginning in 1945, By 1953, the state had more
urban than rural dwellers, ranking fourteenth in population in the United States. Lancaster’s
strategic tocation along the Rappshannock River and the Chesapeake Bay marked it as a
logical site for development as a resort community. However, the rural nature of the county
continued despite the Hmited growth.

Today, much of the county consists of freestanding single-family dwellings historically
assoctated with large agricultural properties. With the subsequent subdivision of portions of
the vast farmland in the late 19th and early to mid-20th centuries, enclaves of residential
neighborhoods featuring single-family housing developed.  Typically. this development
remained fairly localized along major transportation routes,

Under the critenia established for this architectural survey, which directly follows the federal
and state government guidelines, no resources under the age of fifty vears were included in
the on-site survey. Thus, no domestic resources were documented in this survey that date
from the New Dominion Peried.
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HOTELS/INNS AND CAMPS

Five significant properties with domestic resources associated with hotels/inn and camps
were documented during the survey. By the 1890s, numerous steamboat lines from
Baltimore were making regular gtops in Lancaster County. In addition to providing an
important means of trade and personal travel for residents, this regular water-traffic brought
out-of-town visitors. The tourism prompted the establishment of several early hotels,
including the Eubanks Hotel (249-3006), the Irvington Beach Hotel and the White Stone
Beach Hotwel (051-0130),

The Irvington Beach Hotel was esiablished on the property of W. McDonald Lee and EW.
Long in 1892 in the village-proper. Believed 1o have been constructed on or near the site of
the first village hotel. the Old Carter’s Creek Wharf Hotel, the Irvington Beach Hotel was
originally constructed as a single-family dwelling prior to the Civil War. As the new village
hotel, it became the center of entertainment with vear-round visitors. By the tumn of the 20th
century, the hotel property underwent substantial changes with the construction of a dancing
pavilion, a barn, enlarged servants quarters and carriage sheds, a skating rink. and additional
esort cottages. The hotel and its adjacent cottages could then accommodate about fifty-
seven guests. By 1919, the main building at the Irvington Beach Hotel Resort was reduced
to function as an annex, as it was replaced by the New [rvington Beach Hotel that stood on
the site of two of the original resort cottages. The new hotel contained twentv-six bedrooms,
private baths, a large lobby, a dining room with seating capacity of one hundred guests, and
extensive verandahs, This wood frame building, however. was destroved by fire in Gctober
1930, The annex was then restored to 1ts original use as the main hotel building, serving the
community until it was razed in 1955
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Figure 44: White Stone Beach Hotel (05310138}

The White Stone Beach Hotel was constructed at the turn of the 20th century on a il
overlooking the White Stone Wharf, which was reconstructed following its devastation
during the Civil War, The large wood frame hotel, designed in the Queen Anne sivie,
accommodated twenty-five puests. Today, the hotel is the only extant resource historically

associated with the once-thriving White Stone Wharf, which included a store, a cannery. and
mumerous warchouses,

The improving road conditions between swrounding wharfs and the predominately
commercial ’“zima:a, of Kilmarnock brought interested visitors by the second decade of the
20th century. The ﬂz‘z\} Fubank Hotel {249-3006) was constructed in 1912 in the Second
Empire stvle of architecture by prominant local merchants, Gus and Will Eubank. The
imposing rectangular building served the erossroads community until the 1960s.

With the introduction of the auwtomobile came the public's fascination with touring. and
conveniont accommodations soon began to develop across zkz, country for this touring
public. The consiruction of additional roads and bridges connecting the Northern Neck with
the mainland in 1927 and. again in 1955, brought an overwhelming number of tourist and
weekend visitors to Lancaster County, The rural nature of the county suceessfully supported
roadside cahin camps or tourist camps. The number of roadside camps and motels along
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America’s highwavs increased from six hundred to more than forly thousand between the
late 19205 and 1950s.1%% the Leach and Sawdy Log Cottages (051-0116) on Cow Shed Road
in Millenbeck were constructed between 1925 and 1930 by Charles Leach and 5.W. Sawsy,
Constructed of log. the cabins were set in a group along the waterfront. The property was
one of the community’s most popular dance locations between the 1930s and 1960s,

Figure 45 Leach and Sawdy Log Cabios (051-0116)

Foreseeing Lancaster County’s tourist and resort opporiunities, Ann Lee and AL, Stephens
constructed the Tides Inn in Irvington. Construction began in the spring of 1946, with the
opening of fortv-six rooms on July 15, 1947, The Inon was constructed on the waterfront
property historically assoclated with the 130-acre Ashburn Farm, titlizing tocal crafismen
and indigenous materials. the Tides Inn stands today as one of the finest resorts in the east

COUs,

109 Mary Ann Beecher, “The Motel in Builder's Literature and Architectural Publications,” Roadside
America: The Awtomebile in Design and Culture, edied by Jan Jennings (Ames, lowa: fowa State
University Press for the Sociery for Commernial Archeslogy, 19900, po L3
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SECONDARY DOMESTIC STRUCTURES
Plantatinn-related Domestic Structures

Located in the oldest and most prominent plantation area which extended from the
Chesapeake Bay to northern Florida, Lancaster County was the site of numerous agricultural
estates of all sizes. The design of the plantation was largely an expression of the owner's
tastes, the crop being cultivated, and the number of slaves needed to run the estate.'t Even
though ownership of a lavish plantation estate was beyond the reach of most southerners,
planters of more modest means still tried 1o make thelr houses and gardens fashionable by
incorporating some formal qualities of design. The space surrounding the main dwellings of
these modest planters, however, suggested an obvious concern with workaday routine that
was relieved only slightly by a few omamental shrubs ¥4

Although once a prevalent building type associated with the Virginia plantation estates, no
examples of slave quarters or servants’ guarters were identified in the survey. The existence
of numerous slave quarters were identified at Midway (051-0013), Holyoak (051-0046) and
Melrose (051-0051). Resembling villages, the slave quarters were traditionally in a block
pattern with the buildings lined in rows. The dwellings were often located a considerable
distance from the main dwelling, thus allowing the slaves to create their own landscape. The
buildings were typically wood frame and one- to one-and-a-half-stories in height with wood
or brick chumneys.

L John Michael Viach, Back of the Big House: The Architecture of Plasiation Slavery, (Chapel Hill, N
The University of Nurth Caroling Press, 1993), pp. 1-6.
HT Viach, p 9

113 Viach, p. 135
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Although some overseers forged lasting associations with their employers, on the whole they
tended 1o be highly mobile, rarely staying in the same position for more than a year. An
overseer's paradoxical position as intermediary between a group of slaves and their cwner
was often reflected in the lavout of the plantation. 't The dwelling provided for the overseer
clearly stated his authority over the slaves as it was larger and usually positioned between
the main dwelling and the slave quarters. Lee Cove Cottage (051-0118), the only example
studied in the survey, is one-and-a-half-stories with a side gable roofl The building has a
hall/parlor plan that was subsequently enlarged when the manor house was destroved during
the Civil War and the overseer’s cottage served as the main dwelling.

Figure 461 Lee Cove Cottage (R31-B118)

114 ik, p. 135,
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Domestic Outbuildings

Summer Kitchens

Detached summer Kitchens are often associated with single-family dwellings as well as the
larger plantations and farms. The kitchens are generally one-story structures set away from
the house to confine fire danger and to remove heat from the main dwelling. In Lancaster
County, the detached kitchens are constructed of both brick and wood frame with end
chimneys of brick.

Of the seven detached kitchens identified in the survey, only the kitchen at Farmville (051-
0009 is historically associated with a larger plantation that has been listed on the National
Register of Historie Places. The actual on-site survey uncovered modest frame kitchens at
Frnon Hall (051-0214) and Holyoak (051-0046).  Constructed of wood frame. the
dependencies are set upon brick foundations. clad with beaded weatherboards. and covered
by side gable or gambrel roofs. Only the summer kitchen at Holyoak retains 1ts original
brick chimney laid in five-course American bond. This excellent example of the typical
one-room kitchen provides sleeping space in the upper haif-story with access from the
exterior only.

Figure 47 Summer Kitchen ot Holyoak (851-0046)
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Wood frame summer kitchens have also been identified at Locust Grove (051-0124), Kuk
Hall (0510044}, the Bellows-Christopher House (051-0175), and the farm on route 622
{051-0117). Historically a large Antebellum plantation, Melrose (053 1-0051) has the remains
of the only brick summer kitchen identified.

Figure 48: Summer Kilchen Remains at Melrose (0810851

smokehouses

The smokehouse was used for smoking meat. a process that preserved and enhanced the
flavor of the meat. The archetvpal smokehouse 1s a small, one-story rectangular masonry
structure with a gable roof. With the exception of the door and small air ventilators, there
usually are no other openings. The structures were common during the 19t century. but
improvemenis in refrigeration and custom packing of meat during the 20th centwy
ehiminated the need for them.
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Fourteen examples of the smokehouse were located in Lancaster County during the current
survey. Typically these were one-room frame structures with steeply pitched pyramidal
roofs.  Three excellent examples of smokehouses are located at Riverside {(051-0057),
Melrose (031-0051), and Midway (051-0015). The smokehouse at Riverside i3 set upon a
random coursed brick foundation. The pyramidal hipped roof. clad in asphalt shingles. has a
very steep pitch and is finished with a boxed comice. In contrast to the typical square form
is the rectangular smokehouse at Midway with its side gable roof.

Figure 497 Smokehouse at Riverside (B51-0057)
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Privy

The privy, or outhouse, was among the smallest 19th century cutbuildings. This narrow,
single room, rectangular frame structure normally has a gable roof and vertical board wall
treatment although oceasionally masonry privies were built.  Bince privies were standard
features before indoor plumbing, the structures are still found in both rural and urban
settings.

A total of eight privies were documented in the survey, six of which were of a histone
nature. Following the common shed roof form, the privy at Crescent Cove (031-0040) 5
clad with wood weatherboard, More typical for rural settings. the privies associated with the
Bishop Doggett House (051-0068), the house at 395 Riverside Drive (051-0162), and the
house on Route 354 (031-0107) are crudely constructed. The frame structures are made of
vertical wood boards supporting a flat roof,

In addition, the properties surveved contain numerous other types of domestic and
agricultural outbuildings. Other distinct types include greenhouses, guesthouses, kennels,
docks, wells, and well houses 118

115 sdditional discussions regarding outbuildings have been classified under the Subsistence/Agriculiure
Theme.
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THEME: EDUCATION
BESOURCE TYPES: Schools, Colleges, Libraries

During the architectural survey of Lancaster County, fourteen properties were identified that
hstorically or currently have associations with the Education Theme, OFf those documented.,
three were historically private schools and seven were constructed under the jurisdiction of
the Board of Education. Two of the public school buildings were erecied with funding
provided by the Julius Rosenwald Fund in the 1920s. The remaining four resources, all
focated within the Lancaster Court House National Register Historic District, are currently
serving as repositories for the Mary Ball Washington Memorial Museum and Library,

The oldest extant property that has historical association with education 1s Windsor Farm
(051-0060), the Antebellum homestead of cabinetmaker Hilkiah Ball. The large farm wasg
the site of the first boarding school in the county, although no further research has heen
discovered to substantiate the building’s use. The location of & building belicved © have
been the school is documented by the remnants of & foundation, sited to the north of the
main dwelling.

The most promunent ;}ri»"aiﬁ'schw? in Lancaster County was the Chesapeake Academy (051-
(1953, established as an elementary school in 1889, Classes were historically held in the
Old Chapel. also commonly known as Odd Fellows Hall, in Irvington. It began as a co-
educational institution. with Rete Hughlett and Ollie Pinckard as professors. Constructing a

Figure 50: Chesapeake Academy, 1908
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new facility on King Carter Drive in 1890, the Chesapeake Academy proved to be a thriving
private school, actively teaching students until 1907, Accor &imaz to a 1896 school catalog,

all students who could meet the fees were welcome, being accepted on talent and diligence

rather than on wealth or family background.''®  About %mi_i of the students were boarders,
originally living at private homes in the village and later in the girls” and bovs™ dormitories.
erected 1892 and 1903, respectively 117 During its peak vears, the private academy boasted
fifty to eighty students per session who met the high academic standards.

Figure 31 Chesapeaske Academy (851-019%)

The main school buillding of the Chesapeake .-'-‘s,czzdsm}f, like many of 15 neighbors,
originally displaved the influences of the Gothic Revival movement in architecture.
Although much altered over the vears, the front J*{’“;E&: roof with intersecting side gables, the
patred pointed arch windows on the second story of the fower. and the circular windows on
the third story of the tower remain, conveving the butldings ties to the Gothie Revival style
Early photographs show that the eastern tower is o later addition and alterations o the
western tower include the removal of the bell wrret and spire. The two-story gallery
originally had paired sguare posts with disgonad cross members and decorative sawn
brackets,

MO Cotalogue of the Chesapeake Male & Female Acadermy, frvingion,
7 Wilson, 101,
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The demise of the academy, however, stemmed from the establishment of public high
schools in neighboring communities.'® Between 1907 and the close of the 1915 school
year, the acadery building was utilized as the Irvington High School, while funding fora
new public school building was raised. Having educated over 4530 students, the school
building was renovated for use as a single-family dwelling. Eventmally, the building served
as the King Carter Inn. and later as the Hope and Glory Inn. Commemorating the original
school, a new private school known as the Chesapeake Academy opened in 1965 at the
corner of Steamboat Road and Tidewater Drive in Irvington,

With the start of the public school systemn in Lancaster County during the 1906-1907
session, the Board of Education was forced to construct appropriate school buildings,
Consequently a variety of modest buildings were constructed county-wide to serve the
slowly growing population,  Identified in the survey were the Qcran School {031-0223},
Weems School (051-0141), White Stone High School (051-0131), Lively School (031-
0096), and the New Mollusk School (051-0105). Surprisingly, all of these school are closed,
being replaced by larger consolidating facilities, and many of the original buildings are
vacant. :

The early school buildings are very similar in form, massing, stvle, and material to many of
the schools, libraries, and recreational facilities erected between 1933 and 1939 by the
Public Works Administration (PWA) Each of the buildings. predominately constructed of
brick. followed standardized plans that allowed for quick and inexpensive construction while
providing adequate classronm and administrative space. The unlization of a standardized
plan, although not necessarily one of the PWA, is particularly apparent when viewmng the
number of one-story brick schoo!l buildings dating from the 1920s through the 1940s that
mark the landscape of Lancaster County. In fact. because of the significant number of
similarly designed resources from this period, only a select few were surveyved.

One of the most stylistic examples identified was the Weems School, dating from between
1920 and 1935, The building has a cross plan covered by a cross gable roof with jerkinhead
clipped ends and overhanging eaves. The horizontal form of the brick building is contrasted
by the corbeled brick interior chimneys. Constructed in 1923, the White Stone High School
on Chesapeake Drive is similarly horizontal in massing with a cross plan. The effect of the
jerkinhenad seen at the Weems School is mimicked at the high school by the low-pitched hip
roof. Historical images of the building show the roof was capped by a octagonai-shaped
ventilator with semi~circular arched louvers, The main entry is marked by a three bay wide
projecting portico with semi-circular arched openings. The Lively School on Route 3.
supported by three freestanding classroom buildings. has the identical form and plan seen at
the high school,

138 Simmons, 87-97.
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Figure

572:
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Weems Schand (051-8141)

Figure 83 White Stone High School (05101313
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White Btane High Schaol, White 8

Figure 34: White Stone High School, ca. 1925 (051-0131)



Historic Architectural Survey Report of Lancaster County, YVirginia
Traceries with Historic Research & Plaoning Associates, 1997
Page 96

The most popular form seen in Lancaster County is exhibited in the square plan of the New
Mollusk School. dating from 1930 to 19435, The horizontal massing 15 contrasted by the
massive hip roof and interior brick chimnevs. The brick walls are pierced by ribbons of
elongated 6/6 double-hung, wood sash windows with a continuous sill. The double-leaf
entry is recessed within a semi-circular arched opening detailed with kevstones and splayed
brick lintels. This form was also identified, although not surveyed, at the Ottoman School
on Pavne’s Shop Road and the Mount Jean School at the intersection of routes 200 and 222,

Figure 38: New Mollusk School (85810105

In 1913, Sears. Roebuck and Company President Julius Rosenwald initated the largest
single program benefiting public schools for African Americans in the South since the
Reconstruction vears.  His private contributions and subsequent Julius Rosenwald Fund
Rural Schoo! Building Program galvanized rural communities desiring better schools. By
1928, one in every five rural schools for African American students in the BSouth was a
Rosenwald School.  Rosenwald schools housed one-third of the region’s rural African
American schoolchildren and teachers. At the program’s conclusion in 1932, Rosenwald's
financial atd had produced 4,977 new schools, 217 teachers” homes, and 163 shop buildings
in 883 counties of 15 states, representing a total investment of over 528 million in
contributions and tax revenues. Within the Commenwenith of Virginia, the Rosenwald
Fund was responsible for the construction of 232 schools.
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Figure 36 Lively Hunt Club (051-0234)

Two significant examples of school buildings identified in Lancaster County were
constructed with funding provided by Julius Rosenwald in the 1920s, the Lively Humt Club
(031-0234) and the Whip Poor Will Hunt Club (051-0132). Identical when completed in the
19205, the buildings have long rectangular plans with groups of double-bung windows and
separate entries for boys and girls. Ironically. both school buildings were relocated to their
present ocations and are presently utilized as huat chubs,

The Mary Ball Washington Memorial Museum and Library was onginally housed in the
Lancaster County Fail (051-0081-003), which was constructed in 1821, Vacated in 1938, the
historically significant building was given to the Womuan's Club of Lancaster County about
1940 for restoration.  After being stymied by World War 1l funding efforts for the
restoration project were prompted by the building’s future use as a repository for historic
county documents and artifacts. Named the Mary Ball Memorial Museum and Library in
honor of the mother of George Washington. the restoration was completed and the building
dedicated in Mav 1933, The organization was incorporated in 1938 o nclude a museum.
Hbrarv and gencalogy departments. later adding archaeology.
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Figure 57 Lancasier House (G51-0081-007}

Today. the Mary Ball Washington Memorial Museum and Library maintains numerous
butldings located in the Luncaster Court House National Register Historic Disuict In
addition w the jail, which serves as an archives, the Museum and Library mamtains

Lancaster House {(051-0081-007% the Old Posr Office (031-0081-008% and the Annex
Building (031-0081-016%

Lancaster House, constructed in circa 1798, is one of the few surviving examples of late
Federal-styvie domestic architecture in the county (one of eleven documented). 1t serves as
the main musewm, archives. and administration building for the Mary Ball Washington
Memorial Museun and Library. The Old Post Office. located adjacent to the Courthouse,
was constructed in circa 1850 by Harvey 8. Gresham as law offices and post otfice. It was
donated in 1986 to the Musewn and currently houses the Steuart-Blakemore Genealogy
Library., The wealth of materials purchased and donated to the Museum prompted the
construction of the Library Annex in cirea 1960, This one-story brick building is located
divectly across from the Old Clerk’s Office (051-0081-001), which was constructed in cirea
1745,
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THEME: RELIGION
RESBQURCE TYPES: Places of Worship and Church-related Residences

The reconnaissance survey of Lancaster County inspiringly revealed twenty-three properties
related to the Religion Theme. One of the properties - the Bishop Cyrus Doggett House
(03 1-0068) -- is a single dwelling which is not associated with a church property, but draws
its historical significance and association with the Religious theme through its original
owner.  The remainder of the properties are church buildings and parsonages, the
denominations of which include Baptist. Episcopal, Methodist, and Catholic. The cﬁda’sz nf
these congregations are Christ Church (051-0004) and Saint Mary's Whitechape! (03
0022, both of which were listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1966 smd
1969, respectively. Trinity Episcopal Church (051-0081-005) was constructed in 1884 and
15 located in the Lancaster Court House Historic Distrietn.

Interestingly, of the twenty-one churches, thirteen were erected during the 19th century. The
architectural influences include the Georglan, Greek Revival, Early Classical Revival, and
Queen Anne. with Gothic Revival dominating. Of particular note for their historical and/or
architectural significance arg Grace Church (249-3007), White Stone Baptist Church {051
01283, Norwood Baptist Church (051-0093), Asbury United Methodist f‘hurch (051-0157,
Corotoman Church (031-0108), and New St John's Baptist Church (249-0001), to name just
a fow.

Historic Christ Church has been referred to by architectural historians as “the most perfect
example of Colenial Church architecture now remaining in Virginia.™"Y With the exception
of some minor details, the building remains as originally designed in 1733, Funding for the
project was provided by Robert “King” Carter, whose famil: v had been historn "&%%
associated with the frst Christ Church, erected in circa 1668, The '{3 esent building wa
constructed near the site of 1668 church that was considered ourdated by the 1730s. With
the expense of the construction paid for by Carter. the cruciform hu;idmg Was CONSIrucie
with Flemish bond brick walls detailed with wm’uﬁ headers. The imposing cross hip roof
has a flare terminating over the elegamly ornamented cormice.

U9 Dawe, p. 3



Historic Architestural Survey Report of Lancaster County, Virginia
Trageries with Historle Research & Planning Assoclaies, 1987
Page 100

Figure 38 Historie Christ Church (431-00084)

With the American Revolution came the disestablishment of the Church of England in
Virginia. Some ministers returned to England, others fled to Canada, and many remained
toval to their new homeland. Some church buildings were severely pillaged. burned or sold:
church silver was also sold and all glebe furms confiscated. The courts, however.
determined that Christ Church belonged to the Carter family. rather than the Crown, and was
therefore. not subject to confiscation and sale. Yet, the congregation was disorganized and
the building soon deteriorated. Major restoration efforts began in 1958 with the organization
of the Foundation for Historic Christ Church. The restored church has been referred 1o as
“ .one of the nation’s great monuments of religion and architecture "% The building has
heen recognized as a National Historic Landmark.

Replacing the Sunday services historically held at Christ Church, Grace Chapel (249-3007)
was consecrated by Bishop Johns in 1852 and was the first church butlding erected in
Kilmarock, With the growth of the congregation under its own full-time rector, the original
church building was relocated back from Main Street and an arcade was added to connect
the parish hall and classrooms to the new sanctuary in 1959 The parish hall, known as

120 ponndation of Historic Christ Church,
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Grace House, was enlarged in 1988, thus creating an expansive church complex that
engulfed the original Grace Chapel building. The relationship between Grace Chapel and
Christ Church has continued with the Rector of Grace Church controlling services
performed at the historic landmark church,

willle.

Figure 5% Grace Chapel (249-5007)

As the village of Irvington grew. commercial and institutional buildings were constructed 1o
support the increasing population. In 1870, the Old Chapel was constructed for use by both
the Baptists and Methodists.  Enlarged shortly after e construction, the wood frame
building served as the first home to the village's public school, churches, the Chesapeake
Academy, the Independent Order of the Guod Templars, the Order of United American
Mechanics, and the Independent Order of Odd Fellows. 12!

121 Bimmons, 7778
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Outgrowing the Old Chapel building, the Irvington United Methodist Church (051-0192)
constructed its own building in 1886 on King Carter Road. Similarly, the Irvington Baptist
Church (051-0193) was erected on the opposite comer in 1891, Being constructed during
the same period, the two churches were stylistically impacted by the Gothic Revival style
with its pointed and lancet arches, towering spires, and cruciform plans with projecting entry
steeples. ‘

The Colonial Revival style Methodist Parsonage (051-0191) was constructed adjacent to the
Irvington United Methodist Church in 1903, This imposing L-shaped dwelling., now
functioning as a commercial store, is distinguished by its cross gambrel roof with clipped
jerkinhead ends, Designed by local businessman W. McDonald Lee, the parsonage was first
occupied by Reverend M, Anderson.

Of particular note is the Wharton Grove Campground (051-0087), established in 1853
during the height of religious meeting camp revivals, The complex, located along the banks
of the Corotoman River, originally consisted of forty acres improved by forty coltages, two
large dining halls, a stable | hotel, various meeting shelters, an eight-foot wide wharf, and
three-tiered tabemacle, Based on the remnants of the foundation and historic photographs,
the tabernacle stood ninetv feet square with a belfry, Significant for several reasons, the
campground was founded by Roman Cathelic John Palmer for interdenominational
meetings.  As an agent for the sale of this portion of the King Carter estate, Palmer
convinced Reverend F.W. Claybrook to establish a religivus meeting camp at the site.
Claybrook in turn interested Drv. M. Wharton, an evangelist. in the project. The result was
a ten-day meeting each summer from 1893 to 1927 with thousands of participants each year.
The final Sunday of the revival brought a 10,000 visitors, Currently there are eight Queen
Anne-style cottages. a circa 1950s log dwelling and a 300 foot dock.



Historic Architectural Survey Report of Lancaster County, Virginia
Traceries with Historic Research & Planning Associates, 1997
Page 103

THEME: COMMERCE/TRADE

RESOURCE TYPES: Professionsl, Organizational, and Financial Institutions; and Specialty
Stores

Although populated by the commercial and trade industry today, Lancaster County ares
historically was Hmited in the number of resources associated with the Commerce/Trade
theme. In the past, the early businesses in the county were generally associated with the
farm and agricultural industry. However, because the need for such indusiry was not within
the boundaries of the rural county, the products were transported to the neighboring port
cities. Small temporary commercial enterprises, such as retail stores and laverns, were
located along the major transportation routes, at small crossroads. or at the wharves 1o serve
the local residents. Many of these structures, however, did not survive the rapid growth and
construction that occurred during the 20th century, The best, and first, example of such a
commercial community was Queenstown (031-0030)

Figure 60: Conjectural Drawing of Queenstown (D51-0030) in 16905
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Queenstown, a port town on the northwest side of the mouth of the Corotoman River and the
northeast side of a estuary, afforded excellemt water access for shipping via the nearby
Rappahannock River and the Chesapeake Bay. The port town was established
compliance with a series of laws passed by the Virginia General Assembly in the late 1600s
in order to have control of the collection of duties on shipments in and out of the area.
Cueenstown’s fifty acres were laid out into half-acre lots by Harry Beverly, Surveyor,
allowing space for a church, streets, courthouse. jail, market place, storehouses, and other
community resources, The port town flonrished initially as the first seat of government for
Lancaster County, vet with the relocation of the courthouse in 1742, Queenstown began to
falter.  Today, all that remains of the once thriving communpity arg remnants of the
foundations, as the courthouse, fail, and many of the commercial establishments were razed
and the brick sold individually.

The on-site survey and historic context of Lancaster County revealed forty-six properties
related to the Commerce/Trade Theme. With the exception of Queenstown, these resources
fall into three categories - Banks, stores, and service stations.

Banks

Two banks were documented -- the Lancaster National Bank (051-0179) and the Farmer and
Merchants Bmzic and Trust (249-5004). The location of these financial instingions in
Irvington and Kilmarnock, respectively, exhibits the size and stablity of the communities at
the turn of the 20th century. The brick Lancaster National Bank was constructed in 1918,
replacing the 1900 wood frame building that had been destroy red by the devastating fire of
1917, The highly omate Classical Revival-style building pays homage o the original
building with the inscription “1900” in the tympanum. Continuing its commercial function,
the Lancaster National Bank building now operates as an art gallery.
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Figure 61 Farmer and Merchants Bank and Trust {249-5004)

Similariv. the Farmer and Merchants Bank and Trust is a brick building designed in the
Classical Revival style with a full-height portico supported by Corinthian columng,  The
building was constructed between 1915 and 1920 for the Farmer and Merchants Bank and
Trust, It was evemually occupied by the Bank of Lancaster and the current owners, the
American Standard osurance Company.

Though many of the original small stores have been replaced, a few examples of this
butlding tvpe remain, Many of these buildings, modest in scale and constructed of readily-
available materials, were located along country roads. at the wharves, and at crossroads such
as Irvingron. Kilmarnock, White Stone, and Lively, Approximately thirty-nine of the forty-
st resources associated with Commerce/Trade presently serve as stores. 1t should be noted
that historically eight were single dwellings, one was a fellowship hall (0510194}, one
functioned as a theater (249-3026), one served as o hotel (249-3006), and the last was a car
showroom (249-53021).

Of the purpose-built commercial facilities, the Hubbard Store (051 ~3121) in White Stone
one of the most recognized, Prominently sited at the intersection of routes 3 and 698, the
masonry building is constructed of rough cut concrete blocks. 1t is composed of four distinet
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storefronts, each marked by a different roof type. The original portion, constructed n 1915,
has a shallow stepped parapet which obscures the hip roof. This one-story store is flanked 1o
the south by a one-story 1920y store with a gable roof behind o distinetly different stepped
parapet. To the north 15 the L-shaped, two-story addition dating from the 19205, Covered
with a flas roof, the building turns the comer of the intersection at a 30 degree angle W
continue east along Route 3. This complex of commercial stores was constructed by Dr.
Hubbard, who erected his dwelling and medical clinic (051-0122) in the 18905 1o the west,

Figure 62: Habbard Store (351-8121)

Dating from the early to mid-20th century are the two Bernard Willing Stores (03 1-0204 and
051-0208), the Rappahannock Record Building (249-5020). the Northern Neck Mutual Fire
Association Building (051-0206). the Dobyn Store (051-0101), and the T.J. Haydon and Son
Store (031-0199). Collectively, the purpose-built commercial buildings of Lancaster County
mark the locations and periods of growth and development, particularly during the late 19th
and early 20th century. Although the original oceupants and functions of the buildings may
have changed. the commercial theme has remained constant,
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MErVICE Miations

In 1900, more than 8.000 cars were on the road nstionwide; just fifteen vears later the
number was well over twe million. In 1910, gasoline stations for roadside refueling were
Himited to bulk depots, but an organized system of retsil gasoline outlets had not vet been
formed. “To maximize quick profit return and realize low intiial expenditures, the gasolne-
producing oil companies inifiated a crash campaign to secure existing businesses as new

outlets to sell their gasoline to the public..soon this glut of gasoline could be purchased
virtually anvwhere along urban taxpayer strips, citv streets, or country roadsides. ™3 Even
though there were approximately 15.000 gas stations operating nationwide in 1920, most
buildings were quite primitive. Serving the needs of the community, the modest butldings

tvpically provided a limited selection of groceries.

Four examples of this form of building type were identified along crossroads and country
roads ~- the Otoman Gas Station (051-0114), the Store on Weems Road (051-01433 the
Morattico Store (051-0166), and the Bellows and Squires Company Store (051-0178).

Figure 63: Morattico Store (051-0168)

22 Michael Barl Wizel, The dmerican Gas Sration (Oscenls, W1 Motorbooks International Publishers &
Wholesalers, 1992), pp. 29 and 29,
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THEME: INDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTION
RESOURCE TYPES; Mills; Factories; and Shipyards

Following the devastation of the Civil War and the lack of plantation workers, Lancaster
County began to actively pursue alternative methods to achicve economic stability, Cne of
the major mainstays of the Northern Neck during this period was the seafood industry with
processing and canning, wharves and boatyards, fishing, and ovstering. Of the twelve
related properties surveved, eight seafood-related industrial and processing properties wers
identified. All of the properties are particularly worthy of mention, as their original seafood-
refated functions have been terminated and the number of extant resources is quickly
diminishing,

Although not extant, a canning and processing facility was located at Spring Hill Farm on
Route 604 (051-0024) in the latter part of the 19th century. While the approximate location
adjacent to the ferry wharf 13 known, the form and materials of the buildings are not. Extant
examples of canning and processing facilities documented in the survey include the Tafi
Fish Company (051-0123), ROV Seafood (051-0215), Irvington Packing Company (031~
(3229, Doggett Brothers” Seafood (051-0230), and the &z?m&mmk Fire Station {249-5003),
These facilities are typically identifiable by there close proximity to the water, along an miet
or at the tip of a peninsula.

The Taft Fish Company, located on Route 638 in Taft, was founded in 1912 by Dr. BH.B.
Hubbard and W.T, James of White Stone. Once organized, the company consisted of two
boats. each named in honor of the founders. Unfortunately, the Taft Fish Company was
frequently troubled with disastrous vears. Taft's operated until 1927, when Dr. Hubbard
formed a partnership with Walter Mer{:e:r This merger, however, did not help the company,

which was relatively idle until 1933, Eventually reopened, the plant was purchased in '1%@
by J. Howard Smith, Inc,, one of tha largest menhaden processors in the United States. '
The plant, which today z,(msms of eleven resources, closed in 1945, Many of the original
processing buildings were severely destroyed by fire in 1973,

The Dameron Seafood facility was constructed sometime between 1930 and 1960 on Weems
Road. Composed today of five historic buildings, the property was owned by WA
Dameron and Brother, who operated ovster houses along the docks of Weems Wharf i the
late 19th century. With the destruction of the wharf in 1933 by a severe storm. the
Damerons constructed the present facility for their seafood canning and processing plant
Still owned by the family, the property was leased to the Cornwell Seafood Company and
eventually 1o current occupant, Tides Boat Works,

* Menhaden is a sea fish of the herring family that is commonly found along the Atlantic coast from New
England south. 1t is often used for bait or in the processing of ofls and fertilizers.
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Figure 6:d: ROV Seafood (0510215

Of particudar note 1 the Kilmarnock Fire Station, which historically functioned as o canning
factory. Erected in 1936, the rough cut concrete block building was built on the site of
wum of the 20th century factory. The bullding™s location in Kilmarnock, a great distance
from the water and other canning and processing plants. seems to have led to the demise of
the factory. After 15 abandonment. the building began to serve as the local fire station and
was therefore modified with a brick facade and Colonial Revival-style detailing,

Although not directly associated with seafood and the processing, the Rappahannock Maring
Ratlway was erected in-1890-1910, g period durning which the industry was at s apex.
Composed of thirteen resources, only four of which are historic, the marine ratlway complex
was instrumental in the production of fishing steaomers.  The industry was particularly
lucrative during the milway’s association with the Bellow & Bquires Seafood Company in
the 1210s and 1920s. The property was later known as Brustar's Ratlway, Humphrey's
Railway, and finallv, AMPRO Shipyard Company.

Before the ares began to rely heavily on the seafvod industry for economic security, the
region’s primary industrial focus was the processing of agricultural produce and feed. A
commaon necessity for grinding grains, mills were constructed along ponds and rivers
throughout Lancaster County in the 18th and 19th centuries, The location of mills had o he
approved by the courts, which often condemned land for the purpose of constructing public
mills, The Edgehill Roller Mill (051-0232), Ball's Mill {razed 051-0072), and the Lancaster
Roller Mill (051-0052) were all documented during the survey.
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One of the county’s most recognized industry/processing landmarks. the Lancaster County
Roller Mill was the oldest mill in operation in Lancaster County at the time of its closure in
1972, The present building is believed o have been constructed by George Kamps and his
partmer, . Carter. in 1845, and stands as the oldest extant mill in Lancaster County. The mill
was powercd by the water from the adjacent Carter’s Mill Pond, grinding wheat and com
into flour, meal and amimal feed. The mill was onginally known as the Kamps and Carter’s
Mill, being commeonly referred to a3 the Lancaster Roller Mill, Historie fetterbooks and
inventories docuwment that the pond and mill take their name from the Carter’s Great Mill. a
muill operating n this location under the direction of “King™ Carter,

Figure 65 Interior of the Lancaster Roller Mill (881-0082)
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THEME: SUBSISTENCE/AGRICULTURE
RESOURCE TYPES: Farmsieads; Agricaltaral Fields, and Animal Facilities

Historically, farming and agriculture have been one of the most mmportant mdustries in
Lancaster County, second only o the seafbod industry.  Lancaster County’s climatic
conditions, as well as the ample rainfall, sllowed for a long growing season. extending seven
to eight months of the vear. The soil varies from a red-clay suitable for raising wheat, o a
sand-clay for general farming, to the rich soil along the rivers that proved superb tor tobacco
cultivation. According to an article published in 1881 on tobaces production in Virginia. the
Commonwealth ranked second in the United States in the production. acreage, and total
value of tobacco. i

The agricultural production in Lancaster County played a significant role in defining s
character through a wide variety of agricultural-related %uiiéiﬂgs, The most common
agricultural buildings surveyed in the county included sheds (117 identified) and barns (28
identified). Because of the growth and development within ‘-:ha, county, the number {}f farm
buildings is limited, vet. fifiy-three properties were documenied during the survey that
historically and/or currently have an assoclation with the Subsistence/Agriculiure T eme.
Lancaster County has several excellent examples of Antebellum agricultural structures,

Comerib

The term cornerib historically referred to a square or rectangular pen formed by interlocking
logs within a larger barn structure.  Over time. the definition has come to mean any
freestanding structure used 1o store corn, whether log or not. Thus. the {:a"m:ri?w were also
constructed of timber frame. lumber, masonry. metal, and steel-wire. As the general design
of this freestanding cornerth has not changed substantially over tme. assi ,,:mub dates 1o the
structures proves to be rather difficult. According to Allen G. Noble. the precise origin of
the cornerib as a separate structure has not been clearly esiablished. One theory is that the
type was derived from a simple shelter built by American Indians *2* In the colonial period,
corn production was Himited, and the com could be quickly harvested and stored 1o 2 corner
of the barn. As farm sizes grew, farmers and planters began to gather the cut corn stalks in
vertical stacks in the tieiai, leaving them throughout the winter. By the 19th century. the
need for corn feed for livestock prompted husking to be done in the flelds when harvested.
All unhusked corn was then taken to a barn, stripped. and then loaded into freestanding
corneribs, Being newly harvested, the corn was moist, and the crihs needed 1o allow for
slow, steady drying in order to reduce mold and mildew. To accomplish this. the crib had
possess certain basic design features which can often be used to classily the structure during
survevs. First, the walls must contain a high proportion of open area, usually attained by

H

124 “Tobagco Production i Yirginia in 1879 The Virginias, 4 Mining. indistricl, and Sciersific Journal,
{September 1881), p. 140,

125 sllen G, Noble, Woud, Brick, and Stane. Volume 2. Barns and Form Strucrures (Amberst, MAD The
Lintversity of Massachusetts Press, 1984}, p. 103,
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widely spacing narrow wood alats, Second, the structure must be narrow in order to ensure
adequate circulation of air, Traditionally, "the narrower the crib, the freer the movement of
wind through the corn, and the greater the likelihood of successful natural drying. The
proper width of an ordinary crib in g particular locality depends on the date at which com
normally matures and on the prevailing weather conditions during the first eight months of
storage. Amonyg the weather factors that should be considerad are humidity, temperature. and
amount of sunshine and wind."%¢ The walls of some corneribs were constructed to slant
sutward toward the top, thus providing maximum protection from the weather and practical
for the unloading. The openings usually included a man-sized door located in the gable end
as well as a series of smaller doors located at the base of the walls for unloading. The
designs usually included an overhanging skirt or other such device for reducing pillaging by
rodents.

Figure 66: Corneril at Crescent Cove (0510041

The survey inciuded the identification of five corneribs, all of which were determined to be
historic. These include the front gable wood frame comeribs at Crescent Cove (031-0048,
Bondfield (051-0133), Melrose (051-0031), and the house at 1369 Ottoman Ferry Road
(031-0109). The corncrib at Holyoak (051-0046), is known as a drive-in pornerib, which
originated in the Middle Atantic states and is found predominately in the Shenandoakh
vallev, The driveway was used to store machinery. and loft space over the driveway served
as a granary for small grains,

126 Nohle, p. 106
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Dairy Bams and Hav Bams

Generally identified by their relatively large size and distinctive shapes, carly 20th century
dairy barns are often long, two-story frame buildings with gambrel roofs and hay hoods.
Rows of small window openings providing natural interior lighting can be found at the first
story on the long clevations. The interior spaces of the dairy barns are arranged o
accommodate rows of fivestock on the first floor and hay storage above. The large loft
created by the gambrel roofl provides maximum storage area for hay and feed for the dairy
herds. Hay barns are often identical in exterior form, but generally do not provide the
interior partitioning for the dairy cattle on the first floor. Varnations of the hay barn form are
smaller frame butldings constructed with less detail in an inferior fashion.

A total of twentv-nine barns of varving size and shape were documented m the survey.
twenty of which were determined to be historie. The only example of a dairy farm complex
with notable dairy barns is Bondfield (051-0135) The dairy bam. dating to the mid-19th
century, 15 an impressive example with its one-story, one-bay square plan,

Several examples of barns were surveved throughout the county. Notable examples include
Melrose (051-0051), Oakley (051-0020), Lancaster County House (051-0081-007). Public

View {(151-0139), Holly Farm (051-0136), and Retirement (051-0148). Typically clad in
woad weatherboard. set either vertically or horizontally. the barns documented in the suney
have gambrel and gable roofs with a variety of roof extensions.  In several instances. the
construction materials visible on the interior of the barns were marked with Roman

numerals.
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Figure 67: Barn at Midway (0310815}

Twao of the most sutstanding examples of barns in Lancaster County are located at Midway
{051-0015) and Ring Farm {031-0169). Believed to be a tobacco barn. the wood frame
structure al Midway 15 constructed of hand-hewn logs with pegs and Roman numerals.
Divided into three distinct pens on the first story, the building is largely open on the intenior
with a quarter-tum stair at the center, Dating from the mid- 1o late 19th century. it i3
svmmetrically marked on all four elevations by narrow single entry openings and window
openings with louvers. One-story drive-in cribs with shed roofs have been added to the side
elevations. The two-and-a-half-story structure is clad with weatherboard. set upon a rubble
stone foundation with a massive log aill. The steep, imposing side gable roof ts sheathed
with standing seam metal and edged with a boxed cornice.

fox
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Figure 68: Barn at Ring Farm (051-016%)

Fgually as imposing is the two-and-a-half~story wood frame barn at Ring Farm. Dating
from the latter half of the 19th century, the structure is clad with crudely set weatherboard
with post-and-beam construction. The form of the building suggests a transverse of tour-
crib barn with drive-in center aisies. Openings are limited to single-leal and double-wide
entries and modest window openings with no sash or coverings. The imposing gable rooal is
shallow in pitch and sheathed with metal sheets. The structure is imited in ornament. save
the ventilating cupola composed of wood frame with Jouvers, The cupola 15 capped by a
prominent hip roof with a steep pitch and lighting rod.

Animal Shelters and Pouliry Shelters

Another tvpe of bam. specifically stables and animal shelters, are common among the active
agricultural farms of Lancaster County. Providing open shelter for livestock, animal shelters
were documented twice in the survey. With a rectangular form, the shelters were enclosed
by wood frame on three sides and covered by shed roofs. Poultry shelters, used 10 huuse
hens, were identified seven times in the survey, all of which were determined to be historic,
The buildings are typically one-story. being constructed of wood frame with horizontal
wood boards capped by a shed or gable roof. Examples noted included those associated
with the house on Route 354 (031-0107), the house at 1369 Otioman Ferry Road (051~
01093, Waterview Farm (051-0111), the farm on Route 622 {051-0117), Burke’s Place {51
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Figure 70 Dutbuildings at Epping Forest (031-8008)

Sheds

Many of the properties surveyed included sheds {117 were identified). which served a
myriad of uses. They generally are constructed of wood frame covered by gable or shed
roots. The shed is typically one-story with a square or rectangular form set directly on the
ground.  Of the 117 documented. only fifty-three were determined to be historically
associated with the properties.

Wash Houses

As documented in dn Age of Borns by Erie Sloane. the wash house was a secondary
outbuilding used for the purpose of laundering. One-story in height, the typical wash houses
of Virginia had rectangular plans with front gable roofs.  Although the foundation plan
suggested a three bay deep structure, the buildings were just two bays deep with a covered
"eut-away” porch.'?? Three such structures were identified in Lancaster County. ldentical in
form and materials, the wash houses at Qcran Farm (051-0176), the house on Harpers Creek
(051-0158), and the house on Pimas Cove (051-0120) are one-story in height with
weatherboard cladding, The wash houses at Ocran Fanm and the house on Harpers Creek are
detailed with scrolled brackets, mimicking the Queen Anne-style of the main dwelling
houses.

27 Bric Bloane, 4n Adge of Barrs {Washington, DC: Funk and Wagnalls Publishing Company, Inc. For the
Amerean Musewrn of Maroral History, 19673, p. 60,
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Fizure 71 Drawing of a Virginia Wash House, constructed in 1348 (Sleans, p. FHIRES

Figure 72 Wash House at Ocran Farm (0516178}

1728 Sloane, p. 6L
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One of the most notable single examples documented during the survey was brick laundry
house ot Melrpse (051-0051). The detailing. construction material, and size of the laundry
house clearly displavs the pre-Civil War size and siatus of the Antebellum plantation. 1t has
a steeply pitched side gable roof. an interior end brick chimney, a corbeled brick comice.
and jack-arched lintels, The siting of the domestic outbuildings mimicked the rigid
symmetrical plan established in the Federal-styie manor house; thus, the brick laundry was
palanced by the identically detailed, although now ruined. summer Kitchen,

Figure 73 Laundry House at Melrose (8518851}

fce House

Unlike many outhuildings., the ice house was not characterized by distinctive or peculiar
architecture. thus. the farmer could express himself freely. Consequently. the ice house was
often the fanciest building on the property, save the main dwelling. The buildings were
typically rectangular and of frame construction simply hecause this form and method of
construction were cheapest and most convenient. Occasionally, the bulldings were made of
brick or stone. and sometimes a round form was emploved. Most were [reestanding, and
many were partially or wholly excavaied pits lined with mortar or stone. Providing
insulation to guarantes preservation of the ive, the ice house had thick walls of
nonconducting material. Roof ventilators drew off excess warn air, while the roof itsell was
often covered with hay, straw, or some other insulating material.
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The only example of an ice house documented in the survey was found at Epping Forest
{051-0008). Dating from the late 19th century, the round ice house is constructed of
handmade header bricks surrounded by a wood frame structure that provides additional
insulation. The structure measures fifteen diameters with a brick foundation, wood shingle
gable roof, and cupola.  Architectural detailing lent itself well to the ventilating cupola,
omamented with louvers, Tuscan pilasters, and a hipped roof,
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THEME: ETHNICITY/IMMIGRATION
RESOURCE TYPES: Properties that exemplify the ethos of immigrant or ethuic groups

The reconnaissance survey of Lancaster County revealed only three resources related 1o the
Ethnicity/Tommigration theme within the survey area. The Levi Ball House and Cemetery
{051-0149) 15 recognized for its direct association with African-American Reverend Ball and
his contribution to the religious and educational institutions throughout the Northern Neck,
The remaining two resources, the White Stone Odd Fellows Lodge (051-0126) and New 5t
Tohm's Baptist Church (249-00013, exemplify the vernacular architecture associated with the
African-Amertcan eulture n Lancaster County by the mun of the 20th century.

Figure 74 Reverend Levi Ball House (051-014%)

The Levi Ball House on Good Luck Road was constructed in the last quarter of the 19tk
century, The original portion of the structure was one story in height with a steeply piiched
side pable roof. By the latter part of the century, the modest wood frame dwelling was
substantiaily enlarged by the construction of a two-story addition on the south elevation. The
property was the home of African-American Reverend Levi Reese Ball, D.D. (1854-1917),
Ball was bomn to [srael Ball and Roxanna Flint, both slaves, near Burgess Stone, Virginia in
1834, Afer the Civil War and Emancipation. Ball relocated 1o Washington, D.C. to study af
Howard University, receiving his diploma in 1880, Returning to Lancaster County, Ball
presided over the Shiloh Church, becoming the first seminary-trained minister to serve an
African-American church in the Northern Neck. In 1892, Ball founded the Calvary Baptist
Church near Kilmarnock and served as its pastor for about ten vears. For seventeen years,
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he was the moderator of the Morthern Neck Baptist Association, a position that made Ball a
spokesperson for the entire region. Reverend Ball also taught in the public school of
Lancaster County and Northumberland County,  Recogmizing the need for vocational
education, Ball was the motivating force behind the Northern Neck Industrial Academy at
Ivonsdale. Reverend Ball died in 1517 and was interred in the small family cemetery
tocated to the southeast of his dwelling, In recognition of Ball’s service 1o Lancaster County
and its religious and educational institutions, the property was designated as a local
landmark in 1982,

Erected at the turn of the 20th century, the White Stone Odd Fellows Lodge 15 located east
of the intersection of James Wharf Lane and Newtown Read. The severely deteriorated
wood frame building was erected originally as a church and meeting hall, It is omately
detatled with Gothic Revival style trim and single room plan. 1ts location in this part of
White Stone, directly across from the site of the AT, Wright School, leads one 1o believe the
lodge histortcally had African American tes.

New 5t John's Baptist Church along Route 3 was erected in 1923 to replace the first (Old)
St fohns Baptist Church, constructed in 1873 on Calvary Road (Route 1036} The site of
this building, erected with timber from the original White Stone United Methodist Church, is
presently marked by the cemetery. With the loss of the original 1873 church in 1910, the
religious institution was relocated 1o its present site on Route 3. This church building was
destroved by fire in 1922, being replaced by the present Gothic Revival style building the
following vear. The cemetery, set to the east of the church, was created in 1957,
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THEME: FUMEBARY
RESQOURCE TYPES: Cemeteries and Graves

Twenty-four resources associated with the Funerary Theme were identified during the
survey of Lancaster County. Of those documented, sixteen of the cemeteries are directly
associated with religious institutions, The remaining cight properties are family cemeteries,
a common type of funerary internment in roral communities,

Cemeteries Associated with Belioious Institutions

Of the twenty-two historic churches included in the survey of Lancaster County, sixteen
have associated cemeteries. One of the most significant properties associated with this
theme that has historic tes 1o religious institutions is Christ Church (031-0004). The first
Christ Church was erected in circa 1668, although the vestry books note the formation of the
congregation in September. 1665, Burials took place in the modest church vard as early as
1668, By 1730, Robert “King” Carter proposed the construction of a new Christ Church at
its present location. Financially responsible for the construction of the church building in
1735, "King” Carter and his family were buried at the site. Christ Church and its cemetery
were listed on the Mational Register of Historic Places in 1968,

Religious cemeteries tend to be small in scale and modest in plan. Families are grouped
closely together in assigned plots, which commonly have been arranged in rows sited
directly behind or adjacent to the church buildings. One of the largest examples of this type
of cemetery accentuates the Morattico Baptist Church (031-0066).  The cemetery was
established in 1848, cight vears prior to the construction of the present church building.
Currently a functioning cemeterv with hundreds of markers, the oldest gravestone was laid
in 1848 with the reinternment of Reverend Lewis Lundsford (1753-1793),

The smallest cemeteries in terms of the number of grave markers are both historically
associated with the same congregation. St. John's Baptist Church.  The congregation
relocated from their original site on Calvary Read in 1910 to a new church building on
Route 3. The property, no longer occupied by the church building, was utilized as a
cemetery by 1929 (051-0228), Although the rural cemetery continues to serve the Baptist
Church. a second graveyard was established adjacent to the New St. John's Church {249-
O001Y in 1957, Both cemeteries presently contain less than fifty markers,
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The Norwood Baptist Cemetery (051-0003) is an excellent example of a late 19th century
graveyard accentuating an adjacent church.  An offspring of the Lebanon Baptist Church
(031-0059), the Norwood Baptist Church was established in 1887, The cemetery, dating
from 1896, contains over fifty granite markers, ranging in shape and size.

Figure 75 Norwood Baptist Chureh and Cemetery (0510093}
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Noted for its artistic merit i the large cemetery historically associated with the now ruinous
Edgley Methodist Episcopal Church (051-0235).  This cemetery serves as the only
monument to the church, erected in 1888, The cemetery is marked by Late Victorian-era
wrought fencing and small family plots. The oldest marker noted in the currently operating
cemetery denotes the bunal site of Nellie ¥, Talley (1873-1893).

Figure 76: Edgely Cemetery (831-0233)

Foamily Cemeteries

The dispersed settlement patterns of the Middle Atlantic region and the South often made
the custom of churchyard burials impractical for all but those living close to the churches.
As extensive plantations were established to facilitate the production of large scale cash
crops such as tobacco, several factors often made burial in a churchyard problematical. As
towns were located far apart, geographically large parishes were often served by only a
single church, and transportation was difficult.  The distance of family plantations from
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churches necessitated alternative locations for cemeteries, which took the form of family
cermeteries on the plantation grounds. Usually established on a high, well-drained point of
iand, the family plots were often surrounded by a fence or wall. Although initally dictated
by settlement patterns, plantation burials became the tradition once the precedent was set.
Along with the variety of dependencies. agricultural lands, and other features, family
cemeteries help illustrate the degree of self-sufficiency sustained by many of these
plantations 128

The oldest example of the family cemetery revealed during the survev of Lancaster County
was found at Windsor Farm (051-0060), although this has been determined not to be the
oldest family cemetery in the county.  Although presently obscured by vegetation at the

enter uf an agricultural field, the gravestone of Hilkiah Ball and his family is located to the
north of the dwelling house, Likewise, a family cemetery s located in a fenced plot at the
edge of the woods hehind the house at Flowering Fields (031-0200).  This family plm
contains less than ten grave markers. the oldest denoting the burial site of William E.
Flowers (1818-1882).  Other early extant family cemeteries documented in Lancaster
County are found at Holyoak (051-0046), Epping Forest (051-0008), and one located within
the Lancaster Court House Historie District, behind the post office (051-0081-008).

Figure 77: Flowering Fields Cemetery (0510200}

128 Elisabeth Walton Potter and Reth M. Boland, Nuticnal Register Bulletin 41 Guldelines for Evaluating und
Registering Comereries and Burind Ploves {Washington, D070 MNationa! Park Service, Interagency Resvuross
Pivision, 19923, p. 4.
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THEME: GOVERNMENT/LAW/POLITICAL
RESOURCE TYPES: Public Administrative and Service Buildings

Although the governmental context of Lancaster County extends back as far as iis founding
in 1651, only those resources {fourteen were swveyed) associated with the county in the
middle part of the 18th through to the early 20th century survive, During the 346 vears of
the county’s existence. the Lancaster County government has erected and occupied four
separate courthouse buildings on four different sites, The fourth and final Lancaster County
Courthouse building (051-0081-002), located on Mary Ball Road, was constructed in 1860
and stands as the final courthouse to be erected in the Commonwealth of Virginia prior
the Civil War, Oniginally was modest in detailing, the building was constructed by Edward
(3. Robinson for the sum of $5.400. It was significantly altered by the constructed of the
two-story pedimented portico and flanking wings in 1937,

Figure 78: Lancaster County Courthouse (D31-0081-002)
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Also directly associated with the historic government of the county are the County Jail (051-
Q0R1-003y and the Clerk’s Office (051-0081-001) within the present courthouse green,
Dating from the middle part of the 18th century, the buildings are the only extant remnants
of the third courthouse complex that served Lancaster County from 1741 until 1861 when
the courts were moved to the new courthouse on Mary Ball Road. Erected in three sections
heginning in circa 1741, the County Jail is a rare surviving example of this type of civic
structure in Tidewater Virginia, Its form reflects the dominant stylistic and formal attributes
of colonial jails, a two-story Flemish bond brick building with minimal detailing. The jail
continued to serve the county until 1937, when it was first utilized by the Mary Ball
Memeortal Library and Museum,

Figure 79 Laucaster County Jail (881-0881-012)
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The Clerk’s Office, erected circa 1745, is a handsome one-story brick building, laid in
Flemish bond with glazed headers. A rare example of this building type, the Clerk’s Office
is one of the few mid-18th century brick buildings in Virginia to serve in this governmental
capacity. Historically, county records were archived in the home of the present clerk. By
1792, the Commonwealth required that the records be stored in flreproof buildings
constructed by the local government. However, any existing clerk’s offices constructed of
wood frame prior to 1792 were excluded from this legislative requirement.  Written
documentation and physical evidence disputes the circa 1745 date of construction, noting the
fireproof building was erected in 1797, after the legislation was enacted.

Figure 38: Lancaster County Clerk's Office (031-0081.001)

The Old Post Office (031-0081-008), located within the Lancaster Court House Historie
District. is the oldest of six postal facilities identified in the survey. The one-story wood
frame post office is one of the oldest extant commercial buildings in the county, The front
gable building, constructed in circa 1850, was erected for Harvey 8. Gresham as taw offices.
CGresham, who served as postmaster from July 22, 1897 to March 15, 1936, operated a post
office from the building. It continued to serve in this capacity until 1956 despite the
retirement of Gresham,
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The other buildings identified in the survey that served as post offices include the Regina
Post Office (051-0223), the Kilmamock Post Office along South Main Strect (24923014,
the Irvinglon Post f}izw on Steamboat Road (031-0205), the Edgehill Roller Mill near

Somers (051-0232), and the Weems Post Otfice (051-0231),

Figure 81 L5, Post Office, Irvington (051.0205)

Also worthy of mention for their significant con mbuiwn to their governmental support of
Lancaster County are the Windmill Point Light (051-0071), the milmarnock Fire Station
(249500 5,, and the Irvington Town Hall and L 1%&"&{" {éf -31703.
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THEME: HEALTH CARE/MEDICINE
BESOURCE TYPES: Clinie and Medicn! Business

Although there have been several well established medical doctors and clinies in Lancaster
County over the years, only one property was wentified during the survey that had historical
association to the Health Care/Medicine Theme - The Dr. BH.B. Hubbard House (051
0122 Located at the bustling crossroads intersection of routes 3 and 695 in White Stone.
the property consists of four freestanding buildings, two of which served as medical clinics,
Dy, Hubbard (1873-1940) was a prominent local resident of the county, graduating from the

University of Marviand in 1894 at the age of twenty-one.

The first clinic. or medical office, used by Dr. Hubbard dates from 1895, 1tis located at the
western comer of the property. sited to the rear of the main dwelling., The two-story wood
frame building has a front gable roof] not actally a conunon form in late 19" century
Lancaster County, MNow used as an office with residential space on the second floor. the
building 15 two bays wide and three bavs deep,

Figare 82: First of Dr. Hubbard's Medical Offlces (8581-8122)
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Figure 83 Seeond of D Hubbard’s Medies! Offices (8310122}

To the north of the 1895 medical office is the second building used by Dr. Hubbuard as 2
medical elinie. Appropriately sited along Route 693, the one-story butlding dates from the
furn of the ;”z.,,m cemtury. 1t is construcied of an oversized ceramic brick with square brick
posts supporting the {ront gable roof and enclosed pediment. This r\{i%ié%zig was one of the
first fireproot structures in the White Stone area, C omposed of three rooms. the building
contained a waiting room. a general office, and examining room. Oral history tells that the
waiting room was litle used. as the general office was located at the front of the building
affording Dr. Hubbard the opportunity to greet and assist patients first hand.
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THEME: MILITARY/DEFENEE
RESOURCE TYPES: Fortifications and Battle Siles

The Military/Defense Theme relates to the system of defending the territory and sovergignty,
encompassing all military activities, battles, strategic locations, and events important in
military history, Within in this context, only eight properties were identified in the survey of
Lancaster County.  These include a number of archeological sites that require further
documentation. such as the Millenbeck 3ite (051-0029), the Fort Site (051-0033), Musketice
Pomt Farm (1510053}, and Pop Castle (051-0075). ?‘sff{_uskfzttuc Pownt Farm and Pop Castle
were hoth the site of naval military activity during the War of 1812, Associated with the
Civil War are Ureenfield (051-0083) and the Confederate Soldiers Monument in the
Lancaster Court House National Register Historic Diswgict (051-0081-004).  The final
fe. although one of the more interesting defense sites documented in Lancaster

exampie.
County, is the 19405 bomb sheber at Crescent Cove (051-0040%

During the Revolutionary War and the War of 18120 Lancaster County saw limited physical
desiruction, Yet, the geographical location of the county proved to be a vital position during
the Civil War, bordered on the north by the Poromac: within close proximity o both
Washington, DO and Richmond: accessible by the Chesapeake Bay; and bounded by the
otficially newral state of Marviand,  Virginia secessionists, often licensed as Marviand
merchants and plasters, purchased ammunition and arms, food, and all form of supplies
Baltimore and Philadelphia on the pretense of personal use. The supplies. together with
hidden recruits, were then transporied “zig-zag” across the Chesapeaske Bay into unguarded
intets. oventually moving up the James River to the Confederate capital in Richmond, Thus,
Lancaster County was frequendy raided and ravaged by Federal troops in search of these
privateers. smugpglers, and sples. While no full-scale battles vecurred inland. fierce and

ragic vonilicts were fought on the E’%agm:xh:’mvwak River and other waterways of

Lancaster County regton, Henee, the war divectly offected the ceonomy of the county by
closing s wharves, reducing s population. and destroving numerous dwellings and
essential commercial and indusirial factiities.
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Figure 84 Orennfichd (080885

O exeeptional mornt with relation (o this theme s Greenfield (03 1-DO83) Caprured by the

Contederate toops, the Harrict De Ford was moved into Dymer Creek. where Licutenant
Edward Hooker found the wreek of the burning steamer. Belore lghting the blaze. the

&

rebels had unloaded the steamer's cargo with the help of neighborhood faomers ' In
retalintion. the federal troops fired upon several of the grand plantation dwellings lining
Dvmer Creek. One such dwelling was Greendield, originally erected in cirea 1840 by
and subsequently enlarged in 1857 by then~owner William H. George.

Phvsical damage coused by the retaliation remains visible on the interior of the dwelling.

Thomas Sprigg

28 paitts, 1. 275,
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THEME: RECREATION/ARTS
RESOURCE TYPES: Theaters, Outdoor Recreation Facilities, Monuments, and
Markers,

The Recreation/Art Theme relates to the arts and cultural activities and institutions related o
leisure thime and recreation. It encompasses the activities related to the popular and the
academic arts including fine arts and the performing arts; literature; recreational gatherings:
entertainment and leisure activity; and broad cultural movements. Although not broad by
definition. within the region the theme ranges from Civil War monuments to totem poles,
hunt clubs. campgrounds. marinas, movie theaters, and hotels. Fifteen such properties were
documented in the survey of Lancaster County, ranging in date from 1872 1o 1947,

Despite the lack of significant
land  skirmushes  and  banles.
Lancaster County suffersd the
loss of many residents who had
gone to fight on behall of the
Confederacy.  In honor of those
sohliers,  the  local  Ladies
Memorial Assoctaton erected a
monment in 1872, 1818 believed
that the memorial marker was the
first of 1s kind © be vrected w
YVirginia Tradittonadly, the
pregiion  of  many o these
monuments did ot oceur until
some forty vears after the Civil
War, when the Lest Cause had
rmken on near-religious overtenes,
Many of the markers were placed
o oor near  the  cowrthouse
greens. 136 The obelisk Civil War
Monument in Lancaster Lounty.
sited just southeast of the present
courthouse, 15 constructed  of
granite (03 1-0081-004 3,

Figure 85: Civil War Memurist (0310081804}

130 sohn and Murgaret Petors, p. 106,
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in contrast are the totem poles at Kendall Hall (051-0201). Dating from the 19203, the three
waoden totern poles omament the large water-front property along the Corotoman River.

As mentioned in the historic context, Lancaster County was a popular tourist attraction
beginning in the mid-19th century. The height of this industry during the 1880s and 18%0s
was prompted by the increased number of steamboat routes and recreational facilines. One
such facility was the Irvington Beach Hortel, established in 1892 on the property of WL

MeDonald Lee and EVW. Long, Believed to have been constructed on or near the site of the
first village hotel. the Old Carter’s Creek Wharf Hotel, the Irvington Beach Hotel was
originatly constructed as a single-tarntly dwelling prior w the Oivil War, As the new village
hotel, it became the center of entertainment with vear-round visitors. By the wrn of the 20th
cemur}’. the hotel property underwent substaniial changes with the construction of a dancing
pavilion. barn, endarged servants quarters and carrlage shed, o skating rink. and additional
resort cottages. The hotel and ity adjacent cottages could then accommodate about fifty-
seven guests. August proved 1o be its iveliest month, with “dancing in the pavilion, singing.
“tacky” parties when the guests “bedecked themselves in the most ludicrous paraphernalia
Pioned in the fun, cake walks, progressive cuchre. rmsqzzciw s replete with Japanese
anterns, and costume parties in which the villagers joined.” When the summer was over.
the guests heading for the steambonts were typically treated 1o o farewell display of “lire
crackers. bomb and pistols, 713 B}' 1919, the main building ot the Ivington Beach Hotel
Resort was reduced to function as an annex, replaced by the New Irvington Beach Hotel that
stood on the site of two of the original resort cottages. The new hotel contained twenty-six
Bedroams, private baths, a large lobby, a dining room with seating copacity of one hundred

18ive v gm;wh This wood frame building. however. was destroved by fire

guests. and exie
(h, The annex was then restored to it orjginal use as the main hotel butlding,

in Ovtober 193
serving the conmmunity until it was razed in 1955,

Eatar examples of tourist hotels and campgrounds documenied in the survey include th
White Stone Beuach Hotel (051-0130), the Wharten Grove Campground (05100874 th
Franciz Point Hotel (051-0063), the Yerby Hotel (0510150 Eubank Hotel (249-50061.1
Lench and Sawdy Log Cottages (G5 1-0116), and the Tides Inn (05101903

£%

e
o
e

The White Stone Beach Hotel was crected betwesn 1890 and 1905, and directly atded n the
CCONOITHE reaz’n%tmctmn of the White Stone area after the Uivil War,  The wharll
constructed in 1902, was equipped with rails and a flat wagon that carried baggage and
freight ashore. Al the top of the hilll overleoking the whari, was the White Stone Beach
Hutel, which accommodated twenty-five guests. Under the proprietorship of G.H. Smuth.
the hotel served as one of the major tourist and recreational atiractions in the county for
many vears, providing cottages. dining rooms, pavilions, and boating, With the subsequent
destruction of the wharf and abandonment of the property, the Queen Annpe-style hotel
survives as one of the fow remnants of this once thriving area

3% simmons, o 3034,
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The Wharton Grove Campground was established in 1893 at the height of religious meeting
camp revivals and steamboat tourism to the Northern Neck. John Palmer, 2 Roman Catholic
real estate agent responsible for the sale of a portion of Carter’s Corotoman estate.
convinged Reverend F.W. Clavbrook to establish a religious meeting camp at the site.
Claybrook, in tum, interested evangelist Dr. H.M. Wharton in the project. The results were
ten-day meetings each summer from 1893 to 1927, Thousands of participants arrived each
year. camping in the many wood frame cottages. Before automobiles and the construction
of connecting bridges. most of the attendees used the water as their means of transportation,
arriving at the eight-foot wide wharf that stretehed 1/4 mile into the Corotoman River. Al
the center of the religious experience was the massive wouod frame Tabernacle, set to the cast
of the cottages,

fe

Figure 86 Tides fnn (3513190}

2%

Fhe Tides Inn built in 1946-1947 by Ann Lee and AE. Stephens, stands today as one of the
finest resorts in the country. continuing to bring significant recognition and tourism ©
Lancaster County. Construction began in the spring of 1946, and the forty-six room fnn
opened on July 13, 1947, Constructed on the site of the Ashbum Farm, the Inn was
primarily built with local materials often obtained through trade. For example, the Yiew
Room and Dining Room are omamented with cypress obtained from a swamp
approximately twenty miles from the Inn, and the walnut paneling in the Chesapeake Room
came from a walnut tree originally associated with the site. The roof tiles were purchased
from the U.S. Army when they tore down a large building at Langley F ield, and the copper
tubing was ‘obtained from the Reconstruction Finance Corporation, which was selling war
surplus. Local workmen, including carpenters, plumbers, and electricians, were hired to
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construct the Inn. Many of the interior furnishings were purchased by the Stephens during 2
holiday in Europe. The property was extensively renovated in 1997 and g}re%mﬁy inchudes
the Inn, restaurants, swimming pool, five guest houses, sheds, and docks. The Tides Inn
also serves as the home of the Miss 4rm, a historic 127-foot vacht,

Two of the more contemporary resources associated with the Recreation/Arts Theme are the
1928 Fairfax Theater in Kilmarnock (249-5028) and the 19303 movie theater in Irvingion
(O31-0223)

The hooning motion picture industry required a building type of its own by the wrn of the
20th century,  In contrast to traditional theater design, whose lineage could be traced o
;zz"z"?quitv motion piciure theater architecture in the United States drew on commercial
building designs to accommodate melodramas, maveling shows, operas, and concert halls.
Deriving from the traditional 19th century forms. which included storefronts, churches.
hotels, suy:.z% palaces. and period revival swvles, the modern motion picture theater
canceptually had its source in the passion for the exotic and the desire for novelty.
Sefectively merging the ofd conventions with new requirements and symbols, familiar
architectural remnants were used in motion picture theaters.

Omee established. i’ze: ’mzwz picture theater evolved in both type and stvle. drawing from
popuiar as 'mzh as elitst traditions.  The appearance of feature-length films. which told an
artisticaily edited storv. coincided with the development of feature motion picture theaters.
Movies in the 1910s and 1920s were silent adventures and romances supplemented with five
ertertainment,  These movies were seldom very realistic and often set in an imaginary,
exotic loeale. Movie palaces were equally exotic and romantic in mood, seek iy nol o
break the spell until the patron left the building. Awenities. such as lounges. ushers, and
elaborate gathering spots. reinforeed this amblance.  Architects of this period emploved
then-popular historical styles, stretehing these stvles o their mis in unheard of romantc
famasicos.  Necessary features such as the box office and marguee combined clements
associated with both popular and serious enteriainment.  Marketing and adveriis
technigues were borrowed fromy commercial traditions. as well as from the circus.  Rich

materialy and fabrics. plush seats. draperies, a:h:zmicizcrfa., lounges, and smoking rooms
echoed grand hotels. government institutions, and private clubs. For the first ume, builders
and managers gave serious consideration to safety. sight lines, maximum capacity, . heating.

-
Hghting, and veniilation. The impact of the expanded film format prompted higher ticket
arices. reserved seats. scheduled showings. and longer runs.

By the mid-1920s. the motion picture palace. with all its trappings. was an accepi‘ezci and

cherished part of American fife. Theater openings and movie premieres drew crowds far in
excess of the number who could actually attend each show. The largest concentrations of
grand-scale movie theaters were in the major metropolitan areas - Chicago. Los Angeles,
and New York. Yet theater patrons in less populous cities such as Minneapolis, Seatile,
Denver, and Washington, DC conld take their pick from among ten or more palaces. Even
small towns generally could boast one or two fancy movie houses, clustered along Main
Street or around the town square. Traditionally, the nickelodeon owners had to purchase the
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two- or three-reel films, paving for the films by the foot. By the second decade of the 20th
century, with the formation of the Hollywood studios and theater chains, leasing a motion
picture to several theaters simultancously became commeon practice.  The early exhibitors
quickly expanded their operations to meet the increasing demand for and availability of
films.

MMMMMM
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Figure 87 Fairfux Theater, 1928 (Wibson, p. 15.3:31

With the introduction of the talkies in 1927, the movie palace no longer needed 1

supplement the mechanical cguipment with live entertamment. Whereas the '“tdzzzw'zi
theater and early movie palaces had been designed around the stage and live performances.
the new movie theater was planned around the projection booth and speakers.  Sound
required the renovation of existing theaters to accommodate the speakers. while i new
buildings. it often eliminated the need for a stage or orchestra pit. Theater owners responded

quickly 1o these changes because of the popularity of the talkies and the money to be saved.

The heavy rush to build ever-more elaborate theaters in the late 1920s and early 19305
resulted in an overabundance of picture palaces with too many seats to fill. The economie
hardships of the Depression eventually fostered some commercial creativity on the part of
the theater owners, Extravagant promotional stunts were concocted in attemnpts to boost box
office totals. Some theaters arranged for movie-stars to appear at grand premiers, while
others could only offer contests sponsored by area businesses or charities. For the duration
of World War 11, promotional displays in the lobbies were replaced by booths selling war
starmps and savings bonds.
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Despite adversity, movie attendance peaked in the 1940s as the public embraced messages of
patriotism and romance, and theater chains responded to the demand. Neighborhood movie
houses reflected America's new emphasis on family and their love of the automobile, hy
their appearance in subuwban locations.  As movies became films with a more serious
attitude. the seemingly anachronistic ornate architecture and design disappeared from the
buildings. Both product and process were stripped of their artificial decoration in favor of &
more hopest examination of life. In the late 1940s and 1950s, with the disbanding of studio-
owned theater chains, the  introduction of the television, and the emphasis on
suburbanization. movie attendance declined. Eventually, customer amenities were reduced
to nothing more z%zzm the refreshment stand. The "6‘%&‘3&353 of lighted signs were the only
indications of a motion picture theater as the bulldings evolved back into storefront spaces
Built in profusion on valuable downtown city blocks, theaters ncurred heavy losses and
rising expenses.  Thus, the over building of the 1930s led divectly to the theatrical
demolition derby of the 1960s.%  Theater owners responded with creative, although
somewhat destructive. solutions to their problems.  Some subdivided their auditoriums,
aceasionally piggvbacking or twinning a screening room. More than a few owners chose 0
revive their fong dor mma stage apparaius o put on rock concerts, supplementing dwindiing
movie revenues, By 19705 and 1980s. the era of preservation brought restoration of
downtown proture m% ses. while the construction of suburban multi~cinemas commenged.

132 pavid ‘-i\?&yééﬁ dmerican Pictare Palaces: The Architeciure of Farsasy. (New York: Prentice Hall Bditions, 19813, p
25,
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Figure %8¢ Fairfax Theater, 1997 {245-830248}

The FPairfay Theater, built in 1928 by R.D. Carter. had a definite architectural motfl which
was respectiully copicd throughout Kilmarnoek., From 1928 10 1932, the Fairfax Theaw
showed silent fiims. with the accompanying music of James Wharton plaving from the pit.
In 1989, the theater ceased 1o function as such. eventually being extensively renovated to

aperate as o specially store.
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THEME: SETTLEMENT PATTERNS
RESOURCE TYPES: House Types, Villages, and Town Plans

Lancaster County, containing 153 square miles, is located at the tip of the Northern Neck on
the Rappahannock River and Chesapeake Bay. Founded in 1631, the county was initially
seitfed by the establishment of port towns and vast g’eiama;mrz% These properties were
widely scattered across the county along navigable waterways. like the Rappahannock and
Corotoraan rivers. While it was necessary to be able 1o reach ths nort towns and plantations
by land, which was a second means of transport, a nearby river was desirable. The now lost
port rown of Queenstown (031-0030) and Rebert Carter's Corotoman Plantation on the
Corntoman River are excellent examples of these two types of settlements.

The county’s dependency on i navigable waterways continued to directly effec the
location of new development in the 20th century. Three such examples were (fmmfzud
the comumunity of Muorratico on property historically owned. subdivided, improved. :md
subsequently sold individually by Jobn Whealton. Amassing his wealth from the seatood
industry. Whealton followed the example of the 17th and 18t century port towns and
plantations in developing Morratico on the shores of the Rappahannock River in the latter
part of the 19th century, Iizu Omeen Anne stvle dwellings along Riverside Drive. virtually
identical, are a sampling of the buildings Whealton was responsible for constructing (031
0216 051-0217; and 051-0218),

]

Today. a new settlement pattern is being developed. With its current role 43 5 summer home

and retirement community, a different style of planning has reached the county.
Subdivisions, like those commonly found in the suburbs, are being introduced. usualiy
constructed on what used 1o be farmland. These houses are constructed on small, untform
fots on curving streets, The dwellings, variations on a Hmited number of models. are erected
to vonform to a standard building line, With this great increase in housing stock. supporing
indrastructure is also being generated. This deve ‘fz ;* nt roflects the growing number of
familivs Hlocking to a county with a good school system. affordeble real estate and natural

beauty
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THEME: 80CIAL
RESQURCE TYPES: Meeting Halls, Community Centers, and Clubbouses

The overall rural nature of Lancaster County during the 19th and early 20th centuries greatly
impeded the establishment of social centers, however, social activities flourished within
crogsroads communities and turn-of-the-20th-century towns. The buildings wpically served
as the central focus of the community, providing meeting space for churches, schools. and
various lodges and temperance groups. During the survey of Lancaster County, six
resources associated with the Social Theme were identified in the towns of Lancaster Court
House, Irvington, White Stone, and Kilmarnock. Ranging in date from the late 18th century
to the 1920s, the extant buildings have all plaved significant roles in the Clsamsiopmmu ‘,.ff. the
county and establishment of a strong sense of conumunity.

The Lancaster Court House National Register Historie District {051-0081) served as a major
crogsroads and social center prior o the construction of the prc sert cmzf@mme in 1861,
County courthouses with their landscaped greens traditionally provided residents with a
ventralized meeting place and soclad entertamment in the form of hearings and trials. Job
Carter’s Ordinary (031-0081-006) was erected in 1790 as an ordinary and tavern 1o serve
those traveling to the government center.  The building continues o serve the crossroads
community, funciioning as the Lancaster Tavern. The cowrthouse, erected in 1861, often
furnished mecting space for county boards. schools, Masonic lodges. and comrmunity
groups. Additionally, the Woman's Club of Lancaster County {051-0081-018), constructed
fn 1900-1915, and the Mary Ball Washington Memorial Muscum and Library (031-0081-
007) presently serve as the secial and meeting conters for the modest town,

In 1870, the growing community of Irvington saw the construction of the Old Chapel for use
bv hoth the Baptists and Methodists, Enlarged shortly after its construction. the wood frame
butlding was the first home 1o the village's pub Jic sehool. churches. the Chesapeake
Academy. the Independent Order of the Good Templars. the Order of United American
Mechanics. and the Independent Order of Odd Fellows. ¥ Because of its varied uses. the
building was often referned to as Good Templars Hall, Lodge Hall, or Odd Fellows Hall
Manv of the institutions and organizations that were founded in the Old Chapel flourished.
eventually constructing buildings of their own during the latter part of the 19th century. The
second Odd Fellows Hall (051 f?i%‘} located directly east of the Irvington Baptist Church,
wias built i 1913 on the site of the Old Chapel.

133 Simmons, pp. 77-73.
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e

Fisare 39 (3dd Fellows Hall in frvington (8518194

The Odd Felfows Hall is.a modest frame building that makes a cursory nod 1o lalianate stvie
architecture in its front-gable form with a heavy raking cornice and returns. cornerboards,
and tripartite gable end window with a molded trigngular lintel. Odd Fellows Hall so closely
resembled the Old Chapel that the two buildings were often mistaken for each other.

Dating from the 18905, Odd Fellows Hall (051-0126) provided religious. educational, and
social meeting space for the White Stone community. The wood frame building was
originally erected a5 a church, a building tvpe that commonly served a dual purpose, also
functioning as a meeting hall.  The building’s rectangular form, Gothic Revival-style
detailing, and siting along James Wharf Lane and Newtown Road document its historical
contribution to the African-American community of White Stone at the twm of the 20th
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century. Secondary sources record that the building originally served the community as &
one-room school for African-Amenicans known as the White Stone Colored School. 1

One of the more infamous social centers in Lancaster County was the Wharton Orove
Campground, constructed during the height of religious meeting camp revivals in 1893

Originally part of the ancestral estate of the Carter family, the property was for sale by then-
owner Mrs, George Kem through agent John Palmer. Roman Catholic Palmer believed the
waterfront property was the perfeet site for a Protestant camp-meeting ground.,  He
convinced Reverend FOW. Clavbrook, the pastor of the Morattico Baptist Church. ©
establish the religious camp at the unimproved, wooded site. Clay hrook in turn interested 3

gmap of influential citizens and Dr. H.M. Wharton in the project.  Wharton, a leading
evangelists i the South, agreed to lend his name to the camp. The results were ten-day
meetings held cach summer from 1893 to 1927, Thousands of participants arrived each year
- up to 10,000 on the final Sunday of the revival. The property was originally sited on forty
acres of land fronting on the Rappah‘mmm% River. Resembling a village. it was improved
by the construction of forty wood frame cottages, two large dining halls. a stable. hotwel,
various meeting shelters. a wharf, and a three-ticred tabernacle that stood ninety feet square
with o bell tower. Prior to the fashionable use of automobiles for long distance travel. many
of the thousands who attended the meetings used the water as thelr primary means of
wansportion, landing at the gi oot wide wharf that swetched demile into he
Rappahannock River and accommeodated up 1o 700-1000 people at a time. Wharton Grove's
social and religious revivals ended in 1927 with the death of HM, Wharton.

S A

Figure %0 Wharton Grove Camping Ground (B81-0087)

134 Blizabeth B, McKenngy, History of the Town of White Stone, Lancaster County, Virginia, pp. 89
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(f the original forty cottages, only eight survive, presently used as single-family dwellings.
The buildings are Queen Anne in style, generally two-stories in height with porches facing
the river. The wharf was destroyed during the April 1933 storm that sbruptly ended the
future of water-related transportation throughout the Northern Neck, Additionally, the howel,
tabernacle, lodges, meeting rooms, and stables have been razed, although the landscaping
plan of the camp with its groves of trees is clearly visible,

The history of the Masonry in Lancaster County can be traced back to January 6, 1847, wher
the county’s first lodge held a meeting at Job Carter’s Ordinary (031-0081-006). The first
record books for the lodge, known as Warren Lodge, AF. & AL M., were written by Thomas
Norris. the first secretary for the brotherhood. By March 1848, the name of the lodge had
been changed to Lancaster County Union Neo. 88, and regular meetings were held every
Thursday at the ordinarv. The Masons remained in Lancaster Court House, eventually
meeting at the county courthouse. At the turn of the 20th century, the lodge relocated
Kilmarmock.,  The group met in rented spaces subsequently destroved by the many
devastating fires that ravished much of Kilmamock in the early part of the 2th century. in
1924, the present brick building at 48 North Main Street (249-3027) was constructes
specifically for the Masons, Constructed of fire-proof brick. the two-story Craftsman-style
building is ornamented with several of the symbols traditionally affiliated with the Jodge.

foss
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Figure 91: Lancaster Union Masenic Lodge Mo, B8 (24%-5027)
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THEME: TECHNOLOGY/ENGINEERING
RESOURCE TYPES: Bridges

While the technological aspects of a culture form the primary basis for the interpretation of
all themes, the Technology/Engineering Theme relates primarily to the unlization of and
gvolutionary changes in material culture as a society adapts to the physical, biological, and
cultural environment.  This, however, is far beyond the limits of the architectural survey
being conducted.  Yet, this theme also involves the practical application of scienmtific
principals to design. construct, and operate equipment, machinery, and structures to serve
human needs,  In this comtext. a single resource was identified as related to the
Technelogv/Engineering Theme: the Bellwood Run Bridge (051-0088),135

L ¢

The Bellwood Run Bridge crosses Belwood Swamp on Route 3 between Lancaster Court
House and Lively, The structural conerete T-beamn bridge. erected in 1939, has a forty foot
clear span and twentv-four foot oadway,  The Bellwood Run Bridge is one of only fowr
concrete bridges constructed in Lancaster County prior to 1942, Architecturally significant.
the bridge 15 one of only twe bridges in the county erected with T-beam construction.

Conerete bridges constitute the greatest number of Virginia's and Maryland’s known historic
bridges. Technologically, the development of concrete bridges is an important chapter in the
history of bridge building since the application of this rediscovered material to both
traditionsd and new forms largely supplanted the metal truss bridge in the spanning of shert
and medium distances.  Aesthetically, concrete bridge design introduced a greater level of
decorative tremment. for the plastic nature of conorcte allowed variety and ease of
incorpurstion of these decorative detalds,

i
(':
1

Although concrete was emploved by the ancient Romans, the modern rediscovery of
concrete as 4 common building material was a 19th century phenomenon. with reinforced
concrete developing in the fate 19th and early 20th centuries. In bridges, concrete was first
used as a consiruction material in plain or unreinforced concrete structures. The first
applivations of the material were to the arch bridge. a design developed by the Romans and
used, in its masonry form, in a great number of arch bridges. By the tum of the 0t
century. the understanding of material behavior quickly had progressed to the composite use
of concrete and steel, often termed ferro-conerete,!3?

The versatiity of reinforced concrete permitted development of a variety of economical
bridm for use on roads crossing small steams and rivers.  As the nation's automotve
traffic increased in the early 20th century, local road networks were consolidated, and state
highway departments were formed to supervise the construction and improvement of state

135 sccording to Place Names of the Northern Neck of Virginin, Bellwood should be spelled Belwoud for the
nearby Betwood tract. The documentation for this property was supplied by VDHR, hence the spelling of
Bellwond was retained.

136 p A C. Spers & Company and Lowls Berger & Associates, “Historic Highway Bridges in Maryland:
1631-1960: Historic Comext Report.” (Revised Ocber 19935}, p. 165,
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roads. Many state highway departments were formed on the model of New York State,
which in 1910 followed the recommendations of 2 board of consulting engineers and divided
the state into districts under the watchful eve of a resident engineer.  Without a stock of
standard designs 1o rely upon when site conditions permitted, such decentralization could
easily have led to chaos as the need for inexpensive, easily built and muaintained small road
bridzes became more and more pressing. '

Next to the slab bridge, the beam bridge is perhaps the simplest possible way o span an
opening. Like the slab bridge, the beam bridge has the distinction of being a very aneient
bridge design. Roman bridges are best known for their graceful masonry arches, but it
appears that historically the beam hridges were built especially for military uses. lulius
Caesar deseribed a temporary bridge constructed during his campaign in Gaul that is olearly
a multiple-spanned beamn bridge of wood.!3®

Figure 92: Belbwood Run Bridge (0510088

137 p.4.C. Bpero & Company, p. 165,
138 p A.C. Spero & Company, p. 165,
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A variation of the girder design that was developed in the first decades of the 20th century
was the continuous girder bridge, in which a single set of girders extends over several spans.
By 1939, numerous structares with spans up to 348 feet had been constructed, The design
offered several advantages: it required a smaller amount of steel and concrete, fower
hearings, and fewer expansion joints; and 1t reduced deflection and vibration, Disadvantages
included a more complicated design and increased sensitivity to uneven settlement of
foundations. 139

Although visually similar to deck girder bridges, the T-beam span features a seres z‘?i”
reinforced concrete beams that are integrated into the concrete slab, forming a monolithic
mass appearing in ¢ross section like a series of upper-case “T7s connected at the top
Thaddeus Hvait is belipved 1o have been the firat to come upon the idea of the T-beam when
he was studyving reinforced concrete in the 1850s. but the first nseful T-beam was developed
by the prominent Belgian engineer Francois Hennebique, at the turn of the 20th century,
The earliest references to T-beam bridges refer o the type as concrete slab and beam
cmetmctéwn, a description that does not distinguish the T-beam design from the concrewe

o %

deck girder. Henry G. Tyrrell was perhaps the first American bridge zmpmger 1o use the
now standard term “T-bearn™ in his treatise Concrete Bridges and Claverrs, published in
1909, Tvrrell commented that "It is permissible and good practice i \is., signing small
conerete beams which are united by slabs, 1o consider the effect of a portion of the floer slab

v

and to proportion the beams as T-beams. ™9

By 19200 reinforced concrete. T-beam construction had  found broad application in
standardized bridge design across the United States. In his text. T Desiyn of Highvay
Bricdees of Sreel, Timber wnd C mvrw{v Mile 8. Kechum included drawings of standard -
beam spans recommended by the 1LS. Bureau of Public Roads as well us drawings of T
beam bridges built by swte Emgimfay departments in Do, é’\«"iicéa'gan, HHinots, and
Muassachusetts. By the 1930s. the T-beam bridge as scen in the Bellwood Run Bridge was
widely used in Marvland and Virginia,

139 p A.C, Spere & Company, p. 165,
140 ¢ A.C. Spero & Company, p. 166,
Mg A C. Spero & Company, p. 166,
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THEME: TRANSPORTATION/COMMUNICATION
RESOURCE TYPES: Rail-related, Water-related, and Road-related

The Transportation/Communication Theme relates to the process and technology of
conveving passengers, materials, and information.  As discussed n the historic context.
ancaster County has been dependent on water-related resources for transportation and
comrunication since its founding in 1651, Many of the associated resources are no longer
extant. although properties have been noted for archaeologival inv ugﬁbzﬁgam These inciude
Merry Point Ferry (031-0086) and Spring Hill Farm (0531 {;{}, X %th the site of 18tk
century steamboat wharves, Similarly dependent on the water. as well a5 the rail, are the
Rappahannock Marine Ratlway (031-0212), the Yankee Point Marina {031-01 fi’.-’;, and the
Windmill Point Light (051-0071). The Bellwood Run Bridge {051-0088), discussed at
tength under the Technology/Engineering Theme, is the one resource identified in the survey
refated 1o road transportation,

According to the United States Census Records from the first decades of the 19th century.
the pup;,zé.amm of Lancaster County had been steadily declining, largely in part io inadeguate
trapisportation routes. But by the 1840s, the population began 1o increase. This @ rowh,
which was occurring throughowt the Commonwenlth of Virginia, was prompted by the
construction of 4 frunsportation m,‘m}rE\ of canals, turnpikes, and railroads, as well o
ravigable rivers. conneeting Baltimore, Washington, DC, and Norfotk,  Steamboats had
bevun o run from Baltimore up %Ezw ?3;*;)@}&:230& River o Fredericksburg in the law
[820s. and by the 1830s-1840s. numernus steamboat wharves were established at crogsronds
commumitics. hamlete, and even privately owned plantations as far south as Norfolk, For
Lancaster County, {hc steamboats provided a primary means of tansportation. while
simpitaneously creating vast wade and supply opportunities. Consequently, this had on
immediate impact on the economic srowth and stability of the county.

Bricflv closed durtng the Civil War, the wharves were largely respons sible for the
reconatruction of the Northern Neck. and Lancaster County in particular. Conseguently,
many of the county's largest incorporated towns and villages grew with she est iablishment of
commercial businesses. governmental facilities. and educational institutions, In due course.
Lancaster County experienced an influx of residents in search of é rse livelihood. The
abundance of seafood in the Chesapeake Bay provided the needed es:@nomy as fishing.

ovstering. crabbing. and related processing indusiries became dominant in the area. with
frvington serving as a leader in the fish and oyster nade,  Additionaliy. the steamboals
maveling along the Rappahannock and Potomac rivers brought about immensurable

by

commercial ventures for the village.
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According to John C. Wilson, author of Virginia 's Northern Neck: 4 Pictorial History:
The steamers and their landings were the area’s link to the rest of the
world....People and all kinds of produce would iake these routes,
frequently hooking up at other landings with trains that would carry them
1o their destinations.}*

Despite the population growth, the Northern Neck continued (o be a veritable island. almost
mrr(ﬂmeﬁsci by the memzag, the Chesapeake, and the Rappahannock rivers. Yet, below the

Fall-line. no bridges had been erected and the existing roadways were largely primitive. The
£as éerz and miost direct access was by steamboats. which were making stops at
approximately thirty wharves in the Northern Neck region by the latter pari of the 19t
ceptury. Not all wharves were visited routinely, vet several of the villages and crossroads of
Lancasier County were regularly scheduled stops, tides and weather permitting.'¥ Many of
the steamboat ﬂmdmvx in Lancaster County, such as Westland, Millenbeck, Monaskon.
Ocran. Merry Point, Morattico, and Weems, bad wharves cons umw mredominantly of a
veneral store. a canning factory, and various other seafood-related BUBINCSses. fra*%ngtfm
Kilmurnoek and White Stone had these establishments as well as hotels, chure C"“f’"m@%"
doctors” and lawvers” offices. theaters. social organizations. and various ancillary %z&szrzmw
that enabled them o become visble villages or towns tather than just small hamles or
crossreads communitie

Lancaster County, however. remained isolated because of poor roads and the fack of bridges
to other inland communitics.  Thus, like most of the Northern Neck region, the county
looked 1o Baitimore for mamdactured goods.  Baltimore reciprocated by purchasing of
rransshipping seafood and produce that were being pmsx‘%wd in local fish factories and
cannerios.  There was also considerable mmi order business E“»z:z\‘x-'zfm Lanecasier County and
Baltimore, which greatly influenced the architectural development of the county,

i

Other mator developments in Lancaster County included the establishment of the post offi
Sl was delivered about one 1o two times per week by steamer,  Between 1896 and ‘;‘»fw‘
the Ohwen Diflard provided datly mail and passenger service for White S&mr" frvingion.
Weems, Mitlenbeck, Merry ?mmo and Urbanna.  This service gave o driends the
opportunity for a day of visiting” and was a " lifesaver 1o th Z/:f*g;fzzcz itizen which
dependad on “dailies”. fas] the only source of cutside news. “H Founded in 1891 The
Virginia Citizen of Irvingros was the “Democratic Weekly™ paper with the motio;
Conservative in ail things, neutral in nothing.M® By 1889, the eswblishment of a telephone
service under the charter of the Morthern Neck Telephone and Telegraph Company gave
local residents another source of outside news and communication 5

B2 Wilsan, p. 6%,

3 Mawe, p, 34,

144 Dawe, p. 3% Simmons, p. 122,
145 Simmaons, pp. 67-70.

M8 Simmans, p. 47,
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Drespite the slow but steady decline of the steemboat wharves throughout the Northerm Neck
by the tum of the 20th century, Lancaster County remained dependent on Carter’s Creek and
the Rappahannock River for its livelihood. Fishing and ovstering became prosperous with
approximately two hundred Poguoson log cances sailing daily to the oyster rocks of the
Rappahannock River. Initially, the arrival of gasoline boat engines in 1884 was believed o
be a threat to the economy of the county and seafood indusiry, Though satlboats and steam
engines remained dominant, gasoline-powersd boats began to have considerable impact.
turning the many rivers and creeks into crowded water highwayvs, While altering the future
of the steamboat wharves, the gasoline-powered boats provided mobility for the fishermen i
addition to increasing local transpornation and fourism.

Disaster siruck Lancaster County on August 23 , when a devastating storm descended
on the Northern Neck. destroving 18 of the 30 existing steamboat wharves, The wharf al

Irvington was severely damaged but not defstr{; d. and continued with much-reduced
service until 1937, Many of the facilities chose not to reconstruct the wharves, but rather
converted the properties for different water-related industries.  Turn of the 20th century

s

marings. such as Yankee Point Marina and Rappahannock Marine Railway, became
shipvards and continued the region’s dependency on the water,

o

in addition to the severe damage caused by the 1933 storm, water-relaed transportation
sufferad from the rapid development of land ranspo riavionn. Cars became more amd more
commonplace: roads were being tatd and continuously mmproved. Trucks began w transport
gouds and produce traditionally shipped by waler, As the county struggled with the Great
Depression. the size and scope of the federal and state government programs began ©
d *4;70211401" public works progroms that %mpriw‘d highwavs and catablish parks.
c orowth, these programs dircetly affected the landscape of S Wirginia and
its iz;m‘-m resources. This metamorphosis i3 clearly v ’«‘EE fo in Lancaster County with the

from the

construction of the Downing Bridge in 1927, which provided a dircet connection
Northern Neck o mainfand Virginia and ereated commerce and trade with Richmond. The
eroction of bridges, such as the 1939 Bellwood Run Bridge along Route 3, and inprovement
of roads and highwavs further stimulated the development of local commercial Crlerprises
such a3 stores, hotels, and gas stations,
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THEME: ARCHITECTURE/COMMUNITY PLANNING

The majority of properties identified in the survey of Lancaster County, typically domestic
resources, were constructed for a particular function and often were influenced by the
shapes. materials, detailing, or other features associated with the architectural styles that
were currently in vogue. Not surprisingly, this rural area exhibits architectural trends drawn
from high-stvle examples commonly associated with cities. which often served as
laboratories for new architectural styles, As these new fashions were spread from the cittes
to the suburbs and to the rural communities. the styles were tansformed fo accommodate
smatler resources and varied materials,

Characteristicallv, early buildings in a rural context did not consciously attempt to mimic
current fashions. but instead provided shelter using the technology of the period, Ofie
referred o as vernavular or folk housing. the rural buildings did. however, ;{}Qi}f;)%;’éi{ﬁ
stvlistic detailing and popular ornamentation. if only in a diluted state. The omament was
often merelv a distinguishing characteristic. and did not necessarily reveal a refationship t©
the building’s funciion.  Freguently, the actual construction :.ea:%*-niquc itselt provided the
onhv omamentation.  Similarly, the 20th century dwellings of suburban residential
neighborboods were often mass pmduw& sroviding densely populated residential housing
that was connomically affordable. Typically. furm took precedent over style and fashion.
which often emploved the actual structural materials to serve as archite clural ornamentation.
This is the case with the Bungalow/Craftsman stvie dwellings, detailed with exposed rafiers
brick and wood supporting posts. and concrete block foundations,

The survey of Lancaster County. which experienced two distinet perieds of development andd
arowth contang e 5E en different sivies and forms of buildings. Largely domestic. the

butidin stvles range from Colonial o Art Deco, with the Qucen Anne. Colontal, aned

SN
3o

Greek Revival stvles dominating.

Colonial stvle

Druring the 17th century, Lancaster County was largely inhabited by settlers from England.
Seotiand. and Ireland, who brouglht their own building traditons. Typically. the buildings
were simple in form with linear plans like the hall/parlor. or side-passage. single-pile house.
Whereas in New England. the Colonial-style houses were primarily heavy timber frame
buildings. in the Northern Neck Region of Virginia. where clay and woodlands wwere
abundant, these houses could be either brick or wood frame, The Colonial style is
characterized by steeply pitched side gable roofs with little or no overhang, massive end of
ventral chimneys of brick and/or stone. and small window openings.

The Colonial style, extending from 1600 to the 1830s, was commonly employed in
Lancaster County in the 18th century. Astoundingly, forty examples of the Colonial style
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were identified during the survey, ' Two of the properties, Belle Isle (051-0001) and
Verville (051-0026), were listed on the MNational Regster of Historic Places in 1973 and
1987, respectively, for their architectural significance.

Following the form of the stvle, the buildings identified in the survey are overwhelmingly
one-and-a-half-stories with a side gable roof. The steep pirch is emphasized by the from

gable dormers. shallow boxed cornice, and massive exterior end brick chimneys, the most of
which are laid in Flemish or five-course American bond.  Motably, the mdj{)ﬁf}' of the
chimneys have elegantly detailed double-shoulders and corbeled caps.

Figare 93: Hurst House (851-8133)

Adopted as the Natonal form, the hall/parfor plan of the Colonial style was ;‘smdcmiz“-az“i'\a
three bavs wide and two bavs deep. The form was often enlarged by a shed roof addition
that extended the full-width of the rear elevation. Nuwmerous Lancaster County examples of
the Colonial style dwelling with a hall/parlor plan were incorporated within two- and two-
and-a-half-story additions in from the emly o mid-19th century.  Although these SFHiTvEs
additions compromised the imtegrity of the Colonial-era dmﬁ%mm it overwhelmngly
ensured the preservation of the rectangular form, steeply pitched gable roofs, and arustic
exterior end chimneys.

148 Several of the properties idemified as being Colondal in style have been razed or lost to deterioration.
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Fieure 230 Apple Grove at Chase’s Cove (510177

‘%tr%%'izw wood frame examples of the style identified in the survey includer Oakley {051-
0020, Creseent Cove (051 t%~% w Le z:é Lireen ai‘M»i}ZZB" Spring Hill Farm (031-0024
L.«'ag*pa:ciw House (051-0124), and Payne’s Shop (051-0033). 1o name just a few. A wotal of
five Brick Colonial style buildings, two which bave been demolished. were documsented in
the survey, These consist of Morattico {O51-0018, razed) Bealah (D31-0073. razud), the
Lancaster County Jail (081-0081-0033, the Lancaster County Clerk’s Office (031-0081-001),
and Verville (051-0026). While the Clerk’s Office and Jail are constructed of brick laid in
Flemish hond. Verville is antistically set upon an English bond foundation with Flemish
Bond walls,




Historic Architectural Survey Report of Lancaster County, Virginia
Traceries with Historic Besearch & Planning Associates, 1997
Page 136

Georgian Style

The Georglan style (1700-1830), rooted in the principles of Classicism, was brought 1o the
colonies through British pattern books and the immigration of English masons, carpenters,
and joiners. The rigid symmetry, balanced proportion, and Classical detaling used m
Georgian buildings reinforce the formality of the style. Typical features include a central
paneled front entry door with an orpate crown, a decorative cornice, and symmetrically
placed double-hung sash windows. This style was employed throughout the colonies and
was likewise wholeheartedly adopted by plantation owners throughout Lancaster County,

Four Georgian style buildings. including the National Register-listed Christ Church (851~
00043 and St Mary's Whitechapel (051-0022), were identified in the survey area. Although
significantly altered since their construction in the carly part of the 19th century. Pleasant
Ranks (031-0160% and the house on Corner View Dinive (051-0154) are examples of
Georgion-stvle architecture in the ruval "fsz”m*mz"-itv of Lancaster County. Remmnants of the
erand CGieorgian-style at the house on Comer View Drive include the striking thn SRIETIOT
end brick Ezmn» “laid in Flemish bond. ‘*m*-‘u}ari- Pleasant Banks reiains one of 18
griginal exterior md hrick chimnevs with rounded shoulders and delicate corbeling. T

form of the buiiding and its central-passage plan are indicative of the stvle. as are the
shallow boxed cornice and wide window openings that appear vast encugh to have held

12712 sashes

[ 3%

ST
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Figure 95: Pleasant Banks (051-0160)
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Federal Sivie

Thoroughly British in origin, Federal architecture began as the signature style of America’s

wealthy mercantile class, primarily members of the Federabst aristocracy whose
international business trade kept them closely linked to England despite independence.
Chaste. conservative, and gracefully elegant, the style first appeared primarily in important
coastal cities, but evenrually was adapted everywhere in simpler vernacular forms. Brick
was the material of choice for simplified Federal-stvle facades, marked by refined
decorations and elongated proportions. ™ Feawures commanly associated with this style are
low pirched roofs, smooth symmetrical facades. elliptical fanlights and slender sidelights.
During the Federal period (1780-1840), omamental details, particalar interior elements, echo
the work of the Adam brothers.

Ten esampies of Federal stvle architecture were located in the Lancaster County survey
One of the properties was a tavern, Job Carter’s Ordinary (051-0081-006), while the
remiaining nine were historically domestic. Two of these domestic examples are National
Register Properties ~ Lancaster County House (051-0081-007) and Farmyville (B51-0009).
OF the remaining seven domestic properties. four have been razed. including Norwood
House (031-0036). Ridgefield (031-0036), Beulah (051-0073 ). and the Dunaway Place {031+
0077y The extant examples are Eppu g Forest (051-0008), Windsor Farm {031-0060). and
Bondficld (03101335 Althou ::5 ‘Jz ©owas the muaterial of chotee during the Federal-era
anby throe of the documented resources were constructed of brick - Windsor Farm.
Dunaway Place. and Parmyville.

187 Rachel Carley, The Visual Dictionary of Amerivan Domestic Architecture {Mew York: Henry Holt and
Company, 19943, p, 9L,
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Figure 86 Bondficld (05183135

-,

Constructed in the 1820-1830s, Windsor Farm and Bondfield provide excellens examples of
Foderal-stvle architecture. Constructed of brivk and wami frame. rc‘:sgﬁcc%z‘yd Windsor
Farm and Bondfield are five-bay wide houses covered with o low-piiched side gable

the most common iwrm of the period, and the county.  As tvpically seen with Federal-erg
dwellings, mther than the Guorgion predecessor. the box-like plan of the dwellings are
modificd by attached dependencies, Elaborate ornamentation is largely finuted to the form
ol the buildings themselves with the muin entry accentuated by the transoms and projecting
entry porches, At Windsor Famm, ih:, one-story entry porch has a front gable rool with an
enciosed pediment supported by paired Tuscan columns, while Bondfield s a similar eniry
porch with paired chamfered posts supporting the balustraded flat roofl  The fanking
openings are clongated with double-hung wood sash windows,

s roods,
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Figure 97 Moin Stair ot Bondfield (0510135

The interior of Bondfield exhibits the interior detailing commonly assoviated with the
Federal period. Of note are the slightly projecting casings with comerblocks, elegant crown
molding. and finely detailed plaster medallion. Original to the building is the dog-leg sinir
with a paneled wall stringer. bracketed carriage stringer. and tapered round balusters that
support the half-cylinder crook of the rail.

With portions of the original dwelling dating from the early part of the 18th century, Epping
Forest as enlarged and altered in the first half of the 19th century exhibits the form and
detailing of the Federal style. Of particular mention are the tall elegantly detailed mantels
and the relocated fanlight in the gable end of the east elevation. *Note: the interior survey
of Epping Forest has not been completed and additional features will be noted in the text of
this document following the survey, et ‘ |
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The Farly Classical Revival style, popularized in 1770 by Thomas Jefferson, looked to
Roman Classicism for inspiration. With this stvle, the newly formed United States of
America had discovered an appropriate architecture of a new democracy. Like the popular
Georgian and Federal styles, these buildings are symmetrical, usually three, five, or seven
havs wide, Drawing on the temple form, the Early Classical Revival style typically features
a one-story temple front with variations on the Roman orders, often taking the form of a
front gable portico with four supporting columms, Tvpically, a raised first story reflects the
stereobate and stylobate of the temple. Classical moldings are unormamented and generally
painted white,

Fight properties associated with the Early Classical Revival sivle were identified. ?lmr
having the traditional two-tiered entrv porch with Tuscan columns. As commuonly seen |
Lancaster County. the porches are three bays wide on raised brick foundations with pdiif‘:d

U gmrm and pedinmented front gable roofs. Virally identical in plan, the examples include
?‘v‘i kon (051-0017). Hampton Gardens {051-0098). CUhase Manor (249-3011), Edgley
{t

{ f.:?'ié)i.!»-?i i and Public View (031-0139). Several of the remaining examples, Havdon Hall
(051-0181y and Locust Grove (051-0124), have full-heigh front gable porticoes with no
upper story porch, OFf significance is the Farly Classical form and detailing of the B dorattico
Baptist Church (05 1-0066), the only non-domestic resource displaying this particular stvie,
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Fisoare 98: Monashon (051-0017)

Uinaltered in form since their original construction. the butldings are all iu bavs wide and
rwi bavs deep with a central-passage plan. The bays are marked by the clongated window
n;?cn‘?’ss?‘s with a variety of lighte, The side gable roofs have o shallow cornice and are

rerminated with massive exterior end brick chimnevs. The most elegantly detailed chimneys
are those seen on Monaskon (051-0017), constructed between 1780 and 1800, The double-
shouldered chimnevs are structurally su;mgriaﬁi by the Flemish bond brick side clevanons,
which stand in contrast to the wood frame facade and rear elevation of the building, The rest

of the dwellings are constructed of M}uxﬁ frame on slightly raised brick foundations.

Groek Revival Sivie

Whereas the Federal stvle derived from the Palladian ideal of ancient Roman design. the
{areck m:vwai adhered strictly 1o the Greek orders and systems of proportion and ornament.
Modeled on English ;;}r’e::fsdezlis, the Greek Revival-style was imported o America and
spread rapidly along the coast and into the frontier. Linked by an educated elite 1o the ideals
of ancient Greek dtsz}a‘:mcy, it became associated with the yvoung democratic government
and was considered a natural choice for civic monuments. As a stylistic influence, the Gree

Revival filtered down to even the most modest of rural farmbouses, Grander houses
generally featured a columned portico supporting a triangular pediment — as on a Greek
temple. Country builders accomplished the same effect simply by turning the gable end of 2
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house to the street, boxing in the gable with a triangular raking cornice. adding pilasters (o
the corners. and painting the building a pristine white. !

The Greek Revival stvle, extending from 1825 to 1860, was extremely popular in Lancaster
County. Thirty-three domestic properties and two churches, were identified as exhibiting
the Greek Rf*vévai stvle. The churches include Lebanon Baptist Church (051-0039) and
White Marsh United Methodist Church (031-0027).  Surprisingly, of the many excellent
examples, onlv the well-documented Pop Castle (051-0073) is listed on the MNational
Register of Historic Places. Possibly because of the abundance of the Greek Revival stvle
dwellings. and their usual lack of contemporary amenities. an unforunate number of the
hetter stvlistic examples are severely deteriorated. in poor condition, or abandoned.

Figure %9 Midway (031-B015)

Some of the Greek Revivales j% archetvpes are Somerset (051-0151), Schillinbery House
{031-0155), the Glebe (051-0198). and Levelfields (051-0048). Several of the o xamples
were constructed jurm an carbier pem&, but were substantially enfarged 1o their present
Greek Revival form and dewmiling.  Four enlarged resources, all of which bave been
documented through physical evidence, include Greenfield (031-0083), Melrose (051-0051},
Sanders House (051-0185), Epping Forest (051-0008), and Holyoak (051-0046),

WE Carley, p, 100,
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Midway (051-0013) and Melrose are two of the most excellent Greek Revival-style
properties, with the main dwelling and the supporting outbuildings rigidly symmetrical not
only in massing, but also in siting. This is abundantly clear at Melrose, where the brick
summer kitchen to the east of the main dwelling is balanced by the brick laundry 1o the west,
The smokehouse and cornoribs balance the plan 1o the northwest and northeast.  The
dwelling at Midway, which has been virtually unaltered since its construction, 18 $0
svimmetrically pmgworiiozzed and detailed that the facade and rear elevations are identical.
This uniformity is so perfect that a blind window opening with louvered shutters was placed
on the west elevation to mirror an opening on the cast elevation,

The house at 12 Mad Calf Lane (051-0189), although altered, M%}i‘hézs many of ti"z’“
traditional igh stvle embellishments of the siwi--. While the universal sign of the Greex
Revival style - the wia‘cz fricze - appears on the majority of the %mz%ézzw« in Lancaster
Countv, onlv the house on Mad Calf Lane has dentil moldings to accentuate the ogee
molded cornice and returns, 15 style is further marked by the corner Tuscan pilasters with
recessed panels, dentils, and beading,

Figure 100 House at 12 Mad Calf Lane (4518189
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Figure 181 Summer Hall ar Levelfields (3515048}

'

The interiors of many of these Greeh Revival-sivie dwellings are remarkably mtact as
originally de éncdy displaving dewls that are s‘imiiar in form and ornament. With the

frequent use of the summer hall in the central-passage plan during this period. many of the
resources bove ornate, bigh styvle interior enbe ‘E shments,  Typicaily. wzz%zm the interiers

viewed, the summer halls were extremely \g’xm;mm containing two double-leal main en
openings and a grand hollow-newel stair, The stairs are all similarly trinymed with zmiuui
wall stringers. paneled and 'ﬁm&é\ugd carriage stringers. thin square or tapered round
halusters. and on uii Qv urned newels, One of the most outs iméi{w features on the stairs are
the round rails with landing newels, ensements, and gooseneck crooks.
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Figure 182 Stair at Greenfleld (031-008%

[Es)

Striking similarities were noted &t Melrose. Levelficids. Greenfield, the Glebe. Suanders
Heuse, and Pop Castle. It can be inferred from the resemblances that local construction
trends and/or the same carpenters were responstble for the form and detatling of the summer
halls and stairs. Yet. to date, only the elegant stair of Melrose has been documented as the
work of prominent local cabinetmaker Willlam Pierce.

One feature that consistently appeared in many of the Greek Revival-style Antebellum
period dwellings was the square-edged casing with recessed center panel and crossetied
lintel, Often, the lintels had a slight pitch, being segmental- or lancet-arched in form. The
crosset form and arched lintel were commonly mimicked in the back shelf of the mantels.
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{xothic Bevival bivie

The Gothie Revival was the first of the Victorian-era styles to challenge the symmetry and
ordered reason of Classicism.  Brooding and romantic, it was a Picturesque mode with
aulted ceilings. battlements, lancet-arched windows, and tracery, all suggesting the
mysterious architectural vocabulary of a distant past. Popular in the 18303 and 1840s, the
Gothic Revival was well suited 10 the dark brownstone increasingly used for the urban row
house. but it was most commonly applied 1o the large country "villa" and to the small
cottage. the first house type in America designed specifically for the middle class. The
domestic siractures constructed during this period were drawing from architectural stvles
published in house plan books. such as Alexander Jackson Davis’ Rwral Residences
published in 1832 and Andrew Jackson Downing's Cowtage Residences of 1842, The Gothic
Revival stvle (1840-1880) dominsted rural communities as it was compaltible with the
nataral i&mi'«wpa The stvle was identitied by its smfpi v miched roof, decorative
bargeboard. and one-story porches with flattened Gothic arche

Within the survey area, nineteen resowrces were found to exhibit the Gothic Revival sivie.
Rermarkabiv, twelve of those identified were churches. one was a fellowship hall, and the
reraining ":’ e were dwellings.

I’ cdmminately modest in detail when compared with high-style Gothic Revival archetypes.

wed the traditional steeply puched open pe ediment and omately arched

. Classic iustrations included Trinity Episcopal Church (051-0081-005), MNorwood

Church (051-0093), White Stone Methodist Church (031-0084). Hartswell Bapus

Churel (05101003, and © aram man Church (051-01083. Often utilized during its Mstory as
b

curces disph

3 chureh, the White Stone Odd Fellow Lodge on James Whart Land and Newtown Rooad
exhibins dewihing from E:%zéfs atvie with its lancet-arched lintels and beliry. The domestic

vamipies embellished with Gothie Revival detailing include the house on fam to 546 (051~
G140). Long Lane Farm {(051-0146). the house on Seagull Point Road (031-0236), and the

house on Morattico Road {(051-0163
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Figure 103 Lanters and Spire of New 56 Joha's Baptist Church {149-8001

The latest. vet most high-style. example of the Gothic Revival siyle located in Lancasier
County was the Mew St John's Baptist Church on Route 3 { 249.0001) Reconstructed n
1623 following a fire. this building historically had an open nave plan accentuated by an
entry steeple.  The stained glass windows have ormate tracery set within tancet-arched
openings. The greatest concentration of stylistic oramentation 13 found on the lantern and
spire of the steeple.
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italianate Sivie

Well represented in pattern books, the Italianate stvle emerged in the 18305 along with the
Gothic Revival and eventually proved to be even more popular, lasting well into the 1870s.
With square towers, asvimetrical plans, broad roofs, and genercus verandahs, the rambling
Ttalianate houses that began to appear in both the suburbs and the countryside were rather
free and highly romanticized interpretations of the villas of Tuscany, Umbria, and
Lombardy, During the mid-1800s, the ltalisnate style was enthusiastically a&iﬂpmd for urban
rowhouse architecture and reached its zenith in the brownstone-fronted rowhouses of Nes
York Citv, characterized by ornate door and window designs. weighty ?:z cketed mﬁ:micee&:ﬂ
and high stoops with robust cast-iron stair rails 49

The survey documented ten ltalianate style buildings. nine of which are fi{;m’"*ze.,, the house

on VA Route 3 {031-0081-01 S; R47 Z. VA Route 2 (031-0081-022), High Bank (051-0123),
the Levi Ball House (051-0149), and the Winegar House (0310227 The now Lzbmuonw

Stoneham (‘rmzem Store {(51-€ 38 y on River Rowd also displavs the form and detailing «

the hahianate style

Figure 104; Breot House (2495812

¥ Carley, pn 143
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Despite being constructed in a rural area, the Hrent House mirrors the wrban ltalianate form
and detailing with its raised foundation, box-like form with cross gable roof, bracketed
overhanging eaves, and canted two-story bay.,  Commonly in rural communities, the
Italianate style became diluted, being expressed merely in form with wide overhanging
eaves that were sometimes embellished with brackets. The Levi Ball House provides a good
example of the vermnacular interpretation of the ltalianate style with a low-pitched hipped
root, L-shaped ;"wim and wide cormice. Due to its rural context, however, the house lacks
additional stylistic ormamentation.

Figure 105 Levi Ball House (851-814%

=econd Empire Stvie

The Second Empire stvie was another revival stvle introduced in the second half of the 19th
century and fasted unit] the mid-1880s. These buildings. whether rigidly symmetrical or
dcturesque in thelr asvmmmetry, are characterized by a steeply pitched mansard roofl often
with multicelored slates or imbricated metal. arched and pedimented windows, and Classical
details and moldings.

:\7:3

A single Second Empire-style building was located during the survey, not g surprising
statistic within such a rural community, Although altered, the Eubanks Hotel (249-3006)
provides an excellent example of a picturesque Second Empire building. Square in plan, the
two-and-a-half-story resource is covered with a recessed hipped roof of imbricated metal and
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crowned with a belfry. Segmentally arched windows, often employed in Second Empire
style architecture, prerce the plane of the brick walls. The roof is marked by low-pitched
hipped dormers, an ogee-molded comice, and brick corbelling

Fieore 1000 Eubanks Hotwd (249-5006)

Colonial Bevival Stvle

Following on the heels of America’s Centennial celebrations n 1870, the Colomal Revival
stvie enterged i the carly 18805, The style, which borrowed heavily from carly Amencan
architecture - particularly Georgian and Federal buildings - was largely an outgrowth of
new nationwide pride in the past and o rapidly growing interest in historic preservation. n
the early phase. the Coia‘;mi Revival stvle remained the ex 3 ssive domain of fashionable
architectural fioms and was favored for the large residences of wealthy chients. Designs
meorporated  characternistic iifmures; of Colonial bulldings. including Palladian windows,
gambrel roofs, pedimenied porticoes, columns, and {la sical detiling such as swags and
urns, and orisp white trim. This new building type was larger, however. than 115 histone
counterparts, with detatls alse enlarged and plans laid out on a grandiose scale. As the stvle
spread te more rural areas, it was more conservative in design and scale, and was often

applied o modest residences,

Within the survey area, twenty-six bulldings are associated with the Colonial Revival style.
Identifving features of the style commonly found include accentuated main entry doors,
symmetrically balanced facades, single and paired double-hung sash windows, and side



Historic Architectural Survey Report of Lancaster County, Virginia
Traceries with Historic Research & Planning Associates, 1997
Page 171

gable or gambrel roofs. Dictated by the number of properties to be included in the survey,
only eleven of the twenty-nine Colonial Revival style properties were domestic, Despite its

o

frequent use for domestic buildings, the swvle also lent fselfl well to commercial and
institional buildings such as banks, hotels, and post offices. In facy, three post offices. one
bank, one fire station, and four schools were identified stvlistically as Colonmal Revivall
{ther significant commercial archetvpes of the style are the Leland-Jones Store (051-0196),
the Northern Neck Mutual Fire Association of Virginia Building (031-02068). the
Rappahannock Record Building {249-3020%, and the MeGuiness Chevrolet Auto Showroom
9245.5021)

Figure 107, Kimaraock Fire Statipn (249-300%)

Stnufarty, the 1936 Kilmarnock Fire Siation {249-3003) has an ornate cornice with dentil

molding and returns, a Palladian window with semi-civcular arched lintel, round window
with keysones. and heavily molded casings with pedimented lintels. While the facade of

the fire station is laid in Flemish bond brick. the structural system of the building
primarity constructed of formed concrete blocks, a construction material that was
extremely popular in the 1920-1930s. Interestingly, this building was onginally erected as
a fish canning factory.

Notable residential examples include the house at 8300 VA Route 3 {(051-0081-013), the
Dobyn House (051-0100y, Irving’s Hill (031-0203), and Yerby Hotel (051-0150). The
resources are typically detailed with corbeled brick chimneys, <classically inspired door
surrounds, and symmetrical facades marked with a central entry and double-hung windows.



Historie Architecraral Survey Repont of Lancaster County, ¥Virgini
Traceries with Hiscoric Research & Plarming Associates, 1997
Page 172

The ceniral-pessage entry s commonty fanked with sidelights and covered by a front gabled
porticn supported by Tuscan columns,

The Dutch Coomal Revival style was emploved in Lancaster County at the Methodist
Parsonage t431-01913, The L-shaped building has a central-passage plan augmented by a
wrap-arcund porch and rear additions.  The domirating cross gambrel roof has a boxed
cornice, jerkinbead clipped ends, and opee-molded corice returns. Constructed in 1903, the
imposing dweiling was erected by the Irvington United Methodist Church (051-0192),

3
=]

Figure 10X Mebmdist Parsonage (0510191
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en Anne Btvle

Among the attractions generating considerable interest af the 1876 Centennial Exhibition in
Philadelphia were several English buildings designed in the Queen Anne stvle, which would
prove to be widely influential in America from the 18705 until the tum of the 20th century.
The stvle was identified with the Scottishe-born archizect Richard Morman Shaw and his
followers, whose domestic work in England was a tremendously free and eclectic hybrid of
forms drawn from a range of sources, including Classical, Tudor, and Flemish architecture.
Queen Anne stvle dismissed the impractical CGothic by emphasizing human scale and
domestic comforts.  Its facades showed a great variety, featuring projecting oriels, bay
windows., and odd rooflines. It was also rich in texture, with cut and molg jed §Wm}a terra-
cotta, and orpamental plaster. The open. asvmmetrical plan centered around a "great hall”
with an enormous fireplace and cozy butlt-in inglenooks.

It America. the style found an exuberant expression in wood, and freguently incorporated
Classical columus and decorative motifs borrowed from our own colonial architecture. The
(ucen Anne sivle was favored for everything from row houses to sprawling seaside retreats
whose designs frequently came from pattern books. Al were resplendent in patterne
shingles, spindies. brackets, and curlicue outouts: many boasted ample verandahs, turrets.
and sleeping porches ¥

Filtv-twe (Jucen Anne style resources were identified in the Lancaster County survey,
lent examples of the sivie are the
:'"h&r;}’@ o Hall (0510163, the
SE-0175% and the vwo Buss

making 1t the most popular stvie documented. Exce
Fronors Point House (0310005, Stevens House (05140
four Bellows houses (0310171, 0510172, 0510174, amd !
honses 5"‘**-2«';%:‘;2‘5 and 051-0202), The dominant stvle Imc;f-,;:mmiiy fent wself well w02
variety of bulding torms and uses. inchuding the Chesapeake Acadenye (03101933, the
Leonard Grocery (031-0170), the White Sione Beoch Hotel (03101380 and the cabins of

Wharton Grove (03 1-0087)

130 Carley, pp. 154-153,
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Figure 1% Captain Bissells House (831-8280)

Extremely asvmmetrical in form and mwwgm the Captain Josephus F. Buasells House on
fi’(?’\;;..‘us;‘,%s' Drive {051-0202) was construcied in 1896, This two-and-a-half-story wood
frame dwelling prm";dw an excellent example of the picturesque Cucen ’%.zm{: s;t.j.‘i::y
choracterized by irregular forms. decorative shingles. and lacy, decorative woodwork,
Typical Queen Anne features include thin tumed posts with elaborately carved brackets and
spindles. wnterior brick chimneyvs with decorative caps. seroll sawn bargeboard in the front
gables, and a steeply pitched cross gable roof. Likewise, the Bellows-Christopher House on
Geran Road f@:}w;i 75y with s cross gable roof emplovs o number of Queen Anne
characteriatics including the spindlework porch, Queen Anne chimpeys. patterned shingles,
and scroll sawn bargeboard.

The Queen Anne stvie was immensely popular in Lancaster County, as well a3 i rest of the
United 5States.  However, many of the Queen Anne buildings of Lancaster are more
restrained than the Queen Anne-atvle houses in more urban locations. In their attempts to
mimic the styie. often the irregular forms and asvinmetrical massing were lost. but many of
the technigues and details associated with the stvle romained. For example. Woodbine (031~
(3094} 13 a more restrained Queen Anne style house, The form i3 symmetrical - a nghaped
wood frame house with a porch. The detailing of the house, however, is pure Queen Anne
with canted projecting bays, sawn balusters, comice returny with dentil molding, and
chamfered posts with brackets.  Covehaven (051-0209) similarly has the I-house plan
commonly associated with rural communities with limited Queen Anne influences such as
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the wrap-around porch, corbeled interior chimneys, and 2/2 double-hung wood sash
windows,

Figure {1 Woodbine (851.0094)

Figure 111: Covehaven (051-020%)
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Classical Revival Sivie

The Classical Revival was based on the Neoclassical architecturs of 18th century France and
England. Popular in America between the 1890s and 1950s, the fashion favored the French
Neoclassieal, which provided a striking alternative to the ostentatious sculptural ornament
associated with the Beaux Arts style. By contrast, the style was subdued and dignified,
although often equally monumental in scale. Facades were markedly svmmetrical and
punctuated by rhythmic rows of columna, windows and entry doors. A grand two-story
portico often emphasized the centrality of the design.

Figure 112: Lapcaster Mational Bank (8518179

Eight such examples were identified in the survey of Lancaster County, none of which were
203N

domeste, These turn of the 20th century buildings include the US Post Oifice (03140
the Bernard Willing Brick Store (051.0204), the new Odd Fellows Hall (031-0194) the
White Stone Baptist Church (031-0128), and the Fridenstine Store (051-01101.

The most recognized example of the stvle is the Lancaster National Bank {(051-0179) on
Steamboat Road in Irvington. This historically significant bullding was constructed in 1917,
following a devastating fire that destroved the majority of 19th century resources in
Irvington. It stands one-and-s-hall-stories in height with a pedimented gable roof that is
supported at the facade by banded Tuscan posts, Additional detailing includes the wade
entablature, enclosed pediment with modillions, segmentally arched clongated window
openings, and semi-circular arched vent in the tympanum. The roof is marked by colored
shingles depicting the letters "LNB.”
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The Lancaster Coumty Courthouse, originally constructed in 1860-1861 as the fourth and
tinal courthouse for the county, historically did not have Classical Revival-stvle detailing.
The highly significant building was embellished with the full-height pediment and belfry in
1937, a pertod when such stylistic detatlings were commonly added to county courthouse
facilities as a pledge of allegiance to the past.  The imposing alterations dictate the
architectural stvle of the building today with the four equally spaced Tuscan colurans, wide
entablature, dentil molding, semi-circular arched fanlight in the tympanum. and omae lntel
with modillions on the main entry.

Figure 113 Lancaster County Courthouse (0531-0081-002)

Another of the excellent examples is the Farmer and Merchant's Bank and Trust (249-3004)
in Kilmarnock, Constructed between 1913 and 1920, the bank 15 prominently sited on the
corner of Main Street and Waverly Avenue. 1t Is virtually unaltercd. displayving a full-story
portico with Corinthian columns, wide entablature, enclosed pediment with unadored
tympanun, and ogee-molded boxed comice.
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The Craftsman/Bungalow style (1905-1930) was derived from the 19th century English Arts
and Crafls movement, where truth in ma*et;aﬁ% the decorative use of structural elements, and
the beauty of craftsmanship were the popular aesthetic. These principles were spread
throughout America with Gustav Stickley’s Craffsman magazine.  The O raflsman was
responsible for the widespread popularity of the Crafisman bungalow, a typically snug one-
an-a-half-story house with a wide overhanging roof. a deep, wide porch, and simple interiors
with buili-in amenities such as cupboards and cozy inglencoks.  Modest in scale and
constructed of readily available materials, the bungalow could be qumk%x and easily built.
After vears of popular revival styles, the Craftsman/Bungalow style provided America with
a domestic architecture style it could call its own,

5

Magazines led the way in introducing affordable housing to the new mobile consumers
Al Yzimg the most influential was Ladies Hose Jowrnal, which around 1900 pubiii}wd
destgns for small model homes - often in chalet and period stvles - complete with a plan
for prefabricated frames, specifications for fireproofing, and such novel conveniences as

i

electricity, plumbing. mJ 23S ranges.

Figure 114 Guesthouse at Kendall Hall (8531-0201)

Twelve of the properties identified in the Lancaster County survey are Bungalow/Crafisman
style buildings. The four domestic examples include the house at 8389 VA Route 3 (051~
0081-017), the house on Sage Hill Road (051-0104), the house at 395 Riverside Drive (051-
8162}, and the modest guesthouse at Kendall Hall (051-02013. Buildings of this style
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typically have low-pitched gable roofs, wide unenclosed overhanging caves, exposed roof
rafters, decorative false beams under the eaves, and full-width front porches with roofs
supported by tapered sguare columms set upon brick posts or tumned posts with square
balusters.

With the advent of the antomobile, a type of architecture appropriate for the service siation
eerged. With its deep porch that projected far in front of the main block of the building.
the bungalow was a natural choice for the service station. This form allowed for vehicular
circulation on both sides of the porch plers, as well as for a supporting building. Thres

xamples of Bungalow/Craftsman-style service siations/commercial stores with this form
were surveved:  the Otioman Gas Station on Route 604 (051-0114), the Store on Weems
Road (051-0143), and the Bellows and Squires Company Store (0531-0178).

Figure 115 Store on Weems Read (31318045

Additional Bungalow/Urafisman-stvie resources include the Whip Poor Will Huny Chib
{051-0132) on Route 6135, the Dogget Brothers 2 z?ﬁizzzg (05102300 the Lively Hum Club

(05102343, and the § gzzla;zzszer Uz’zi{m Viasonic Lodge MNumber 88 (249-5027% in Kilmamock.
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3

Spanish Colonial Revival

Spanish-inspired houses began appearing at the turn of the 20th century in the form of the
Mission swle, which reflected o loose adaptation of features often found on Spanish
Colonial mission buildings, including the shaped parapet and quatrefoil windows. In 1913,
the California-Pacific-Exposition opwﬂd in San Diego to inaugurate the Panama Canal. One
of the great stars of the fair was the California pavilion. 8 romantic, slightly exotic building
designed in a freely interpreted Spanish colonial style by the fashionable architect Bertram
Grosvenor Goodhue (1869-1924). Both the exposition and Goodhue did much o promote
this more academic and sophisticared interpretation, which borrowed from a broad
vocabulary of Moorish, Byzantine, and Renaissance detailing, often based on acwal
prototvpes in Spain. In vogue into the 19305, the Spanish Revival was found primarily in
buaiﬁas&éjSE Uslifornia - where is was a stvle of cholee for Hollvwood stars - and fashionable
Florida resorts.

The style s characterized by the low-pitched roof, usually with lttle or no eave overhang,
and red rile reof coverings. Typieally there are one or more prominent arches placed ahove
the mam entry or principal window openings on the facade, Wall surfaces are traditionally
stucco with asvmmetrical arrangements, particularly on the facade.

was documented during the mrk»}’
¢ oestate 19 located on Route 200,

A single property - Rendall Hzi' (5102
stvhistically as Spanish Colonial Revival, ”??
the bridge at the Eastern Branch of Carter’s Creek. The main dwelling is distingui
the f’s:zzzz'--:f«'ior*‘ bell tower, covered by a fow- pzts ed hipped roofl The upper stories of the
tower are pwreed by semi-circudar arched and square openings without window sashes,
Typical & Hu res of the style detatling the dwelling are the loggia. omate bntel over the main
eniry door, porte cochere. and regularly laid straight barrel mission tiles.
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Figure 116 Kendall Hall (8310200

ists of a freestanding bell tower and guesthouse, both in the Spanish
and numerous docks.

The property cor
Colonial Revival sivle. a Crafisman style guesthouse, boathouse
Amongst the landscapec steps and mature §

totem poles constnunted of wood.

N

i

alinge are three painsed

gardens with cascading
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Tuder Revival

The high-stvle Tudor Revival stvle of the fate 19th and ecarly 20th centuries was derived
primarily from English Renaissance buildings of the 16th and 17th centuries, including those
of the Elizabethan and Jacobean periods. These rambling, asvmmetrically-massed mansions
typically featured steeply pitched gables, decorative - rather than structural - half-
umbering, and long rows of casermnent windows. By the early Z0th century, the Tudor
Revival style was adapted to the middie-class suburban house and evenmally became
especiallv popular for the affordable small houses of the 1920s and 19505,

Only one Tudor Revival-stvle resource was documented during the survey of Lancasier -
County. This dwelling -~ the house on Route 3 {031-0081-014} in the Lancaster Court
House Historie Z}iairiﬁt - exhibits a steeply pitched multi-gabled roof and prominent brick

chimney on the facade,

Art Deco

ifion

The term “Art Deco” derives from the title of 2 1928 Paris design fair, called the Espos
Internuiionale des Aris Decoratifs of Irdustricls Modernes. where numersus rooms in the
stvie were on fjispizzv Art Deco had begun to appear n Burope before World War L Bowas
a curtous blend of Modermsm. histery, and fantasy, influenced by the speed-infused
acsthetie of the Talian Futurists and the mystical images of Halian Futurists and the myvsueal
wnages of T‘«’f;z‘um s&:;:s}'riaz'h and Moorish culiures. These, in turn, were expressed by the
richest of mureriads: marble. colored terrazro, chrome, and ehony.

Adopted in America primarily in the 1930s the An Deco styie was seldom used for single-
farnily houses, but reached 15 apogee in New York, Los Angeles. and ‘»’%mzz p:zmazzi i
apartment butldings and ey skyscrapers. s’s% ch seemed best suited (o this style of applied.
concentrated decorations. The style is noted for its smouoth wall '-‘12£§ wes, wsually clad with
stycen. zigzags. cheveons. and other stylized and geometric motfs.!

YR Cartey, p. 228,
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Figure 117 Marks amd Sullivan Department Store (249-3002)

Only two resources i Lancaster County were found 1o stylistically be associated with the
Art Deco stvle. the Marks and Sullivan Department Store (249-3002) and the Movie Theater
at 390 Imvington Road (03 1-0223),

The Morks and Sullivan Department Store. dating from the early 19405, is a two-story
commercial bulding on the comer of Irvingion Road and Main Street in Kilmamock., The
brick building has a stepped parapet. paired window openings. and canted double-wide
entry. The soft-front first story is made up of ribbons of show windows capped by fronted
glass transoms. The bases and lntels of the window openings are edged with applied black
“yitrolite,”
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Other Sivies

The building tvpes that did not conform to a particular stvle were designated as "Other”
This occurred twenty-three times in the survey area and largely included commercial and
industrial vernacular buildin g such as the Irvington Packing Company {051-0229), the
Winegar's Marine Railway (051-0226), Mill's County Store (031-0097), and Baii’g Mill
(031-0072). Most of the domestic e ampf**@ and several of the commercial buildings like
the Fairfax Theater (249-3026), did not conform to any style because the original structare
hadd been severely altered, losing or obscuring the original forms and demails. A few of the
houses. including the houses on Route 688 (051-0091) and Route 5 (031-0081-019 and 031~
D081-018), were modest dwellings constructed for the working class. In these instances. the
lack of w‘m-igzz-- and grand form. allowed for quick inexpensive construction using readiiy-
avatlable materials.
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RESEARCH DESIGN

Ohbjectives

The goal of the survey project was o gather and evaluate information sbout the historic
properiies and their resources in an effort o more fully comprehend and support their
contribution o Lancaster Countv's heritage.  The project was intended to: 1) svnthesize and
complete documentation of previously identified historic properties into a computerized database
format; 23 col %f*cz additional information on and SUrVEY prev tously unidentified or unevaluated
historic properties and potential Euvim ¢ districts; :md 3 heighten public awareness about historic
resources i Lancaster County 1o encourage citizens’ ag;pnuaimn of their history,

Scope 1f Work
The project was ovganized into basic tasks

i the survey and documentation azpp*mmmzs fv 208 historic resources - 193 to the
reconnaissance-level and fifeen 1o the intensive-level: and

3 the identtfication of potential historic districts and individual eligible properties
for listing on the Virgima Landmarks Register and the National Register of
Historie Pleces. Individual propentios were determined to be eligible following an
mtensive-level survey, while potential historic districts were evaluated by the
completion of a Preliminary Information Form (PIFYL

3t the research and documentation of the historie context of the county, indicating
the perieds and arcas of significance based on the eighteen themes established by
DHR. The Survey Beport includes the historie contest, overview oi development.
survey findings, and recommendations regarding further study of any. or all. of
the resources or DHR themes retaining significance and integrity within the
historic context.

:
1“:"
tduz

Methadotogy

Approach

Traceries approached this project as a coordinated effort of experienced professional architectural
historians working with the Department of Community Planning, Housing and Development and
the Virginia Department of Historie Resources (VDHR) in an effort 1o produce a cost effective
survey that would meet VDHR's high standards, as well as provide information needed to
Lancaster County, This was accomplished by working closely with Lancaster County and s
representatives o identify important architectural resources; by taking full advantage of the
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Integrated Preservation Software Database (IPS) to document and analvze historic properties; by
understanding the history and geography to ensure that selected cultural resources accurately
iHustrate the County's historic context through the best-preserved and least-altered examples as
subsumed under VDHR's eighteen historic context themes; by utilizing vears of sound survey
experience to ensure an efficient effort; by emploving a management methodology that is

designed to result in an on-time performance; and by maximizing the potential of an experienced
statf.

To achieve the desired products, Traceries organized a team with the credentials. skills, and
successful experfence to do the work, The team was composed of four members: a Project
Manager/Senior Architectural Histortan and three Architectural Historian/Surveyors.  The
Project  Manager/Senior  Architectural  Historisn,  working  at Traceries, managed  the
administration of the survey project. directed the tasks and was responsible for preparing the
historic context and survey fepam. She also functioned as the primary architectural historian,
working with the team to evaluate the resources based on the historic context and preparing the
recommendations for further work or listing on the National Register. The Architectural
Historian of Traceries was responsible for conducting the intensive-level surveys in conjunction
with the Profect Manager. and the forty additional reconnaissance-level surveys,  Additonally.
she was required to conduct the primary and secondary research for the historic context and
survey findings, and  manage the '?nf'f,mmztiun an previeusly recorded resources - synthesizing
and consolidating information. undertaking data entry, locating the properties and resources. and
updating records as appropriate,

The firm of Historic Research & Planning  Assoclates, composed of two  Architectura
Historiana/Survevoers, was seheontracted by Traceries to conduet the 150 reconnaissance-level
survevs: research and documentution of the Preliminary Intormadon Form (PIF) for the notential
fis ’mm district, conduct the initial assessment of the propertes: and participate in the finad

shide presentation,

Basic o the mothodology was the detenmination of a eriteria for selecting prop:mie&; o be
surveved using VIHR "\&lﬂ’i*fdu historic themes and requirements, while meeting the needs of
Lancaster County, This was a team effort that allowed onesite decision-making. A system was
established to select properties for survey by synthesizing the VDHR standards. the eighteen
VIR historic context themes. the basic historic context outline. and VDHR contractual
requirements.  Next, a plan was developed for managing the information on the previously
recorded properties. for updating records as necessary, and for identifying and surveying 208
resources for survey at the Reconnaissance and Intensive Levels.

The recordation of the properties to VDHR standards ensured the successful completion of the
contract. Implementing the Survey Design, 193 resources were surveved to a Reconnaissance
Level with fifieen properties documented at the Intensive Level. All previously recorded
properties were located and information brought up to a standard equal 1o that employed for the
newly identified resources. Previously identified properties, including sites, objects, structures
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and buildings that retain significance cutside the scope of this survey project were entered into
IPS at a preliminary level,

Each Reconnaissance Level Survey Form recorded a single property. including its primary and
secondary resources. Each completed form for resources that contained a cont tributing primary
resource included a detailed physical deseription of that primary resource as well as a brief
deseription of the secondary resources on the property. It also included a brief evaluation of the
property as an entity, placing it in its local historical and architectural context. All forms were
accompanied by labeled. black-and-white photographs that document the resource. Tiw
photographic documentation included a range of two to five views, with an average of four vie

of the primary resource and a minimum of one photograph per wmm?mum secondary resource
or group of secondary resources if located close together. The photographs sufficiently illustrate
the architectural character of the primary resource: at least one photograph was 1aken at close
range. A simple site plan sketch of the property indicating the relationship berween primary and
secondary resources was cf}mgﬁéeieﬁ for each surveyed property. The site plans were prepared
nemtly in pencil on graph paper. The site plan sketch included the main road and any significant
wiural featres. A copy of the relevan section of the USGS fuadrangle map was subrmitted
with vach form,

hie
I

The Imensive Level Swrvey Form used for this level of survey requires complete and
comeprehensive coverage of individual resources. The survey process included a p%}azwi
examination on the interior and exwerior of the primary resource and its related secondary
resources. producing o detailed descoripion and evaluation of the property.  All forms were
aceompanied by labeled. black-and-white photographs that document the resource.  The
photograplue documentation included a range of ten or more views that adequ C&Ezﬁi}" de:‘wunw;w the
primary resource. any secondary resources, and the property's immediate and general setting or
context. Interior inspection. interior photos, and a matn Hloor plan of the properiy's primary
resource were also included. A simple site plan skeich of the property indicating the relationship
hetween primary and ww“zd‘z“ resources was completed for cach surveved property. The site
plans were prepared neatly in pencil on graph paper. The site plan sketeh included the muain roa
and anv significant natural features. A copy of the relevant section of the USGS map was
submitted with cach form.

o

Representative examples of cultural resources over {ifty vears were selected for recordation using
our understanding of the history of Lancaster County and related architecture.  With assistance
from the VDHR staff and the Historic Resources Commission of Luancaster County, survey
priorities were established. Efforts were made to identify the best-preserved and least-altored
examples of various resource types subsumed under the eighteen VDHR historic themes. Special
attention was paid to early outhuildings and structures, significant buildings in poor condition or
threatened by imminent destruction, resources related to ethnic minority cultures, pre-1860
resourees, including outbuildings and farm structures, previously surveyed properties that
warranted updated or additional information, and significant buildings that may be affected by
transportation network improvements {i.e. road or railroad construction).  All properties with
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,,,,,

future documeniation.

To summarize, Traceries and Historic Research & Planning Assoviates approached this project
with a commitment to understanding the historic context and development of modern Lancaster
County before we began the survey, with a sound background in IPS, with a thorough
understanding of VIHR'S survey requirements, with knowledge of Virginia architecture and its
refated resources, and with a commitment o preparing a survey that would take advantage of the
tafents and experience of our staff,
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Work Plan

Implementation of the proposed work was based on an incremental process as outlined in the
following ten task descriptions,

TABK I PROJECT ORGAMIZATION AND MANAGEMENT
TASK Z: SURVEY DESIGN

TASK 3: INITIAL PUBLIC PRESENTATION

TASK 4 SURVEY

TASK 3 IPs

TASK & EVALUATION OF PROPERTIES

TASK 7 ARCHITECTURAL SURVEY REPORT

TASK & PRELIMINARY INFORMATION FORM

TASK & PRODUCTS SUBMISSION

TASK I FINAL PUBLIC PRESENTATION

TASK b PROJECT ORGANIZATION AND MANAGEMENT

Projuct orgiuzation consisted of establishing o work schedule, coordinating the team members

Uihe County stafll establishing work assignments, arranging for the necessary materials o
undertake the work tasks, and maintaining the project schedule. The project manager functioned
as Haison belween the County, the E’?ep&rfmem of Historie Resources {(DHR), and the project
tearn. Acuvitios inchuded regular monitoring of the project’s progress. preparation of the mmzzi:i%
progress reperts, and attendance ol requived progress meenngs with the County and DH
FeDresenialives.

The preject was managed through a svstemy of wsh-ortented lerarchy, Incromental monitoring

wis eombined with midestone review mdicated as "Rosulis” Tor cach task Hsted in the Work plan.
The Monthis Progress Reports vecorded milestone completion for DHE review.

TASK 2:  SURVEY DESIGN

Prior to determining the appropriate survey design. all existing materials relevant to Lancaster
County contained within the DHR archives were reviewed.  Approximately eightv-seven (87)
Hles existed for County p ;c erties.  Other information reviewed included indices. topographic
maps. and unpublished survey reports, New materials archived at repositories at the county, state
and federal level were also studied,

The Coumty's planning staff was consulted regarding future development projects that affected
historic resources.  Documents, inchuding the local comprehensive plan, Virginia Department of
Transportation Six-Year Plan, and public wiility plans, were reviewed,
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The survey design began through consultation with the County and DHR staff to review the
previously gathered information regarding the eighty-seven existing property records archived at
DHR. Based on this review, a preliminary list of properties containing buildings wz&m the
detined period of significance for this survey was prepared. These propertics, located on USGS
maps, were considered priorities for re-survey.  Additionally, those properties ;dwzizws;‘i at a
county level thal bad not been surveved to VDHR standards were added to the list for inclusion
in the survey.

The actual on-site survey focused on those properties known to contain the best-preserved and
least-altered e.\:amgﬁﬂs {over fitty years of age) of various resources types subsumed only under
the foliowing eighteen DHR hisworic themes:

e’

Domestic;
HIL 'i“‘ka ‘Agriculture;

LI R S A B

{ommerce/ Trade:

6} Industrv/Processing/Extraction:
b Ethntoity/bmmigration:

8y Funerary:

93 i'%msi"??zzcaz?:"?’ aw/Political;

3 Health Care/Medicine;

andseape:

vitlitary/Defeng

3\ CEERTION, %ru

witlement Patterns:

STAHIN

'j Peehnology/ Engincening

3 Pransporation/Communication: and

4

Architecture/Community Planning.

MW,.

w3 ON L e

I
T

[,
Py
N

Those properties containing resources over fifty vears of nifioam

e afzdfw having
; Ang tor

E,,Ai._

3,.\
&
2%
PAY

€
association 1o the eighteen historic context themes were noted on ?
future survey documentation,

By consulting with the County's planning staff, the survey team was able to fully document the
properties potentially affected by future development projects. Documents. including the local
comprehensive plan. Virgima Department of Transportation Six-Year Plan, and public utility
plans, were reviewed,
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TASK 3: INITIAL PUBLIC PRESENTATION

During the mitial phase of the project, a public meeting was held to introduce the survey efforts
to interested Lancaster County officials, the Historic Resources Commission, members of the
Iocal historical association, residents and property owners, This general presentation introduced
the survey team, explained the survey effort and s history, addressed County and DHR
preservation goals and ;:vra:%mz,& the survey design, The presentation included shides that
Hustrated the DHE survey process, historie context themes. and the potential for protecting the
County's historic architectural PESOUTCES,

TASK 4: SURVEY

Implementation of the survey design was imtiated with organization and scheduling based on
routing. grouping of properties. weather conditions, and staffing availability, This work was
revised and updated throughout the survey effort

Upon completion of 2 survey fschcduﬁ x. the SULVEYOTS began the one-site survey work.  The
survevors followed the assigned rowes (selecting specific properties when necessary or focating
pre-selected properties) and initiated ma reconnaissance-level survey. Al work followed DHR
standards. and properies selected during the on-site survey met the publishod Survey Crueria
selected properties were documented to the reconnaissance or intensive level on the appropriate
VMR survey form. Buach property and its contributing resources were photographed on the
exterior and mterior where approprinte {and possitley, The photographs aken oresite were
ai&:“c?npcd as the survey progressed. Fach photograph was properly labeled and placed within
fabeled negative envelopes. Color shides were taken and labeled a3 appropriate throughout the
survey effort, Al information collected during this task was filed nte individual property file
tolders.

Surveyed areas that sppesred 1o have potential as historic districts were identified for addinonal
research. photographed to the standards of the Preliminary Information Forms. and docurented
with sh{ai maps. For those properties which were fifty vears or older. but not selected 1o be
surveyed. map coding was conducted.

Concurrent with the onesite survey, archival primary and secondary sources were researched of
ocal. state and federal repositories. A comprehensive b;’vizuuapm was developed.  As
information from the archival sources was gathered., it was sy nthesized with individual propernty
survey files, as well as collected for use in the development of the historic context stalement.,
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TABK &: iPs

Information collected during the on-site survey and recorded on the field forms was entered into
the VOHRAPS database. An IPS Property record was also prepared for each property previously
surveyed and on file at DHR archives, regardless of its association with the current survey.

As on-site and archival work was completed, the photographs and archival data were reviewed.
Each IPS property record were edited and expanded by the survevor responsible for the on-site
survey of the property. Each record were completed, reviewed and revised as appropriate.

At appropriazie intervals throughout the project, each IPS propeny record was reviewed {or
accuraey and consistency.  Upon review of the database and following corrections, frequency
reports and tabular reports were generated. These reports provided organized data for analvsis
and incorporation into the Architectural Survey Report. All requived reports were generated for
inciusion in the Architectural Survey Report.

TARK 6 EVALUATION OF PROPERTIES

Reports generated by IPS were analvzed and properties that were cwz'xzidzz'f::s:i potentially eligible
tor histing on the Virginia Landmark Register and the Natonal Register were evaluated within

the context of the entirety of the survey database. historic themes arzz‘j ?'z;s;zi‘}rw COneNt
TASK 7 ARCHITECTURAL SURVEY REPORT

This stwep consisted of assembling and synthestzing the az‘c%‘;ivzzi and on-site findings
preparation for drafling the ?mczi report and o meet submission requirements, One set of DHR
survey file envelopes was labeled by hand in ink and the appropriv 4;32"-6;“"ms‘;:mélii(m filed within
sach envele "*; ¢ for submission o VDHR. The labeled photographs and negatives were placed in
the appropriate emvelopes. The site and USGS maps. indicating the surveved propertics, were
nrepared. --&udﬁiﬂ;‘;i muateriais collected during the arehival research and or-site SUYRY PrOCess
were {iled within associated property files. One set of manila fike folders was labeled and filied
with the appropriaste documentation for submission o the county.  Documentation included
labeled photographs, focation snd site maps. IPS generated survey reports, and any other relevant
resgarch.

A finad report was prepared o conform with the DHR Guidelines for survey reports, The major
focus of this report was the nstoric context, which documented 2%36 history of the county from s
founding in 1651 o the present, The survey findings related all of the surveved propernes
associated with the relevant historic themes to the historic context discussion.  Hlustrations.
ncluding photographs. drawings. maps. tables, charts or other graphics were prepared. The
draft document was prepared for distribution to the County and DHR staff on April 1, 1997 and
then revised in accordance with their comments.
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TASK & PRELIMINARY INFORMATION FORM

The potential historic district of Irvington identified and photographed as part of the on-site
survey was researched and analyzed. Boundaries for the potential district were analyzed and
proposed based on the historic context of the community and justified by a Statement of
Significance. The draft was submitted to DHR for review.

TASK % PRODUCTS SUBMISSION

The survey data and z'»;mr"{s were exported for import into DHR's master database. Two diskettes

contaimng Lancaster County's survey data were prepared for submission — one for VDHR and
one for Lancaster County, A diskette holding a copy of the text of the Architectural Survey

Repurt in WordPerfect for Windows 6.1 was prepared. Two originals and ten bound copies of
the Architectural Survey Report were propared -- one for VDHR and one for Lancaster Caumy,

One sets of hard-copy survey forms. photographs, maps and other materials were prepared for

submission 1o DHR in suwrvey file envelopes.  The second bardecopy set of survey forms.

photegraphs. maps, and other materials were prepared for submission to the county in manila file

folders. One set of negatives was prepared for DHRL

TASK 1 FINAL PUBLIC PRESENTATION

Arthe completion of the survey, a 'izmi presentation was made o a selected official body in the
County. This presentation summarized the findings and yesponded 1o guestions and issues. In
addition, a presentation was made w0 ‘E : DHR Nattonal Register Evaluation Team focusing on
those iptensive-iovel propertics deemed potentally eligible for the National Register,
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Expected Results of the Barvey

As presented in VIHR's Request for Proposal (RFP-96-97-63 and defined in the contract, it was
expected that 190 resources would be surveyved to the Reconnaissance-Level and 18 properties
surveved at the Intenstve-Level. In addition to the survey, documentation was conducted for a
potental historie district, and appropriate recommendations were made to VDHR and Lancaster
County.

Through the implementation of the Survey Design, it was anticipated that the survey would
provide a comprehensive sampling of architecture and other resources related o the em%w:z
VDHR historic themes assigned t}}; VDHR, Given the heavy concentration of residental
buildings in Lancaster County, i1 was antivipated that the Domestic theme would be the bes
represented: in addition. it was anticipated that the freestanding single-family dwelling would be
the most prevalent type to be surveved,
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SURVEY FINDINGS

LANCASTER COUNTY DATABASE HOLIMNGS

The survey and documentation of properties in Lancaster County was completed to the
approved standards of the Virgimia Department of Historic Resources (VIDHR) The results

of the project survey are as fbllows:

One Hupdred and Ninetv-three {193) Properties Were Recorded fo the Heconnaissance
Level. Each Reconnaissance Level Survey Form recorded a single property, including

primary and secondary resources,

evaluated a3 Historic and fully surveyed 1o the
Reconnatssance Level Each form provided a detaled
physical description of the primary rescurce as well as
a brief description of the secondary resources on the
property, [t included a brief evaluation of the property,
placing it in #s local historical and  architectural
context,  Fach form was accompanied by labeled,
black-and-white photographs that adeguately document
the property’s resources.  Adeguate photographic

documentation included several views of the primary
resource and o mimimum of one photograph per
Bistoric secondary resource or group of secondary

resources  f they  were  lecated  close  together

Photographs tHustrated the architectural character of
the resource. with at least one photograph oken at
close range. A stmple stte plan sketeh of the property
indicating  the relationship  betwesn  primary  and
secondary resources was included for each surveved
property. The site plan sketeh indicated the muain road
and any significant natwral features such as creeks and
nvers. A copy of the relevant section of the county
base map was filed with cach form.
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An Additional Fifteen (15) Properties Were Recorded to the Intensive Level

= Fifteen {15} additional properties were evaluated as
Historic and fully surveved to the Intensive Level. The
Intensive Level Survey Form used for this level of
survey required complete and comprehensive coverage
of individual resources. The survey process included a
physical examination of the exterior of the primary
resource and its related secondary resources, producing
a detailed description and evaluation of the property.
fn all instances, a physical examination on the interior
of the primary resource was also included. Al forms
were  avcompanied by labeled.  black-and-white
photographs  that  document  the  resource. The
photographic documentation included a range of ten or
more views that adequately document the primary
resource. any secondary resources. and the property’s
immediate and general setting or context. For interior
inspections. interior photos and o main floor plan of the
property’s primary resource were also incladed, A
simple site plan sketch of the property indicating the
relationship between primary and secondary resuurces
was completed for each surveyved property. The siw
plans were prepared neatly in pencil on graph paper.
The site plan sketch included the main road and any
significant natwral features, A copy of the relevan

section of the USGS map was submitted with each
torm.
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U MMARY AND ANALYSIR OF SURVEY FINDINGS

Sumpmary

The VDHR-Integrated Preservation Software System (VDHR-IPS) is a computer system
developed by the National Park Service and customized to meet VDHR's computer needs
and destres.  VDHR-IPE containg an individual database for Lancaster County, created as
part of this survey project. This database contains a total of 270 records. only one of which
was determined to be non-historic. ’

Yarious computer-generated 1PS reports have been produced for this project, inchuding:

iy Inventory of All Properties by VDHR ID Number
2 Inventory of All Properties Alphabetically
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LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY:
INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY VDHR ID NUMBER



Page No. IPS [INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE) 0172171598
LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: THVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY ID#
Y¥DOHR Z& # FROPERTY NAME AUDRESS
051~ &&82 Belle Isle ¥ zide western end of
Route 683
851-0002 Belmont Sife
051-00403 Chownings Ferry Farm
051-0004 Christ Church Rte. 222 and State Ris,
Christ Episcopal Church 3
851 -000% Lancaster County Clerk’s Office ¥4 Rie.3
8581 -0007 Edgehil] Route 354 {River Road}
451-0008 Epping Foraest &77 Morattico Road
Forest (uarier . 877  Route 822
Up In the Forest
Forest Plantation
0510603 Farmville W oof Lively off VA
Fox Hi11 Plantalion te, 201
510012 Lancaster County Jail ¥4 Rte. 3

g51-0013

051-0014
051-0015
£51-0G16
4510617

051-0018
051-0019
0510020

081-0071
510022

g51-0035
051-0036
051 -0037

Lancaster County Courthouse

HMerry Point Ferry Farm 4553
Hidway 336
Mitchell House, John

Monaskaon

David
Jesse

Fox Plantation,
Bail Plantation,
Smithfield
Morattico Site
fak Hi1l Site

Qak%ﬁy
Towies ngse
Overseer’s Housse

St. Mary' s Whitechape]l

Sgéngt&r’s ﬁﬁasc Jz?ﬂ
Spinner’s Houss &1
Spring Hill »arm
Towies Point Site
Towie s House
Yarviltie

White Marsh United Methodist Church
ard Cemelery

gwdiay

illenback

£33 X &}

usenstown
Marston House
Litwalton House
Payne's Shop

Loerrotoman Archasological Site
Fort Site

Horwood House
Apple Grove

YA Rte, 3 naar
with Rie. 600

Junctiion

Merry Point Ferrvy Road
River Road (ﬁautg i84y
Route 774

Routs BZZ

NW of intersection of ¥4

Hiex 384 § 201

X
<>
e

Route 504

Y& RBte.811, 5E of VA
Rie. 504

Hary Ball Washingion
Highway {Route 3}

A4 mile 5FE of Rt.g2% &
Rt .682

Route 655

Route 354

Payne'z Shop Road off
Route 354

Hear the southern
terminus of VA Rite.222

Route 690
Route 614 (Devil’s
Bottom Road)

YEARBUTLT
1758
1750 c¢a
1804
1738
1743 £a
17701800
1780-1800
IR00-1825
1743 a
1860-1861
1787
1842

1805

7301750
17001725
17401741
1760-1725
1770-17590
1675174048
1745

1848

1750-1775%
1650 i

1820-1840
1800-1820

Dy e



Page Ho. 1PS (INTEGRATFD PRESERVATION SOFTWARE)
LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY ID¥
YOHR ID # PROPERTY HAME ADDRESS
D51-0038 Biscoe-Kenner Houss Route 625 near Route 3
051-0038 Hrown House “
051-0040 Crascent Cove Routes 804 and 731
Latiahan Housse
0R1-0041 Edgley and Cemelery Route 201
Downing House, Judge Samugl
McKennag House, Susan and Dickson
OR1-0042 Greenvale Farm Route 354, ¢ miles south
of Rie 201
O51-0043 House, Route 604
051-0044 Kirk Hall Windmiil Point Road
051-0046 Holyoak £24  Morattico Hoad
051-0047 Lawson Bay Farm Lawson Bay Farm Road
(51-0048 Levelfields State Routs 3
The Inn at Levelfields
0R1-G048% Lively Daks Routs 3
0%1-0050 Lovustville E. side SR 628, E. of
jct. w/SR 354
351-005%1 Helrose 854 Pinckardsville Road
051-0052 Lancaster Roller Mill Route 730 {Kamps Mill
Karps and Carters Will Road)
$51-0053 Muskettoe Point Farm Mosquite Point Road

U51-0654

051-0055
051 -0055
051-0057

051-0059

051-0060
051-0062
051-0063

051-0067
051-0068

051-0071
DR1-0072
051-0073
081-0074

051-007%

051-0077
(51-0078

Otiver Houss

Plain View 5ite

Ridgefieid Site

Riverzide 1268
Waterman®s Lotlage

Hiveredge

Lebanon HBaptist Church and Lemetery
Windsor Farm

Confederate Soldiers Monument

Job Larter’s Ordinary

Lancaster Tavern

Trintty Episcopal Church

Francis Feint Hotel

Crab Point

Morattico Baptist {hurch and
Cemetery

Hyars (reek Farm

Doggett House, Bishop Lyrus

Windmill Point Light
Ball's Hild
Beulszh
Blakemore

Pop Lastle

Dunaway Place
Ingleside

Mary Ball Washinglon
Highway {Roule 3}

Did Alrport Road

Intersection of Houlses
817 and 600

Route 3

YA Rie. 2

Y& Hiel3d

¥& Rie. 3

YA Bie, 3

{rab Point Road {RU.
559}

Morattico Church Boad

Mary Ball Washington
Highway {Routs 3}

Route 827 {Lhownings
Ferry Roag)

Fnd of S.R. 659 54 of
White Sione

Rt. B1B Southwsst of
Muttsville

gi/21/1958

YEARBUILT

TRRWE R

1800-181%
1770-1750
1844

1849

1871 CA
1F7G-1790
1830~ 1845
18571858

$870-1835
1855

18401850
{845

0-1800

177
4

T <

20 3

A
1

1780 <3

Rerad b Lo ¥
TRP0- 1830
x

P
X3
.0
[e)
2
fee]
e
L3

St
o
(P8
£
]
{2

1800 ¢a
1716 ©a
jgB7
1855
Bl a3
18401855

o ey



Page He. 3 IPS {INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE) 01/21/1998
LARCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY ID¥

YOHR 1D # PROPERTY HAME ADDRESS YEARBUILT
051-0079 Bitchell Placs SW side of Route 3 1880-1875
051 -0080 Tenant House Route 771 1840 <3
{51-0081 Lancaster Court House Historic Y& Rte. 3 at Langaster
District
0R1-0081-008 Woman®s (lub of Lancaster County YA Rte, 3 1806-1915
Christian Science Services
851-0081-007  Lancaster House ¥A Rie.3 1788 «ca
Mary Ball Washington Museum and
Library
051-0081-008 014 Post Office YA Rie. 3 1850 ca
Law Offices YA Rie.3
Steuart-Blakemore Genealogy Library
Butiding
05%1-0081-00% Giese Store and Residence 83432 VA Ris. 3 1800 ca
Courthouse Office Butlding
051-0081-011  House, 8324 VA Route 3 8364 VA Rie, 3 1839¢
51-0081-012 House, 8424 Y& Roube 2 8424 YA Rie. 3 18841900
051-0081-013  House, B300 VA Route 3 8300 VA Rte. 3 184C- 1850
051-0081-014  House, V& Roule 3 ¥4 Rie. 3 16401950
051-0081-01%  House, YA foute 2 ¥4 Ris., 3 18751890
051-0081-018 HMary Ball Washinglton Museum and ¥4 Rte. 3 1860 «¢a
Library Annex Building
$51-0081-017 Houss, 838% VYA Route 3 8388 ¥4 Rie. 18201935
O51-0D81-018  House, YA Route 3 ¥A Ris, 1820-1930
051-0081-819  House, YA RBoute 3 ¥4 Rie, 181 «¢a
051 -00R1-020  House, 8475 VA Route 847% VA Ris, 1850~ 1860

-
L33
3
23

GR1-0081-021  House, B433 VA Route
051 -00R1-022  House, 8471 YA Roule 3

[ RPN
fox]
T
L
ER]

3
3
3
3
YA Rie. 3 18081
8471 VA Rte. 3 1875-18%0
o
k4
i

051-0087 Shackleford House Site MW side of Route 3 at 1885~ 1885
Srook Yale

G51-0083 Greenfisid Greenfield Road/Rouls 1840 ¢z
650

(510084 White 5lone Methodist Church & Methodist Church Kpad 1872

Lemetery
0510085 Mitchell House, W.R. Meadowbrook Lane 18001815
Deep (resk House
051-0086 Meryy Point Ferry
051-0087 Wharton Grove Campground ¥harton Grove Road 1893
Neals Cottage

B51-0088 Bellwond Run Bridgs Route 3 1238

051 -00489 House, Route 688 Routs GBE

051-0020 House, Route 688 Route 6BE

(51-4091 House, Route 8BH Routs HEB 18901914

(51-00%2 House, Houls 617 Route 617 18701885

051-04483 Norwood Baptist Church and lemsiery Morzfiico {Rip 822} % 1887
Horwood Church rds

051-0094 Woodbine and Cemstery Routs 384 1880

051-008% Houss, Route 628 Hear Route 6286, on 18401880
Rappahannock River

051-6098 Lively Schoo? Route 3 1928

§51-0087 Hitl's Country Store Ridgefield Farm Read 1805-1920

0R1-BO9R Hampton Gardens Route 354 1800~ 1820

051-00%9 House, Bluffield Lane Bluffisld Lans 1820-1835%

051-0100 Dobyn House 75 Bluffield Lane 1827

e A T TSN C e e v v i an b -



Page No. 4 IPS {INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE) £1/21/19%98
LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY ID$

YOHE ID ¢ PROPERTY NAME ADDRESS YEARBUTLY
081-0101 flobyn Store Route 881, Just bsyond 1925-1935
Bluffield Lane
051-8102 Stonehan General Store Route 354 (River Road) 1B80-18988
$51-0183 Jacksonvillie Hupt Club Route 354 {River Road) 1BBD-189%
Boys’ School {Original Hame
Unknown}
051-0104 House, Zage Hi11 Road Sage Hill Road, off 19101920
Roulte 354
051-0105 New Mollusk School® Route 354 1930-1945
0510106 Hartswell Baplist Church Intersection of Route 1898
354 and Route 825
651-0167 House, Route 354 Route 354 1875-1880
gau1-8108 Corrotoman Church Route 354 and Ottoman 1805
Ferrvy Road
PE1-010% House, 1368 Ottoman Ferry Road 1389 Ottoman Ferry Road 18R -1905
nR1-0110 Fridenstine Store Ottoman Fervy Road 185G~ 1805
G51-0111 Waterview Farm 6§27 Palper Lane 1815-1830
Palmer House Route 604
a51-0112 Yankse Point Marina flak H111 Road 1%00-1818
DE1-4113 Level Grasn Intersection of Roulss 175G-1778
Hel avtf House G4 and 0%
31d Chitton Houss
051-0114 Gas ﬂt&t?ﬁﬁ Route 804 Route &04 {OLtoman Ferry 18B25-1%40
Road)
0514115 Qusensiown Farm Quesnstown Road 1880-1900
$51-01i6 gach and Sawdy Log loffages Low Shed Road 1925-1830
Cow Shed Cottages
051-0117 Farm, Route 822 Route 622 1870 188%
051-0118 Lee’s Love Cottags Fleet’s Bay Read {Route  1845-1850
8503
an1-0118 Boxleigh Fleets Bay Road {Roule 1830-1B50
* 6507
B51-0120 House, Pitmans fove Fieets Bay Head {Route 18451850
§50}
51-3121 Hubbard Store Intersection of Koute 3 1918-1820
Gunton-Lawson Store ang Route £398
Carter, Inc. Realtors, Jim and PFat
Rappahannock Bentals. inc.
Olde Virginia Gift Company
851-8122 Hubbard Houss, Or. B.H.E. Route 685 at Routs 3 PBGG- 1924
Hubbard and James Surety Bonds
Jffice
051-0123 High Bank ' High Bank Rgad 187%-18%0
(51-0124 Locust Grove House and Cemetery Cherry Point Drive {KL. 181G-1830
Mercer-Spriggs Cemetery 838}
051-012% Taft Fiszh Company Route 638 1812
051-0128 White Stong 0dd Fellows Lodge James Wharf Lane & 18901905
White Stone Church Hewtown Road
051-0127 House, Yopps Love Yopps Cove Road (8351850
§51-0128 White Stone Baptist Church & 517  Chesapeake Drive {Route 1879
Cemelery 65853
051-0129 Stevens House 530 Chesapeake Drive {RL. 15051920
695}

051-0130 White Stone Beach Hotel Beach Road {Rt. 839} 1890-1805
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Page Ho.

IPS [INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE)

61/21/19%8

LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY ID¥#
ADDRESS

YOHR 1D #

B30 39 200 S0 AR AL 0 W U W VR AR

¢51-0131
051-0132

051-0133
051-8134
051-013%
G51-0136

051-0137
081-0138
051-013%

051-0140
B51-0141
081-0142
051-0143
051-0144
G51-014%
051-0148
081-0147
0510148
B51-0148

051-0150
051-0151

051-0152
051-0153
053-0154

£1-0155

3

051-0156

051-0157
$51-0158

051-015%
g51-0180
051-0161
051-0162
081-0162
§51-0164
351-83165
B51-0166
g51-01e7

PROPERTY NAME

TR TN A 0 B R R Eotd =

AR Y

White Stone High SChool

Whip Poor Will Hunt Club

Hursi House
Coppedge House
Bondfiald
Holly Farm

House, Roule 822
House, Temlin Tracs
Public ¥iew

House, Route 548
Weoms &chool

House, 3940 Weems Rpad
Store, Weems Road
House, 3800 Weems Road
Houze, 3778 Weems Road
Long Lane Farm
Pedier's Lans

Townley

Townley Farm
Retirement

Ball House and Cemetary,

daswater Farm
g, Tabhs Creek
e, forner Yiew Hoad

Mapie Grove Baptist Church

Asbury United Methodist Church

House. Harpers Lreek

Burke's Place
Pleaxant Banks

House, 400 Block Riverﬁéde Orive
House, 3%5 Riverside Orive

Morattico Hall

House, 8400 Block Moratiico Road

House, Morattico fpad
Horgttico Store
Eubank House

Hopedals

Hopevale

Loy

WES

102%e

3840

3800
3778

27
i

[AS V)
Lk O

£ n
£

¥

[
Y
<N

255
40C
395

5400

Route 55% {Chesapeaks
Drive}

Beanss Road

Routs 815

Route 61%

Rehobeth Hoad

Route 200

Jessie Dupont Memoria]
Highway

Koute 522

Tomlin Trace

Route 3 {Mary Ball
Washington Highway)
floute 648 {Christ Church
Road!

Boute 222 and 014 Schond
Road

Wesms Road

Woems Road

Yeems Road

Weems Road

Long Lane Farm Road

Townigy Farm Hoad

Route %43 {Little Bay
Boad)
Route &07 {Good Luck
Foad}

Littie Bay Hoad
Little Bay Road {Route
843}

Edgewater Farm Drive

Rayport Lane

Corner Yiew Road

Windmitl Poinf Read (RY.
£95)

Windmiil Point Koad {Ri.
6451

Windmill Point Road {Ri.
6951

Windmill Point Read
{Route 895}

Burke s Lang off Rt

River Bluff Road
Riverside [rive
Riverside Drive
Riverside Irive

Moratiico Road {Rt. &22)

Morattico Road {Rt. 622}

Morattico Road (Rt. 522)

Beansg’s Rd. {RL.615},
epst of Ri. 201

A%

52
3
L

BE 8 % B B BB

YEARBUILY

B F TR W WA

1923
1820-1535

1780-1800
1730-1810
1820-1835
1501

1845-1860
1880- 1885
1848

1870-188%
5

18851500
182%-1940
18651500
1850-1810
1870-1850

1820-1%

{ad

S
X3
(31
—i

M
o0
~ad
e
s
s
fex]
L]
P

t

RO VN
PRV

W

RO

oS

[ 2 T
Lo 4

L0 48

i

PR I o T e B W
vt e s

2 5%

o
bew

e st e o
3 00 CO 0

£33 Lad 8Ty L8

00 &0 00 B
LD

s Bmed veed v

J SN

et
[ae)

%
e
(¥4

[ex]
3

oo

oo

,.,.,
(S

onann
(&2}

o1F H
1870

»
o]
o0
(&

1816-1830
180G-1818
1900-1910
110-1820
1900-1910
1800-1810
1870-1885
1801

1840-1855
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Page Ho. & IPS {INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE) B1/21/19%8
LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY ID#
YOHR 1D # ?RG?£§T¥ HANE ADDRESS YEARBUILY
051-0168 Liberty Sqaare House and Cemetery Baana;s Rd 3/4m. east 18401855
Bt.201
g51-016% Ring Farm Rgaie 846 west of Roule  IBOD-1815
f81-0170 Lepgnard Grocery, AH. 235 Rieamboat Road 1812
Newbill's Law Office, Frank 6.
Irvington Town Hall and Library
051-0171 Bellows-Humphrays Houze Ooran Road {RY. B46) 1904
051-017¢ Beilows House, William lLorenze Beran Road at Bald Fagle 1B%0-190%
Road
051-0173 Wooten House Route 848 {Dcran Road) 1810-1830
051-0174 Bellows House Goran Road at Poplar 18301805
Heok Cove Reoad
g81-0175 Bellows-Christopher House Qcran Road east of Route 18BG-1882
Bellows "Big® Houss 858
051-0176 fcran Farm Cardinal Lane 1B70-1875
051-0177 Apple Grove at Chass’s Cove Apple Grove Boulasvard 180G- 182G
451-0178 Bellows and Squires Uompany Store Ocran Hoad (Route 648} 1815-182%
at Scoit Reoad
DE1-017% Lancaster National Bank HW corner Steamboal Road 1818
and Les Cirgle
451-0180 Rilee House, J4.7. 381 Stesmbost Road 1B88G- 1850
Captains Choice
451-0181 Haydon Hall o4 Haydon Hatl Lans 1845 - 1855
051-0182 Buszeils-0Yiver House 1 Cedardale Lang 1886~ 18595
0510183 Cedardale 74 Cedardale Lang 1B7L- 1885
Turner House, Captain Jlohn W.
851-0184 Brewington 257  The Lane 1870- 1880
G51-0185 Sanders House 0% Windmill Point Road 1854
Saunders House
Mclaig House
0E1-0188 Wilder’s Grant Steamboat Road 1730-1745
851-0187 Busseils House, Laptain 104 Steamboat Road 189G-1810
0%1-0188 House, 411 King Carter Road 411 King Carter Road 1905-191%
51-G18% House. 1% Mad Lalf Lane 12 #Mad Calf Lane 1845~ 1950
GR1-0190 The Tides Inn King Carter Drive 1847
4651-01%1 Methodist Parsonage Route 200 1803
The Dandelion Shop,
0510192 Irvingion United Methodizt Church King Carter Read {Routs 188%
. and Cemelery 534}
351-0193 Irvington Baptist Church and King Carter Read {Route 1881
Cemetery 534}
451-01%4 Gdd Fellows Hall Irvington Hoad at ¥ing 1813-191%
Irvington Lodge Carter Road
051-019% Chesapsake Academy King Carter Road at 1890
Acadenmy Hall Tavern Road
Irvington High School
King Carter inn
Hope and Glory Imn
g51-0198 Leland-Jones Slore King Carter Road 1893
The Calico House
381-0197 Hoffman House 818  King Carter Road 1890- 1885
Treetops
051-0198 The Glebe Route 200 18451860
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Page No. 7 TIPS {INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE} B1/21/15498
LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY ID#
YOHR Ei} # PROPERTY NAME ADDRESS %’EﬁARBBELT
051~ 019? T.d. Haydon and Saa Stara 245  Sipamboat Road 1805
Irvington Haberdashery Company
451-0200 Flowering Fiselds House and Cemetary Flowering Fields Lane 17%0  ra
081-0201 Kendall Hall RL. 200 west of bridge 1825-192%
at Eastern Branch
051-0202 Bussells House, Captain Jusephus F. Creskview Orive 1896
Messick House ®
Irving House
Ruzt ¥ictorian
051-0203 Irving's Hill Rappahannock Rpad 1875-1890
Enon Hall |
051-0204 ¥illing Store, Bernard L. {Brick}! 302 Steanboat Road 1817
3?&&Q§ Dehnert, Clarke & lompany,
A
0%1-320% 4.5, Poast OFfice Steambeoat Road 1917-1920
01d Post Office Art Gallery
051-0206 Horthern Meck Mutuz! Firs 293 Steamboat Read 19181919
Assactation of Va.
Hubbard, Bresden and Terry Law
Offices
051-0207 Ké‘%fng House, Thomas .. 277 ASteamboat Road 1870~ 1880
g51-3208 Witling Store, Bernard L. {Frame} 26%  Steambpat Road 15803
051-0209 Lovehaven The Lane 1884
051-0210 Messick House and Lemetery, Gegrge King Carter Road 1840-18540
W,
Totten House
05:1-0211 Dameron Seafood 4165 Weems Hoad 1830-1960
Cornwell Seafood Company
Tides Boat Works
ag1-0212 %d&pahannOCK Maring Hailway 25 Shipyard Lang 1885-1915
Brusiar’s Railway
Hux.h?évs Railway
ARPRG Zhipvard Company
051-0213 Waterview Farm |
Bay Hall
051-4214 Enon Hall Fnon Hall Read 1750-1775
(R1-0215 Cothurne Qyster Plant 556 Riverside Drive 1885
RCY Seafood
Gh1-0216 House, 371 Riverside Orive 371 Riverzide Drive 18801500
g51-0237 House, 453 Riverside Drive 453 Riverside Drive 18801900
g51-3218 Houss, 471 Riverside Orive 471 Riverzide Drive 18801800
051-021% ¥ethodist Parsonage 308  Riverside Drive 1888
081-0220 House, %2 Rivergide Orive 52 Riverside Drive 188G- 1800
051-0221 Queen Esther Baptist Church Western Branch Hoad (Rb. 1924
Coemelery 624}
051-0222 Corrotoman Cemplery River Road {Bouts 3%4) 1893
51-0223 Movig Theatre 390 Irvington Road (R, 200} 1930-194%
House of Music
051-0224 Bellows & Squires Stors Qoran Road 15051830
DR1-0225 Gcran School 1459 {cran Road 1818
Poplar Heck School
0510226 Winegar's Marine Railway 1005 Poplar Neck Road 1813
051-0227 Hinegar House « 918  Poplar Heck Road 1880- 1895
451-0228 01d 5t. John’s Cemstery falvery Read 1929
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IPS (INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTHWARE}
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LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY ID#

YOHR 1D #

PROPERTY NAME *

ADDRESS

YEARBUILY )

55 338 388 3% BB W B

051-022%
051-0230

051-0231
B51-0232
(51-0233
051-0224

051-0235%
051-0236
24%-3001

248-5001

£
E=3

9-5007

249-5018

245-5019

Irvington Packing Company, 1

Doggett Brothers Seafood
Warwick & Ashburn Seafnod
Horgan®s Seafood

U.5. Post OfFice, Weems
tdgehill Roller MY}

U.5. Post OFfice and Stors, Regina

Lively Hunt £iub

Edgely Cemetery
House, Seagull Point Road

New St. Johr’s Bapiist Church and

Comatary
Brent Houss, A,

Marks & 3uilivan Department Stors

Fubank % Brothers Store

Kitmarnock Drug Company Inc. Store
Farmey and Herchants Hank and Trust 3

Bank of Lancaster

American Standard Insurance

Eilmarnock Fire Station

Fubank Hotel
Standard Product
Grace Lhurch Ch
Chilton Houze
Kilmarnock Baptist Church
Cratle Hpuze

Company

Candy Store
HBonner Florist
4.5, Post OFfice
The Pedestal

Gffice
Advest Inc,

Store, 76-84 Main Stiresl, Soubh

Hospitality Larpels
Cablevision -
Kilmarnock Museum

Store, 49-51 Hain Birset, South

Northern Heck TY

Barber Shop

Ford Car Dealership

kids Lloset Inc,

Hain Streel GIfLy Company
Barbershop

A11 Seasons Travel

apel and Cemmtery

B
Dr. ¥W.H. Lowe’s Drug Store and

3860
3087
20
LOB00
10800

125%
75

303
37

63
it

43

31
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Beach Road
John’s Meck Road

Weems Road

River Road

Fegina Road
fourthouse Road
Route 600

Houte 201

Seagqull Point Road
Poute 3

South Main Sirest {Route
3}

S, Main Streef {Route 3
at Route Z00)

HE corner of 3. Main and
£, Church sis

South Main Strest {Route
3}

Foute 200 {fast Church
Sireet)

Foyte 200 {Last Church
Street}

South Main Street

Fast Church Strest

Fast Chuyrch Strest

Horth Main Street {Route
3

Waveriy Avenus {Roule
6083

Koblett Lana, SE
intersection w/RL.2DD

Church Strest

. Main Sireet

7

L

. Main Street

S. Main Strest

Strset

(2]
x
L2
=3

5. Mzin Strest

$. Main Sireet

1800-1915
1570-1927

18201930
1920
1809
1920-18925
1885
1870-18580
1823
1830-1815
19401845
1812

1815-1820

1636
1912
1852
1890-1910
1509
18741884

16421848

1925-1940

19251935

1515-1830
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LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY ID#

YOHR 1D #
249-5020
249-5071

249-502¢
24%-5023
249-5024

PROPERTY HAME

R 508 % B T B B VR ARG 500 VU R R 0 00 026 9O 0 e 8 R N W

Rappahannock Record Building
T.0. MeGuiness Chevrolet
Hoblett Furniture Siors
House, Church Sirest

House, 58 Church Sirset

Hehi Botiling Plant

W.R., Keyser Ltd

Shoe Repair Shop

House, 240 Main 5treet, South
.0, Nickerson Dental Office
Fairfax Theatre

Sports Lfenire

Lancaster Unmion Mazonic Lodge No.

8¢

270 RECORDS IN THIS REPORY

01/21/15%8

ADDRESS YEARBUILT

27 N. Main Street 1916

35 Main Strest, South 1928
Church Strest 1884

58 Church Strest 1505-181%

a4 Church Strest 1920~1835

240§, Main Street 19405

50 Main Sirsetl 1928

45 N, Main Street 1924
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LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY NAME

YOHR 1D # PROPERTY HAME ADDRESS YEARBUILY

051-0037 Apple Grove Route 14 {Devil’s 1800-1820
Bottom Road)

051-0177 Apple Grove at Thase’s Love Apple Brove Boulevard 1800-1820

ORI-0187 Ashury United Methodist Church Windmill Point Road {RY. 1885-181%
595}

051-014% Ball Houss and Cemetery, Levi foute 807 {Good Luck 1875-1885
Road}

GRI-GO72 Ball’s Mill 1806 ca

24%-5018 Barbarshop 4. Main Street 1818-1930

A171 Seasons Travel

451-0061 Balle Isis SW side western end of 1758
Route 583

081-0324 Bellows & Sguires Store fcran Road 1965192

§51-0178 Bellows and Sguires Company Store Ocran Road {Route 846} 1915-182%
at Scott Road .

051-0174 Bellows House Ooran Road at Poplar 1850-1905
Neck Cove Road

851-0172 Bellows Houss, WilPiam Lovenzo Ocran Road at Bald Fagle 183C-180%
Road

051-0175% §e§§cw~w?hriftcgfar House Ocran Boad sast of Houle 1H2C-188%

Bellows "Big® Houss §58

851-0171 Bellows-~ ﬁu?gﬁ“év; Houss Ocran Road {Rt, 846 1404

051-0088 Beliwood Run Bridys Route 3 1835

051-0062 Belmont Site 178 £3

0E1-0073 Beulah 1716 ca

g51-002¢8 Bewdlsy 17801775

0%1-0038 Bizcoe-Kanner Houss Route 625 near Routs 354 1800-181%

051-0074 Blakemore Route 827 {Chownings 1887
Ferry Road)

351-0138 Bondfield Boute 200 1BZ0-1B35

851-011% Boxleigh Flests Bay Read {Route 1831850
5503

2455001 Brent MHouss, AL South Main Street {Route 18%0-1815
3}

24%-5012 Brent House, Jamsx Moblstt Lane, SE 1865

$51-0184
051-003%
051-0188
B51-0187
51-0262

051-0182
249-50113

051-0183
24%-3011
0%1-0195

Brewington
Brown House
Burke’s Place
Bussells House, Cap
Buszells Houss, Lap
Messick Houss
irving House

Rust ¥Yictorian
Busselis-Oliver House
Landy Store

Bonner Florist
Tedardals

Turner Houss, Laptain John W

Chase Manor

Chesapeake Academy
fcademy Hall
Irvington High Schoo!

interssction w/RL, 200
The Lane

Burke's Lane of f Rt. 8%%

Steamboal Road
Creekvisw [rive

Codardale Lane
Church Strest

{edardale Lane

Waverly Avenus {Route
508}

King Larier Road at
Tavern Road

ot f03

T LR
i i

Seent et
x {0

o -
[t v es]

LR e

[

18801855
1910-192%

1870-188%

18471844



Page No. 2 IPS {INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE} 01/21/19%8
LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES 8Y NAME

YOHR ID & PROPERTY MAME ADDIRESS
King Carter Inn
Hope and Glory Inn
2495008 Chilton House 37 Fagt Church Birest
0%1-0003 Chownings Ferry Farw
§51-0004 Christ Church Rtg, 222 and 3tale Rie,
Christ Episcopal Church 3
051-0215 Colhurne Oyster Plant 556 Riverside Drive
RCY Seafopd
051-00582 Confederate Soidiers Monument ¥4 Rie. 3
051-0134 Coppedge House * Rehobeth Road
051-0034 Corrotoman Archasplogical Site Hear the southern
terminug of YA Rie 282
a51-0222 Corrotoman Cemetery River Road {Rouls 354}
051-0108 Corrotoman Church Route 254 and Oitoman
Ferry Road
051-0209 Covehaven The Lang
249-5010 Cratle Houss 78 Horth Main Sireet [Houls
33
051-0040 Crescent Cove Rrutéa 504 and 731
{allahan House
051-0211 Oameron Seafood 4165 Weems Hoad

Cornwell Seafood Company
Tides ﬁaa? Works

{51-0100 Dobyr House 75 Biuffield Lane
051-03101 Dobyn Store Routs &B1, just bevond
Bluffield Lane
051-0230 Doggett Brothers Seafood John's Neck Road
Warwick & Ashburn Seafood
Morgan®s Seafond
051-0068 Doggett House, Bishop Lyrus Mary Ball Hashinglion
Highway [Route 3}
265-5015 Dr. W.H. Lows's Orug Store and 46 §. Main Zirsetl
OFfice *
Advest Ing.
0510077 Dunaway Plage
(51-0007 Edgehill Royte 354 {River Road)
051-0232 Edgenill Reller Miil 3087 River Road
051-02235 Fdgely Cemetary Boute 201
051-0152 Edgewater Farm Edgewater Farm Drive
451-0041 tdgley and Cemelary Route 201
Downing House, Judge Samuel
McKenna Houee, Suzan and Dickson
051-0214 Enon Hall Enon Hall Road
351-0008 Epping Forsst 677  Morattico Hoad
Forest Quarter 677 Bopute BEZ
Up In the Forast
Forest Plantation
249-5003 Eubank & Brothers Store NE corney of &, Main and
Kilmarnock Orug Company Inc. Slore E. Church sts
249-5005 Eubank Hotgl Route 200 {fast Church
Standard Products Company Streel}
g%1-0167 Eubank House Beane’s Rd. {RL.815},
Hopedale gast of KL, 201

Hopevale

YEARBUILT

frdeatogodeaten g

1850-1810
1804
1735

188%
1872
1790-1810
178G-1728

1892
1805

127
15251535
19201927

1756-1775
1780-1800

e oo et I v N
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Page Ho.

3

IPS {INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE]

01/21/1998

LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY NAME
YOHR 1D #

$362% 355 05 MR AN WY TR 3B 5 SR AN

2449-5026
451-0117
249-5004
851 -0009
0510200
249-5018
4%1-0035
051-0065

051-0110
05:-0114

651-008]

249-5007
051-0083

051-0042

651-0098
051-0106
0510181
051-0123
051-0197

51-0136

b

0510046
(51-0184
051-3309

24%-5025

051-0216
051-014%
(51-0144
§51-8142
G51-016d
g5i-018l
(51-0188
051-0217
451-0218
051-0220
249-5023
051-0164

oR1-0081-013  House,
051-0081-017 House,
081-0081-011 Houss,

- 309

PROPERTY NAME
Fairfanghea%r&
Sports Cenire
Farm, Route 8§22

®

Farmer and Merchants Bank and Trust 3

Bank of Lancaster

American Standard Insurance
Farmville

Fox Hill Plantation

Flowering Fields House and Cemslery

Ford far Dealsrship

Kids Closet Ing.

Main Streel Rift Company
Fort 5ite

Francis Point Hotel

Crab Point

Fridensting Store

Gas Station, Route &04

Giese Store and Residence
Courthouse O0Ffice Building

Srace Lhurch Chapel and Cemelery
Greenfield

Greenvalie Farm .

Hampton Sardeny

Hartswe!l Baptist Church

Haydon Hall
High Bank
Hoffman House
Treetups
Holly Farm

, 12 Mad Dalf Lane

House, 138% Ottoman Ferry Road
House, 240 Main Stresi, South

M. 0. Nickerson Dental Office
House, 371 Riverside Drive
House, 3778 Yesms Road

House, 3800 Weems Road

House, 3940 Weems Road

House, 355 Riverside Drive
House, 400 Block Riverside Drive
House, 411 King Carter Road
House, 453 Riverzide Orive
Houze, 471 Riversids Drive
House, B2 Riverszide Drive

Houze, 58 Church 5irset

House, 5400 Block Morattico Road
8300 YA Route 3

B389 YA Roule 3

8394 YA Roule 3

X S AR T W WY SR 3

8

ADDRESS

&0

L3
Ea i)

S
Lo

Sn

Tl e et FY
EENE VN AN ¥e ]
T 43

ud

fald
~d
o

H

3778

(]
X
3
£

35940
385
400
411
453
471
52
58
5400
8300
84389
8394

B0 LW W W

Hain &trset

Route 622
Sputh Main Street (Route
3}

5W oof Lively off VA
Rte, 201

Flowering Fields Lane

5. Main Street

Crab Point Read {Rt.
559}

Ottoman Ferry Read

Route B804 {Dtitompan Fervy
Road)

¥A Rte, 3

h Main Street

Sout
Sreenfield Road/Routs
50

ey

-~

Route 354, 2 miles soulh
of Rie 201

Route 354

interssction of Route
354 and Houte 525

Haydon Hall Lane

High Bank Road

King Carter Road

5 Jessie Dupont Memorial

Highway

Morattico Road

Had Calf Lane
Gitoman Ferry Road
S. HMain Street

Riverside Drive
Weems Hoad

Weems Road

Weems Road
Rivarside Drive
Riverside Orive
¥ing lariter Rosd
Riverside Orive
Riverside Drive
Riverside Drive
Church Sireet
Horattico Road (Rt
¥4 Bie, 3

Y& Rie. 3

¥4 Rie. 3

YEARBUILY

187¢-1885
1915-31820
18001825

1780 ca
16251935

18%4-1885
184901905
19251940
1200 ¢a
1852

1840 <3
1840

1804~ 1820
1855

1845%-185%
1875-18%0
1830-1895
1501

17701780
18451950
1820-1505
1508

1880-1500
18%3-1%9140
1885-19C0

1885-1800
181G-1920
120C-1810
1905-1815
1880- 1900
18801500
1880-1900
1605-1915
15001910
1940-1950
1920-1535
1850

en e NG SRR Y AR
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1PS (INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE)

$1/21/1598

LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY NAME

YOHR ID 4 PROPERTY HAME ADDRERS

051-0081-012 House, 8424 VA Roule 3 £424 VA Ris. 3

051-D081-020 House, B425 YA Route 3 B42% YA Rte. 3

051-00B1-021 House, 8433 VA Route 3 8433 YA Rie. 3

051-0081-022 House, 8471 VA Route 3 B471 YA Rte, 3

3510089 Houyse, Bluffield Lane Rluffield lLane

248-5022 Houze, Church Sireel Church Street

(351-0154 House, Corner ¥iew Road Corner VYiew Rpad

g51-0158 House, Harpers Creek Windmill Point Road
{Route BY5}

081-016% House, Morattico Road Morattico Road {Ri. 622}

051-0120 House, Pitmans Cove Fieeés Bay HRoad {Routs
550

451-0107 Houze, Route 3%4 Route 354

B51-0043 House, Route 604

g%1-0082 House, Route 817 Route 817

051-0137 House, Roule 622 . Route 822

O51-00%5 House, Roule 826 Hear foute 625, on
fappahannock River

051-0140 House, Rouls 846 Route 648 {Christ Church
Road)

051 -4083 House, Route 688 Route 088

051 -6091 House, Roule 688 Route £88

051 -00%0 House, Houle 888 Route o8B

g81-4104 House, Sage Hill Road Sage Hill Road, off
Foute 354

§51-0238 House, Seagull Point Road Seagull Point Road

0%1-0153 House, Tabbs Dreek Bayport Lane

0510138 House, Temlin Trace Tomlin Trace

g%1-0081-014  Houss, YA Route 3 YA Rie. 3

051-0081-015% House, YA Route 2 YA Rie. 3

051-0081-018  Houss, VA Route 3 Y& Rie. 3

081-0081-019 House, VA Route 3 YA Rie. 3

Ge1-0127 House, Yopps fove Yopps Cove Road

g51-0122

Hubbard House, Or.

g.H.

g,

Hubhard and James Surely Honds

YEARBUILT
1880-1800
18503- 1860
1906-1820
18751880
1920-1935
1884

1810-1830
1870-1885

1870-1885
1845-1860

1875-18%0

1840- 1860
18801835
19401959

1R75-1858
1RFL-1830
1416 oA

18351850

15890-1924

Dffice
g81-0121 Hubbard 3Store Intersection of Rpute 3 19181820
Dunten-Lawson Storse angd Route 698
farter, Inc. Realtgrs, Jim and Pal
Rappahannock Rentals. Inc.
0lde Virginia Gift Company
451-0133 Hurst Housze Route 615 1FRG- 1800
gn1-0078 ingleside Rt. 518 Southwast of 18401858
Nuttsville
§R1-0203 irving's Hill Rappahannock Road 18751890
Fron Hall |
Be1-0193 Irvington Bapiist Church and King Carter Rpad {Routs 1881
Lemelery 634}
pE1-022% irvington Packing Company, Inc. Beach Read 18001818
0%1-0182 Irvington United Hethodist Church King Carter Road {Route 18885
and Cemetery 534}
g%1-0103 Jackzonville Hunt Club Route 354 {River Road)] 1880~ 1885

Boys® School (Original Hame
Unknown}

e P AR A ARG ARG N ST
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Page Ne. B IPS {INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE} 0172171598
L ANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY HAME
YOHR 1D # PROPERTY HAME ADDRESS YEARBUILY
(810063 dob Carter’s Ordinary YA Rie.3 1780
Lancaster Tavern
051-0201 Kendall Hall Rt. 200 west of bridge 1925-1929
at Eastern Branch
24%-500%9 ¥ilmarnock Baptist Church 85 East Church Street 1808
2449-500% Kilmarnock Fire 3tation Route 200 [East Church 1936
Street)
051-0044 Kirk Hall @ Windmill Point Road 1871 za
O%1-0005 Lancaster County Clerk’s Office YA Rie.3 1741 <a
051-0013 Lancaster County Dourthouseg YA Bte. 3 aear Junction  1B80-1861
with Rie. 800
0510012 Lancaster County Jatl YA Rie. 3 1741 «¢a
g51-0081 Laﬁaaéter Court House Historic ¥4 Rbte. 3 at Lancaster
fstrict
051-0081-007  Lancaster House YA Rig, 3 iT8R ra
Mary Ball Yashington Museum and
Library
G51-0179 Lancaster National Bank N corner Steamboat Road 1518
and Lee Circle
3510052 Lancaster Roller Mill foute 780 {Kamps Mil] 1845
Kamps and Lartsrs Wil Road}
248-5027 Lancaster Union Masenic Lodge No. 48 N. Main Street 1924
88
g51-0047 Lawson Bay Farm Lawson Bay Farm Road 1830-1845
gE1-011s8 Leach and Sawdy Log Tottages Cow Shed Road 1B25-1930
Cow Shed Cottages
081-0059 Lebanan Baphist Church and Cemetery Intersection of Routes 1842
617 and 800
gE1-0138 Lee’s fove Lottage Fleet’s Bay Road {Routz  184%-1B&O0
A5O3
351-01%4 Leland-Jones Stores King Carter Road 1883
The Calico House
g81-017¢ Lecnard Orocery, ALHL 73%  Steamboat Road 1912
Hewhill's Law Office, Frank 4.
Irvington Town Hall and Library
pu1-01i3 Level Green interssction of Routes 175G-1770
Holarty House 604 and 603
%d Chilton House
051-0048 Lovelfislds State Route 3 1857 - 1854
The Inn at Levelfislids
051-0168 Liberty Square House ang Lemelery Beana’s Rd 3/4m. east IB40 - 1BhG
Rt.201
051-0234 Lively Hunt Club 10800 Courthouse Road 19201525
10800 Route BOU
(51-0049 Lively Oaks Route 3 1820-1835
0%1-3096 Lively School Route 3 14928
051-0124 Locust Grove House and Cemetlery Cherry Point Drive [RL. 1B10-1830
Kercer-Spriggs Cemetery 6383
051-0050 Locustville E. side 3R 625, E. of 1BE3
Jet. w/SR 3h4
081-0146 Long Lane Farm 327  lLong Lane Farm Read 18701880
Pedier’s Lane
051-01%¢6 Windmill Point Head (REL. 18981310

Haple Grove Baplist Church

635}
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Page Neo.

iP5 {INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE) 61/21/15998

LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY NAME

YDHR 1D #

382 385 3 BRI AW AW WY WY W W AR R

2455002
051-0031

051-0081-016

(510051
051-0088
(51-0014
081-0210

051-0191

051-0219
081-0015
051-0097
051-00298

851-0C16
051-008%

~§ R

e
0

AN

1007
1-00817

051-0068

g51-0163
gR1-0018
051-0166
051-0223

1-0053

1-0067
§-5024

051-0105
249-0001
051-0206

051-0083

g51-0036
g51-001%
051-0020

051-0176
051-0225

PROPERTY NAME Aﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁ YEARBUILY
Marks & Sullivan Department Stors 75 $ Hain ii?eet {Route 3 1940-1945%
at Route 200}

Marston Houss Routs 354 1830-1845

Litwalton House

Mary Ball Washingion Museum and YA Rle. 3 1960 ¢
Library Annex Building

Helross 854  Pinckardsville Read 1840-1850

HMerry Point Ferry

Merry Point Fervy Farm 4553 Hervy Point Ferry Koad 1767

Messick House and Cemefery, feorge King Carter Road 18401850
.

Totten House
Methodist Parsonage
The Dandelion Shop

Boute 200

Methodist Parsonage 30%  Riverside Drive

Midway 835  River Road {Houts 354}
Hil1’s Country Stare Ridgefield Farm Road
Millenbeck 4 mile 5E of RU.BER &

Bi.582
Mitchell House, John
Mitchell Houss, W.5.
Deep Lrack Houss

Meadowhropk Lane

Mitchell Placs @ SY side of Route 3

Monaskon Boute 774

Fox Plantation, David

Ball Plantalion, Jesse

Smithfisld

Morattico Baptizt Lhurch and Morattico Lhurch Road
Cemelery

Morattico Hall Riverside Orive
Morattico 3iie

Morattico Store

Movie Theatrs 384
House of Music

Musketios Point Farm

Morattico |
Irvington |

Pocit ]
a2 -7),:
R PN

4 (Rt
sad {(RL.

A3 X3

143
3

Mosouite Poini Road

HMyars Cresk Farm
Kehi Bottling Plant 44 Church 3treet
W.R. Keyser Lid
Shoe Repair %hop
Hew Mollusk School Bouts 354
New %t. John's Baptist Church and Route 3
Cometery
Morthern Neck Mutual Fire 283 Steamboal Road
Azzooiation of Ya.
Hubbard. Breeden and Terry Law
Offices ®
Horwood Baptist Church and Cemetlery Moratiico {Ris B22% &
Horwood Church rds
Horwood HMouse Route 580
{lak Hi11 3its
Dakley Route 827
Towles House
Srran Farm Lardingl Lans
fcran School 1458 Ocran Hoad

1802

1898
1847
140%-1823
186580 <z

1887

1820-1840
1805
1730-1750

1870-1875
1816

w7
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IPS {INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE)

01/21/1%58

LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY NAME

YOoHR 1D #

399 3% 35 25 IR MM WYY IR AR IR T

051-0184

05%1-0081-008

(51-0228
051-0054

051-0021
051-0033

081-0055
051-0160
$51-0075
251-0139
051-0221
351-0020

051-0115
351-0212

249-5020
051-0148

081-G056
0%1-0180

051-01568
051-0057

051-0185

051-015%
051-0082
051-0151
051-0023

051-0024
p51-0022

051-G129

v s A e an e e e s

PROPERTY HAME

TR B WD VR

Poplar Neck Schopt
Odd Fellows Hall
Irvington Lodge
01d Post OFfice
Law Offices

Sieuart-Blakemors Gensalogy Library

Building
01d st. John's Cemetary
Otiver Houss

Gversear’s House
Payne’s Shop
Plain View Site
Fleasant Banks
Pop Castie

Public View

Gueen Esther Baptist Church

Cemetery
fueenstown
Quesenstown Farm

Rappahannock Marine Railway

Brustar’s Railway
Humphrays Railway
MPRG Shipyard Company

fappahannock Record Building

Retirement

Ridgefield Site
Rilee House, 4.7,
Captains Lhoic
Ring Farm

Riverside
Waterman's Collage
Riveredge :
Sanders House
Saunders Houss
HcCatg House
3cnillinberg House

Shackleford House %its
Somerset

Spinster’s House 5ite
Spinner’s House Site
Spring Hill Farm

$t. Mary’s Whitechapsl

Stevens Houss

3
L9

§30

Boute 354

River Bluff Hos

Fnd of G.7. &85 SW of
White Stone

Route 3 {Mary Ball
Washington Highway)
Western Branch Road (RL.
£24}

Route 6R2

Quesnstown Road
Shipyard Lane

. HMain Strest
Routs 543 {Little Bay
Road}

Steamboat Road
ute 645 west of Roule

d Airpori Road
Windmill Point Road

Windmiil Point Head (KL,
64953

MW side of Route 3 at
Bropk Yale

Little Bay Road (Houts
435

Route &04

W of intersection of VA
Ries.3%4 § 201.

Chesapeake Orive {RL.
65957

ADDRESS YEARBUILT
Irvington Road at King 1913-1914
farter Road
YA Rie. 3 1850 ra
YA Rie.3d
Calvery Road 1929
Mary Hall Yashingion 1848
Highway {Route 3}

1760-172%

Payne’s Shop Road off 18G4

18001815
18558

o
:
18,’.3

170¢-172%

1770-1780
1745-1741

1905-1920

on AR
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LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY HAME

YOHR 1D # BROPERTY NAME
g51-0102 Stonsham Bensral Stors
244-5017 Store, 49-51 Hain Sireet, South
Northern Neck TV
Barber Shop
24%-5416 Store, 76-84 Main Street, South
Hospitality Carpets
Cablevision
Kilmarnock Musaum
051-03143 Store, Woems Road
249-5021 T.0. Mchuingss Chevrolel
Mobhlett Furniture Store
{451-0198 T.J. Hayden and Son Store
Irvington Haberdashery Company
051-8312% Taft rish Company
451 -0080 Tenant House
g51-0148 The Glebe
051-0150 The Tides Inn
51-0025 Towles Point 5Site
Towle’s House
QR1-0147 Townley
Townley Farm
0510064 Trinity Episcopal Church
051-020% 4.5, Post (ffice
01d Post Office Art Gallery
245-5014 U.%. Poszt Office
The Pedestal
051-0233
05n1-a23l 4.5, Bost Office, Yeems
051 -0026 ¥erviile
051-0111 Waterview Farm
Palmer House
051-0213 Waterview Farm |
Bay Hall
051-0141 Weems School
051-0087 Wharton Grove Campground
Heale Cottage
051-0132 Whip Poor Will Hunt [lub
051-0027
and Cemstery
051-4128 White Stone Baptist Church &
{Cematery
051-0130 White Stone Beach Hotel
051-0131 White Stone High School
4510084 White Stone Methodizt Church &
Cemetery
081-0126 White Stone Odd Fellows Lodge
White Stone Church,
g51-0186 ¥ilder’s Grant
451-0207 Willing House, Thomas J.

.5, Post Office and Store, Regina

White Marsh United Methodist Church

B R R SR

ADDRESS

YEARBUILY

R BB T T BB

4%

76~

Fo¥
By
£

hi?

277

Route 384 {River Hoad)
S. Hain Street

5. Main Strest

Weems Hoad
Main Street, South

Steamboat Road

Route 638
Route 771
Route 200
King larter Drive

Townley Farm Rpad

YA Ris. 3
Y& Big, 3
Steamboat Road

S. Main Street

Regina Road

Weems Road

¥4 Ris 611, SE of VA
Bie, 604

Palmer Lane

Route 604

Route 222 and (1d 3chond
Road
Wharton Grove Hoad

Beanes Road

Route 81%

Hary Ball Hashinglon
Highway {Route 3}
Chesapeake Orive {Route
8953

Beach Rpad {RL. 63%9)
Route 859 {Lhesapeske
Drive}

Hethodist Church Read

James Wharf Lans &
Newtnwn Road
Sipamboat Road
Steamboat Road

18801895
1925-1940

1925-1840

18925-1940
1848

1545
1812
1840 za
184518860
1647

1675-1700
18E5-188%

1854

p—
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]

s

o
3
N3
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W
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Snd Boead feand
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1870-1880

e S et i o e R A ST AN



Page Ho. 9 1PS {INTEGRATED PRESERVATION SOFTWARE) 01/21/18%8
LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: INVENTORY OF ALL PROPERTIES BY NAME

YOHR ID # PROPERTY HAME ADDRESS YEARBUILT
051-0204 Willing Store, Bernard L. {Brick) 308 Steamboat Road 1817
3raun§ %ﬁhnert, tlarke & Company,
051-0208 Willing Store, Bernard L. (Frame) 265 Steamboal Road 1803
0%1-0071 Windmill Point Light 1834 ra
8510080 Windsor Farm Route 3 1820-1830
081-0237 Winegar House 318 Poplar Neck Road 1BBO-1895
§51-0228 Winegar's Marine Ratlway 1005 Poplar Heck Read 1811
0%1-0081-006 Woman's Club of Lancaster {ounty VA Rie, 3 1800-1815
Christian Science Services
051-00%4 Yoodbineg and Lemetery Route 354 1830
g51-0173 Wooten House Route 646 {Dcran Read) 1810-1838
051-0112 Yankese Point Marind {ak Hi11 Road 1900-181%
(51-~-0150 Yerby Hotel 301%  Little Bay Road 19001805

270 RECORDS IN THIS REPORT
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Historic Architectural Survey Report of Lancaster County, Virginia
Traceries with Historie Research & Planning Associates, 1987
Page 204

Analysis of Survey Findings

Statistical information was derived from the survey findings by producing computer-
generated reports. These reports are designed to vield specific kinds of information for the
appropriate analysis of survey findings. Some of the information entered into the database is
factual, being based upon quantitative analysis: other information is valuative. and is based
upon Traceries’ understanding and evaluation of architectural and historical data collected
during the survey. The computer-gencrated reports represent both factual and valuative
assessments, and provide statistics on important trends and aspects of the built environment
of Lancaster County.

The following analvsis was prepared by architectural historians at Traceries and is based

upon a professional understanding of the historic properties and resources surveved. iaking
into consideration the needs and requirements of Lancaster County and VDHR.

® Identificarion of Properties

Each record in the database represents a property. that is a location defined by a perimete

measurement, such as a lot or parcel of land or a determined environmental setting. 17 Two
hundred and eight properties were identified and surveved during the course of this project.
These properties were identified in two ways: first. by using the property archives located at
the county level and af VDHR, second, through visual identification of primary resources
that were not indicated on the historic maps bui appeared 1o hold architectural significance
assoctated with the recent past.

GV . i N N . - . .o .. . . - R T
138 Seo Narionid Regisier Bulletin Number 164 How To Complete National Register Registrarion Farms tor a discussion
an determining property boundarizs,



Historic Architectural Survey Report of Lancaster County, ¥irginia
Traceries with Historie Research & Planning Associates. 1997
Page 201

B Cateoorizabion o jes

Fach property record was initiated with the determination of a property category for the
property as an entity. This categorization reflected the type of resource that was considered
to be the primary resource and the source of the property’s historicity. The five property
categortes are as follows: building, structure, site, district and object. The definitions used
are included in National Register Bullerin 13: How to Apply the National Register Criteriu
Jor Evaluation as follows:

Building: A building. such as a house, barn, church,
hotel, or similar construction, 15 created (o
shelter any form of human activity, "Building”
may also refor to an historically, functionally
related unit, such as a courthouse and jail or a
house and barn,

District: A district possesses a significant concentration.
linkage, or continuity of sites, buildings.
structures. or objects untted lustonically or
gesthetically by plan or physical development.

Sites A site is the location of a significant event. a
prehistoric or historic occupation or activity. or
a building or structure. whether standing.
ruined, or vanished, when the location iself
possesses  historic, cultural. or archeological
value regardless of the value of any existing
structure,

Structure:  The term “structure” is used to distinguish from
buildings those functionsl constructions made
usually for purposes other than creating human
shelter,

Object: The term “object” is used to distinguish
between  buildings  and  stuctures  those
congtructions  that are primarily artistic in
pnature or are relatively small in scale and
simply constructed.  Although it may be. by
nature and design, movable. it is associated
with a specific setting or environment, such as
statuary in a designed landscape.
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In Virginia, it iy anticipated that a property will include at least one resource, usually
considered its primary resource. The historic character of that resource is usually the basis
upon which the determination of the property’s overall historic or non-historic status is
made.

The proper categorization of a property s dependent on the proper identification of the
primary resource. For example. a property that includes a large residence built in the 1870s
and several ontbuildings from the same period would be categonzed as a "BUILDING”
Another property that includes a large residence butlt in 1995 near the foundaton of an 18th
century farmhouse would gain its historic status from the archeological potential of the site
that is composed of the foundation and its environs, not from the no longer extant original
butlding nor from the new house. therefore this property would be categorized a “SITE”

LAMCASTER COUNTY TOTAL
SURVEY:
PROPERTY
CATEGORIZATION
Buildings 239
Sites 25
Structures 2
(ibjects i
Districts 3
TOTAL 270
CATEGORIZED
PROPERTIES
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s Determunation of Historic Status

The identification of properties and thelr categorization was followed by the determination
of a historic status for the property. For this survey, historic was defined as possessing the
capacity to convey reliable historic information about the physical and cultural development
of Lancaster County. It was not interpreted as a measure of the level of significance of that
mformation,

Properties were considered HISTORIC if

« the primary resource was fifty vears of age or more; and

» the resource possessed the capacity to convey reliable historic informution
about the physical and cultural development of Lancaster County.

Properties were determined 1o he NON-HISTORIC ift
o the primary resource was less than fifty years of age:
®  po primary resource was visually evident; and

» the primary resource was altered to a level that any historie integrity
might hold was significantly obscured.

LAMCASTER COUNTY SLRVEY: TOTAL HISTORIC
PROPERTY CATEGORIES

Buildings 239 total 238 historic
Sigs 25 total 25 hstoric
Structures 2 total 2 histone
{Jbiects 1 total ! historic
Distrigts 3 total 3 historic
TOTAL CATEGORIZED PROPERTIES 276 total 26%9 historic
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» Identification and Count of Rescurce Sub-Types IWUZITS]

For each property surveved in Lancaster County, a complete Hat of the resources associated
with the property was compiled. In each case. the primary resource was surveyed and
daocumented: the other historic resources were counted and recorded m a counter field and
then described in g secondary resources notes fiekl. Each property count not only included a
count of the resources by general type, but a determination and count of the specific resource
sub-type. These resource sub-types, classified as "wuzits” in the database. refer to the
eriginal purpose for which the rescurce was constructed and range from single-famly
dwellings to comn cribs to cemeteries. For the 270 properties documented in the database,
699 Twuzits”" were identified (eighty-eight different types). A complete list in alphabetical
order of the type of "WUZITS” identified and the number of cach wuzit counted in the
course of this survey was compiled.

LANCASTER COUNTY MNUMBER NUMBER
SURVEY: RESOURCE FOUND ONM FOUND TO BE
SUB-TYPE ALL HISTORIC
PROPERTIES
Ayricultural Field i {
Alr Field i i
Animal Shelter ] ]
Archaeological Site 12 12
Bank 2 2
Bamn 28 19
Bell Tower/Carnilon i ]
Boathouse 5 2
Boiler House ! i
Bomb Sheler i i
Bridge | i
Camp Cabin 3 2
Car Showroom i i
Carport i &
Carmiage House 6 4
Cemetery 27 25
Church 20 19
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LANCASTER COUNTY NUMBER NUMBER
SURVEY: RESOURCE FOUND ON FOUND TO BE
SUB-TYPE ALL HISTORIC
PROPERTIES
Classroom Building 4 2
Clubhouse 3 | 2
Commercial Building 3 29
Cornerih 5 5
Courthouse 2 2
Dairy i 1
Dairy Bamn i i
Dock & 2
Dog House i 4
Factory i i
Fellowship Hall 4 :
Fence i &
Fire Station i i
Foundation 2 i
Fountain l {3
Garage 57 21
Ciate/bEntry i i
Gazeho 3 it
Granary i i
Greenhouse 2 it
CGuest House 14 3
Hotel/lnn 3 3
fee House i i
Jail 2 2
Kennel i o
Kitchen 7 7
Lighthouse i 1
Mill 3 3
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LANCASTER COUNTY MUMBER NUMBER
SURVEY: RESOGURCE FOUND ON FOUNDTO BE
SUB-TYPE ALL HISTORIC
PROPERTIES
Mohile Home ! ]
Monument/Marker 2 2
Observatory i i
Office/Office Bldg.. & &
{ther 8 4
Pier 2 1
Playing Field 1 ¥
Pond t i
Pool House 2 i
Pool/Swimming Pool it g
Post Office 4 4
Potate House ! i
Poultry Shelter & &
Privy fa &
Processing Plant 4 3
Pump 3 i
Pump House ] i
Restaurant 1 {
Restroom Factlity 2 i
Ruins 3 3
School & 6
Seulpture ! i
Service Building 1 {3
Service Station 1 i
Shed 117 53
Shelter ] {
Silo 2 i
Single Dwelling 177 {73
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LANCASTER COUNTY KUMBER NUMBER
SURVEY: RESOURCE FOUND ON FOUND TO BE
SUB-TYPE ALL HISTORIC
PROPERTIES
Smoke/Meat House 14 12
Stable i 0
Studio i 0
Sunday School Building 1 {
Tavern/Ordinary 7 2
Tenant House 4 4
Tennis Court i 0
Theatre 2 2
Warehouse 1 0
Wash House 4 4
Water Tower i {
Well N 3
Well House 12 3
Windmull i 1
Warkshop 5 Z
TOTAL £99 500

These lists reveal that eighty-eight different resource sub-types were identified for the 270
properties recorded in the database, It also reveals. however, that despite the varieny of
resource sub-types, the most heavily represented resource sub-type, by far. was the single-
family dwelling. Twenty-five percent of the total number of primary resources surveved
were single-family residences. This statistic is not surprising given that Lancaster County
emerged in the early to mid-19th century, and continues today as an important residential
community in the Northern Neck of Virginia.
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® Primary Eeam

For the 270 properties included in the database, only twenty-eight different primary resource
types were identified throughout the survey area. The following report identifies the number
of each dentified resource type of the property’s primary resource:

LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY: NUMBER IDENTIFIED
PRIMARY RESOURCE TYPE DURING SURVEY
CONTAINED BY CONTRIBUTING

PROPERTIES

Archaeological Site 5
Bank 2
Bridge 1
Camp Cabin 2
Car Showroom i
Cemetery 25
Church 18
Clubhouse 2
‘Commercial Building 27
Courthouse |
Fellowship Hall 4
Fire Station !
Ciuest House 2
Hotel/lnn 3
Jail 1
Lighthouse !
Mill 3
Monument/Marker t
Otfice/Office Building , 4
Pier !
Post Office 5
Processing Plant 2
School 6
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LANCASTER COUNTY SURVEY:
PRIMARY RESOURCE TYPE
CONTAINED BY CONTRIBUTING

MNUMBER IDENTIFIED
DURING SURVEY

PRIMARY RESOURCES

PROPERTIES

Service Station i
Shed i
Single Dwelling 170
Tavern/Ordinary i
Theatre P
TOTAL HISTORIC 293
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® Condiion of Primary Resource

Condition of the primary resource for the 270 historic properties was recorded as part of this
study:

CONDITION NUMBER
EXCELLENT i
GOOD-EXCELLENT G
GOOD 135
GOOD-FAIR i1
FalR 30
POOR i
DETERIORATED 7
DEMOLISHED 21
REMODELED 4
UNENMOWN 60
NOT APPLICABLE 4
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@ YVTIHER Historie Themes and Period Contexts

VIDHR has defined eighteen cultural themes for Virginia's material culture history from
prehistoric times to the present. Although a surveyed property may relate o one or more of
the defined themes, ounly the most relevant themes are indicated in the database. The
following list shows the number of historic properties within the current boundaries of
Lancaster County that are primarily associated with seventeen of the cighteen historic
context themes.

LAKCASTER COUNTY Number of
SURVEY: EIGHTEEN Associated
THEMES Properties
Architecture/Community 267
Planning

Commerce/ Trade 48
Domestic 187
Education 14
Ethnicity/Imougration 3
Funerary 24
Government/Law/Political i4
Health Care/Medicine !
Industry/Processing/Extraction 12
Military/Defense g
Recreation/Arts £5
Religion 23
Rettlement Patterns &
Social f
Subsistence/Agriculiure 33
Technology/Engineering 1
Transportation/Communication &
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@ Architeciural

Lancaster County is host to a variety of architectural building styles. Below is a computer-
generated report fisting the style and the number of properties of that stvle found as a part of
this survey,

ARCHITECTURAL NUMBER OF
STYLE RESOURCES
ART DECO )
BUNGALOW/ 2
CRAFTSMAN

CTASSICAL REVIVAL g
COLONIAL 6
COLONIAL REVIVAL 76
COMMERCIAL 6
FARLY  CLASSICAL ]
REVIVAL

FEDERAL 0
GEORGIAN 7
GOTHIC REVIVAL 9
ORELK REVIVAL 35
[TALIANATE T
NO STYLE LISTED 34
THER 73
GUEEN ANNE 57
SECOND EMPIRE i
SPANISH COLONIAL 3
TUDOR REVIVAL z
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@ Source of Diate

Because Lancaster County was largely improved by early 1o late 19th centmry dwelling
houses, dating the resources was based on a variety of sources. Below i3 a computer-
generated report listing the source of the date and the number of times that source was
utilized throughout the survey.

SOURCE OF DATE NUMBER OF
RESOURCES
DATE STONE/BRICK 6
PREEDS 2
INSCRIPTION 17
LOCAL RECORDS 3
 MAPS 3
ORAL HISTORY O
ORAL/MSITE VISIT 4
OWNER H
QWNER/SITE VISIT 19
PHOTOGRAPH, 1
HISTORIC
SIGM/PLAQUE 3
SITE VISIT 124
SITE VISTT/SIGN 6
SITE VISTT/WRITTEN 71
TAX RECORDS 2
YDHR SURVEY FILE 28
WRITTEN DATE 43
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Conciusion

The information gleaned from computer-generated reports and presented here is only a small
sampling of the type of analysis that can be done using VOHRAIPS. At this stage, all of the
survey information has been entered into the database and is available for retrieval and
analvsis as necessary, The findings listed in this report are generally summary findings; the
information can be further analvzed by looking at the actual computer-generated reports and
customizing them to meet specific needs and requests.
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SURVEY RECOMMENDATIONS

A Recommendations for Further Study

The 1996-1997 survey phase completely surveved properties previeusly identified by the
Lancaster County Historical Resource Commission and VIHE that were associated with the
eighteen historic context themes. The survey initially focused on six of the themes -
Domestic. Religion, Industry/Processing/Extraction.  Subsistence/Agriculture, Education,
and Commerce/Trade. The vast number of properties associated with the remaining themes
prompted the survey of forty more properties supported by additional funding. The forty
reconnaissance surveys focused on the other themes; yet, as this additional survey work was
also restricted in number, many significant properties in Lancaster County remain
unsurveved. It is therefore recommended that a second reconmaissance-level survey be
conducted. focusing on late 19th and early 20th century resources.

Due 1o the scope and funding of the project, only a sampling of those properties constructed
between 1870 and 1947 were included in the on-site survey. Each of the unsurveved
resources was documented on USGS maps, recording date range. use and style.  This
method of recordation will allow for a more thorough survey of late 19th and early 20th
century resources that contribute to the historic context of Lancaster County, It is
recommended, therefore, that additional survey phases more fully document those resources
noted on the USGS maps but not surveyed in 1996-1997.

Additionally, several of the assigned resources of the 1996-1997 survey were difficult ©
locate and sometimes not extant. The second survey phase should focus on locating and

gaining permission 1o survey of these properties:

YR ¥ Property Mame Rurvey =tatus

Collinbrook Mot jocated

3 Gill Farmbouse Mot located

John Doggett House Mot located

Marchants House Mot located

Merit Foster House Mot located

Poor House Tract Mot located

Willow Oaks Mot located

Saratoga Overlooked
(351-0003 Chownings Ferry Fanm Denied
0510020 Oakley Denied
5810213 Waterview Farm Denied
051-0067  Myer Creek Farm Denied
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= Promerties o be Syrveved at the Intenstve-Level

The following properties were included in this survey at a reconnaissance level; however,
the architectural and/or historical significance of the primary rescurce warrants intensive
level survey as these propertics may be eligible for the National Register of Historic Places,

YDHR # Property Namg
051-0017 Monaskon
0510027 White Marsh United Methodist Church
051-0063 Francis Pomt
051-0066 Morattico Baptist Church and (‘cszfmrx
031-0087 Wharton Grove Campground
(0510093 House, Route 628
(51-0098 Hampton Gardens
051-0113 Level Green
O51-0122 Hubbard House
O51-0130 White Stone Beach Hotel
O51-0133 Hurst House
031-0134 {Coppedge House
510138 Hondfield
051-0138 House, Tomlin Trace
0510139 Public View

Q51-0142 House, 3940 Weems Road
O51-1144 House 3800 Weems Road

03101145 House, 3778 Weems Road
O31-0148 Retirement
031-0149 Levi Ball House and Cemetery
0510169 Ring Farm
051-0171 Bellows-Humphreys House
0510172 William Lorenzo Bellows House
O51-173 Wooten House
G51-3174 Bellows House

031-0175 Bellows-Christopher House
0310177 Apple Grove at Chase Cove
651-0179 Lancaster MNational Bank
051-0186 Wilder's (Grant
Q510202 Captain Josephus F. Bussells House
O51-0214 Enon Hall
249-0001 MNew 3t Jolm's Baptist Church and Cemetery
248-5007 Grace Chapel
249-50312 James Brent House

249.5025 House, 240 South Main Sireet
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e Phase [ Archasolooics

SUrVey

The vast number of previously documented, but demolished, properties in Lancaster County
may require a Phase | Archaeological Survey. The potential properties are listed as fllows:

VDHR # Property Mame Ouadrangle
051-0002 Belmont Site Urbanna
51-0006 Clifton Fleets Bay
0510016 John Mitchell House Site Lively
051-0018 Morattico Morattico
051-0019 Oake Hill frvingion
051-0021 Overseers House Irvington
(051-0023 Spinsters House Irvington
(51-0025 Towles Paint Urbanna
(51-0050 Queenstown Irvington
051-0033 Fort Site Irvington
0510036 Norwood Lively
051.0039 Brown House Lancaster
0510343 House {WPA) Lancaster
(51-0033 Plain View Lancaster
051-0056 Ridgefield Lively
051-0071 Windmill Point Light Deltaville
051-0072 Ball’s Mill Lively
(351-0073 Heulah Lively
1510077 Dunaway Place Lavely
{51-0079 Mitchell Site Lancaster
051 %‘3" Shackleford House Lancaster
051-0086 Merry Point Ferry frvington
(051-00%9 YIOT Route 688 frvington

AT, Wright School
Belle Island Indian Sites

Devil’s Bottom Road Dam

Muohon's Run Dam
Morgan Norris (fice
Mount Knoddy

Old Presbyterian Meeting House

Peter Montagque/Richard Ball Burial Siws

Sullivan House
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Properties documented in this survey phase that warrant archacological investigations
include:

YDHR# Property Mame
051-0008 Epping Forest
051-0013 Midway
(351-0024 Spring Hill Farm
(51-0044 Kirk Hall

(351-0051 Melrose
051-0057 Riverside
051-0125 Taft Fishing Company

Dvmer Creeks Possible Wreckage of Huarvist De Ford

s Additional Preliminary Information Form (PIE) Documentation

I an attempt 1o identify the potential historic district to the documented in the Preliminary
Information Form (PIF), several towns and significant groupings of properties were
reviewed. Kilmarmock, the largest town in Lancaster County, and Weems were identified as
potential historic districts with an intact number of significant 19th and early 20th century
buildings, This initial assessment, coupled with the on-site reconnaissance surveys of
numerous resources in the town and the historic context report established for the entire
county. suggests that both of these communities are potentially eligible for listing as historic
districts on the National Register of Historic Places. Therefore, it 15 recommended that
further surveys, research and documentation, and assessments be conducted for Kilmamock
and Weems. and PIFs be prepared for the evaluation of eligibility,
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B. Evaluation/Recommendations for Designation

The properties identified in the intensive-level survey of Lancaster County have been
gvaluated on a preliminary basis for their historic significance at the local, state and national
levels, As stated in the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Evaluation, evaluation is the
process of determining whether identified properties meet defined oriteria of significance
and whether they should, therefore. be included m an inventory of historic properties
determined to meet the established criteria,

In association with the Secretary of the Interior's Srandords jor Evaluation is the Secretary
of the Inerior's Guidelines for Evoluation. These guidelines describe the principles and
process for evaluating the significance of the identified historic properties. In evaluating the
historic resowrces of Lancaster County, both the Standards and Guidelines for Evaluation
were consulted,  As a first step. the guidelings suggest that criteria used 1o develop an
inventory of historic properties should be coordinated with the National Register of Histonie
Places. In the case of Lancaster County, the evaluation process was conducted using the
National Register of Historic Places criteria and the Virginia Landmarks Register criteria
The Mational Register of Historic Places is the official national list of recognized properties,
which is maintained and expanded by the National Park Service on behalf of the Secretary of
the Interior. The Virginia Landmarks Register criteria. established in 1966, are coordinated
with those established for the National Register. '

The Mational Register of Historie Places Criteria states:

The quality of significance in American history, architecture,
archeology, and culture is present in districts, sites, buildings,
and objects that possess integrity of location, design. setling.
materials, workomanship, feeling, and association, and:

A. that are associated with events that hove made a significant
contribution to the broad patterns of our history, or

B. that are associated with the lives of persons significant in our
past; or
. that embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or

method of construction or that represent the work of a master,
or that possess high artistic values, or thal represent a
significant and distinguishable entity whose components may
lack individual distinction; or
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B. that have vielded, or may be likely to yield. information
wmportant in prelistory or history.

Similarly, the Virginia Landmarks Register criteria are set forth in the legislation as follows:

Neo structure or site shall be deemed a historic one unless it has
been prominently identified with, or best represents. some
major aspect of the cultural, political, economic, military, or
social history of the State or nation, or has had a relationship
with the life of an historic personage or event representing
some major aspect of, or ideals related to, the history of the
State or nation. In the case of structures which are to be so
designated, they shall embody the principal or unique features
of an architectural style or demonstrate the style of a period of
our history or method of construction, or serve a8 an
iHustration of the work of a master builder, designer or
architect whose genius influenced the period in which he
worked or has significance n current times. In order for a site
to qualify as an archaeological site, it shall be an area from
which it is reasonable to expect that artifacts, materials, and
other spectmens may be found which give insight to an
understanding of aboriginal man or the Colonial and early
history and architecture of the State or nation,

Presently. ten properties in Lancaster County have been listed on the Virginia Landmarks
Register, nine of which have been listed on the National Register of Historic Place (those
Hated below in bold have heen listed on the National Registery:

851-0001 Belle Isle

451-0004 Christ Church

0510034 Corotoman Site (44LA1D

0518109 Farmville/Fox Hill Plantation

051-0081 Lancaster Court House Historie District
510050 Locustville

{151-6075 Pop Castle

3816022 Saint Mary's Whitechapel

510026 Verville

(31-0029 Millenbeck Sites
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A second consideration cited by the guidelines suggests that the established criteria should
be apphied within particular historic contexis. In the case of Lancaster County, the criteria
were examined to determine how it might apply to properties within the given context, The
historic contexts are synonymous with the eiphteen historic themes developed by the VDHR
and listed as follows:

Domestic Theme: This theme relates broadly to the human need for shelier, a home
place, and community dwellings.

Subsistence/Avriculure Theme: This theme most broadly seeks explanations of the
different strategies that cultures develop to procure, process and store food.

Covernment/Law/Political Theme: This theme relates primarily to the enactment and
administration of laws by which a nation, state. or other political jurisdiction is
governed: and activities related 1o politics and government.

Health Care/Medicine Theme: This theme refors to the care of the sick. elderly and
disabled. and the promotion of health and hygiene.

Education Theme: This theme relates to the process of conveving or acquiring
knowledge or skills through systematic instruction. training, or study, whether
through public or private efforts,

Military/Defense Theme: This theme relates to the system of defending the territory
and sovereignty of a people and encompasses all military activities. battles, strategic
tocations, and events imporiant in military history.

Religion Theme: This theme concerns the orpanized svsteny of beliefs. practices. and
traditions regarding the world view of varicus cultures and the material manifestation
of spiritual beliefs.

Social Theme: This theme relates 1o social activities and institutions, the activities of
charitable. fraternal, or other community organizations and places associated with
broad social movements,

Recreation and the Arts Theme: This theme relates to the ants and cultural activities
and instingions related 1o lelsure time and recreation.

Transporation/Communication. Theme: This theme relates v the process and
technology of conveying passengers, materials, and information.

anunerce/ Lrade The

. ; o: This theme relates to the provess of tading goods, services
and commodities.
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[ndust ceasing/] _ This theme explores the technolpgy and
pmca 5 of ;mmgmz m&tarzaiw Eabm md equipment 1o produce goods and services.

Landscape Theme: This theme explores the historic, cultural, scenic, visual and
design qualities of cultural landscapes, emphasizing the reciprocal relationships
affecting the natural and the human-built environment.

Funerary Theme: This theme concerns the ipvestigation of grave sites for
demographic data to study population, composition, health and morality within
prehistoric and historie societies.

Erthnicity/Immigration Theme: This theme explores the material manifestations of
ethnic diversity and the movement and interaction of people of different ethnic
heritages through time and space in Virgina.

Settlement Panerns. Theme: Studies related to this theme involve the analysis of
ditferent strategies available for the utilization of an arex in response 0 subsistence,
demographic, socio-political, and religious aspects of a cultural system.

Archiiecture/LandscapeArchitecture/Community. Planning. Theme:  This theme
explores the design values and practical arts of planning, designing, armanging.
constructing and developing buildings, structures, landscapes, towns and waues for
human use and enjoyment.

Technology/Engineering Theme: While the technological aspects of a culture form
the primary bhasis of interpretation of all themes, this theme relates primanly to the
utilization of and evolutionary changes in materinl culture as a society adapts to the
physical. lological. and cultural environment.

After determining how the criterin apply, the Secretary of Interior's Guidelines for
Evaluation suggests that the integrity of a property should be accessed. In evaluating the
integrity. factors such as structural problems. deterioration. and abandonment should be
considered if they have affected the significance of the property. In surveying the properties
of Lancaster County, the inteprity of the resource was evaluated using the seven aspects a8
detined in Narional Register Bulletin 13 How to Apply the National Register Criteria for
Evaduation. The aspects include location, design. setting, materials, workmanship. feeling.
and association. The seventh aspect, association. was npot always evaluated while
conducting on-site survey work, and often requires further archival research,

Based upon the state and national guidelines and criteria, all of the properties in Lancaster
County were evaluated for potential nomination to the National Register of Historic ?E oes
and Virginia Landmarks Register.
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Recommendations for Destonation o the Vireinia Landmarks Reoister and the
National Beoister of Historic Places

Lancaster County currently contains nine properties listed on the National Register of
Historic Places and ten listed on the Virginia Landmarks Register, The research conducted
for the historic context report indicated that at least thirfeen other properties in Lancaster
County are potentially eligible for individual listing on the Virginia Landmarks Register and
the National Register of Historic Places.  Additionally, a potential historic district was
selected which includes approximately ninety properties in the Irvington Historic District.
The Preliminary Information Form (PIF) for this district can be found in the appendix of this
report.

A total of fifieen individual properties were identified thorough the intensive-level survey,
the PIF, and the research and documentation phase of the project.  Each property was
presented to the VIDHR Evaluation Team at the conclusion of the survey. Those properties
found to be potentially eligible by the Evaluation Team have a rating score of 30 points or
more. 1t should be noted that the scoring of a property below 30 points does not preclude i
from listing, but suggests further documentation be compiled regarding the historical and/or
architectural merit of the resource. Two properties. Merry Point Ferry Farm (051-0014) and
Edgehill (05100073, were found to lack sufficienct architectural and historical significance
hased on the preliminary resecarch conducted as part of the intensive-level survey. It s
recommended that further investigations, on-site and srchival, should be conducted on these
two properties.

EPPING FOREST {051-8008)
»  National Register Arca(s) of Significance: Architecture
e YDHR Criteria for Potential Eligibility: Architecture/Engineering
Person
»  (Criterion B: Mér}’ Ball Washington. the mother of George Washington.

was born on property, which is the ancestral home of the Ball family.

o riterion (¢ Constructed 1oy cirea 1780-1800, Epping Forest onginally had
a hall/parlor plan with a side entry, This original portion is structurally intact
having been encompassed in the 1800-1820 addition to the north elevation. This
enfargement created the main block of the present building, being a central-
passage. double-pile plan, A second addition. finely detailed with Federalesivie
omament including fanlights. mantels, and casings, was constructed on the east
elevation in circa 1840,  The property contains numerous [%th century
outbuildings, including an ice house, brick carriage barn, bamn, and smokehouse.

® EV ALUATION TEAM RATING SCORE 34
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MIDWAY  {081-6015)

k3

National Register Areals) of Significance: Architecture
YVIHR Criteria for Potential Ehgibility: Architecturs/Engineering
Criterion C: Constructed in 1842, Midway i3 one of the most intact

examples of Antebellum plantation architecture in Lancaster Coumty.  The
building is virtually unaltered on the exterior and interior, having almost the
identical central-passage, double-pile plan with a transverse hall as that seen at
Levelfields (051-0048), constructed 1857-1858.  Stylistically Greek Revival,
Midway is remarkable symmetrical, including a blind window on the first story
of the west elevation. The property also contains a significant mid-19th century
wood frame barn,

EVALUATION TEAM RATING SCORE 34

SPRING HILL FARM {051-0824)

]

Mational Register Areals) of Significance: Architecture
Commerce
Industry

Transportation

VIR Criteria for Potential Ehgibility: Architecture/Engineering
Event
Criterion A: Historically, the property at Spring Hill Farm was one of

several wharf and ferry ports active during the late 19th and early 20th century.
The property maintained a seafond canning factory and stare until the 1930s.

Criterion Spring Hill Farm was originally erected in circa 1770, and
subsequently enlarged in the early part of the 19th century. Typically at the rn
of the 19th century. early residents of Lancaster County were erecting modest
rwo bay square dwellings that were enlarged within the next few decades 1o the
central-passage, single- or double-pile plan. Spring Hill Farm is one of the oldest
examples of the common evolution, maintaining its Colonial form and detailing.

EVALUATION TEAM RATING 3CORE 25
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CRESCENT COVE (051-0040)
» National Register Area{s) of Significance: Architecture
Landscape Architecture
= YDHR Criteria for Potential Eligibility: - Architecture/Engineering
s Criterion Largely erected in the late 1Bth century as a hall/parlor plan

dwelling, Crescent Cove was enlarged by the early part of the 19th century. The
enlargement of extant dwellings was actually a very commeon trend in Lancaster
County in the early to mid-19th century. Significantly, the dwelling has been
virtually unaltered since that tme. The property was improved substantally
during the 20th century to include numerous single dwellings. significant
agricultural outbuildings, and most notably a bomb shelter complete with two
cots and adequate ventilation.

= EVALUATION TEAM RATING SCORE 31
HOLYOAK {051-0048)
= Mational Register Areals) of Significance: Architecture
Agriculnure

s  VDHR Criterta for Potential Eligibiliny: Architecture/Engimeering

e Criterion O Holveak is architecturally significant as a lute 18th century
dwelling that was enlarged in 1842 by prominent local resident Robert Toler
Dunaway. who inherited the property from his father in 1830, Evidence i the
foundation of the building indicates the original late 18th century form had a
hall/parlor plan, consisting of what is now the eastern first floor parlor. Despite
the alterations and additions of the 20th century, the evolution of the building is
clearly evident. The site of a principle trading road during the 17th and 18th
centuries, the property containg a number of significant domestic outbuildings.

« EVALUATION TEAM RATING SCORE 28

Further intensive-level survey and documentation recommended
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LEVELFIELDS (B51-0048)

» National Register Area(s) of Significance: Architecture
s VDHR Criteria for Potential Eligibility: Architecture/Engincering
« Criterion O Levelficlds is one of the most intact examples of Amebellum

plantation architecture in Lancaster County. The building is virtually unaltered
on the exterior and interior, having almost the identical central-passage, double-
pile plan with transverse hall as Midway (051-0013). Levelfields. the second
dwelling constructed on the 1,200 acre plantation of Thomas Danford Dunaway.
has an elegant hollow-newe! stair,

s EVALUATION TEAM RATING SCORE 31
MELROSE {051-0051)
= MNational Register Aveals) of Significance: Architecture
Agriculture
e VDR Criteria for Potential Eligibihity: Architecture/Engineering
»  Criterion { Melrose is one of several extant wood frame dwellings dating

from the Antebellum period in Lancaster County. This is one of the most intact
high-style examples of the Greek Revival-style dwellings commonly associated
with the plantation systems. The imposing dwelling was erected in the 1840s and
was enlarged in 1857 by Thomas H. Pinckard. Secondary sources state that the
highly ornate hollow-newel stair was rather complicated to construct, requiring
cabinetmaker, William Pierce, to complete the job after removing the majority of
the previousty constructed elements.

tad
Lad

e EVALUATION TEAM RATING SCORE
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LAKCASTER ROLLER MILL {051-0052)
#  National Register Area(s) of Significance: Architecture
Agriculture
e+  VDHR CUriteria for Potential Eligihility: - Architecture/Engineering
#  Criterion £ One of the county’s most recogmized agncultural landmarks.

the Lancaster Roller Mill was the oldest mill in operation at the time of s
closure in 1972, The present building is helieved to have been constructed by
George Kamps and his partner J. Carter in 1843, and stands as the oldest exiant
mill  Lancaster County. The mill was powered by water from the adjacent
Carter’s Mill Pond, grinding wheat and corn into flour, meal and animal feed.
The interior of the building still contains all of the apparatus used in the grinding
Process,

EVALUATION TEAM BATING SCORE

® 35
MUSKETTOE POINT FARM {(B51-B033)

e National Register Areals) of Significance: Architecture

= VDHR Uriteria for Potental Eligibility: Architecture/Engineering

s Uriterion £ Constructed  in circa 1780-1800 by the Lawson family,
Musketice Point Farm is a one-and-a-half-story  Colonial-style dwelling,
Although enlarged and renovated. portions of the main house remains wntact on
the exterior and interior, including the original flooring., winder stair. hardware,
and casings. The property has been in the Lawson family from 1683 © 1962,

o EVALUATION TEAM RATING SCORE Not Rared

The architectural significance of this resource has been altered by 1960s
additions and alterations.  The Evaluvation Team strongly suggested the
property be re-evaluated on these valuable features, when the entire resource
a5 it stands presently is over fifty vears of age.
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RIVERSIDE {051-0057)
e Mational Register Area{s) of Significance: Architecture
Landscape Architecturs
s VIDHR Criteria for Potenual Eligibility: - Architecture/Engineering
#  Criterion The dwelling known as Riverside was in part historically

assoctated with the manor house Medley, which consisted of the 38%-acres
plantation in the early part of the 18th century, The modest building that makes
up the oldest portion of Riverside was constructed in cirea 1750 as a slave
quarters for the plantation. By 1830, the slave quarters was relocated on rolling
logs to its approximate current location, and in 1843, was enlarged by a modest
side~-passage addition with Federal detatling on the interior. Upon the death of
praperty owner James Condiff by the 1850s, Medley was devised to Condiff's
nephew. while Riverside was devised to grandniece Ann Stoneham Sullivan,
Since that time, Riverside has heen retained and occupied by the Stoneham
family. Medley was destroy by lighting in 1947, leaving Riverside and 15
adjacent smokehouse as the only extant remnants of the grand plantation. The
building was substantially enlarged using historic materials in the Colonial style
by Williamsburg architect 1. Everett Fauber in 1970, Simultaneously, the main
dwelling was relocated fifty feet from its original riverside location due to the
severe erosion of the Rappahannock River coastline. The landscaping. dating
from the mid-19th century, that omamented the main dwelling remains © mark
the building’s original location.

EVALUATION TEAM RATING SCORE Mot Rated
The architectural significance of this resource has been altered by 1970s
additions and alterations.  The Evaluation Team strongly suggested the
property be re-evaluated on these valuable features, when the entire resource
as it stands presently 15 over fifty vears of age.
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WINDSOR FARM {B31-0060)
e National Register Arca(s) of Significance: Architecture
s  VDHR Criteria for Potential Eligibility: - Architecture/Engineering
s Criterion (& Windsor Farm 15 one of only a few extant brick dwellings

found in Lancaster County, particularly from the Early National and Antebellum
periods.  The main dwelling is largely intact as originally designed on the
exterior, and displays an excellent array of late Victorian detailing on the intenior,
The two-and-a-half-storv building and its one-story dependencics were
constructed between 1820-1830 by cabinetmaker Hilkiah Ball, who is buried on
the property with his family.

e EVALUATION TEAM RATING 5CORE 31
GREENFIELD {051-0083)
« Naiional Register Area(s) of Significance: Architecture
Military
e VDR Criteria for Potential Eligibility: Architecture/Engineering
Event
»  Critenion Al Historically, Greenfield is one of the only extant Antebellum

dwellings in the county to experience direct attack during the Civil War,
Lancaster County was actually not the site of land battles. but did experience
water conflicts with privateers, spies, and sympathizers. As a result of the April
1865 capture and subsequent destruction of the Harrier De Ford, Greenfield was
directly fired upon by commander Edward Hooker. Physical evidence of the
destruction is visible on the interior of the building.  Adjacent Antebellum
plantation manor houses were fired upon as well, although only Cireentield
SUrVIves.
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&

%

Criterion Greenfield was originally erected in circa 1840 by Thomas
Spriggs. and subsequently enlarged in 1857 by Willilam H. George with Henry
Tappscott as contractor. The original construction has been documented by tax
assessments and the date and extent of the alterations in 1857 is documented by
bills of sale for supplies and lobor. Typically in the 183018405, residents of
Lancaster County were erecting modest two bay sguare dwellings that were
enlarged within the next decade to s central-passage. single- or double-parlor
plan, Greenfield is one of the most intact, and well documented, examples of this
gvolution and 1s particularly significant architecturally as the most easily readable
example.

EVALUATION TEAM RATING 5CORE 36

LEE'S COVE COTTAGE (851-0118)

&

&

Mational Register Area(s) of Significance: Architecture
' Agriculture
VIR Criteria for Potential Eligibility: Architecture/Engineering
Event
Criterion A2 Immediately following the destruction of the Harrietr D Ford

by the Confederate army, Commander Edward Hooker in tum  attacked
surrounding manor houses. Lee Castle was destroved by the attack, forcing the
Lee family to relocate o the large summer kirchen/cottage.  Although not
stylistically significant, the cottage is historically significant for its association
with the plantation. and its rare longevity, which is largely based on us
substantial construction methods and materials. Since before the Civil War, the
Lee family has retained ownership of the property.

Criterion O The Lee's Cove Cottage is a vernacular Greek Revival-style
dwelling that was historically associated with the large Antebellum plantation
know as Lee Castle. The coftage house was constructed by William Kendall Lee
prior to the Civil War, serving the large plantation as an outbuilding. Based on
the interior survey and the building’s close proximity to the original manor
house, the cotiage is believed to have served as the summer kitchen and
providing housing for slaves. It retains is hall/parlor plan with large interior end
brick chimnevs.,

EVALUATION TEAM RATING 5CORE 21
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